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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenghai
(Joint Chairman and resigned on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Deng Dongping (Joint Chairman and appointed as Chairman
on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lyu Ping (deceased on 13 October 2024)

Ms. Mo Xiuping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024)
Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Ding Jiasheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Chen Shunging (Chairlady)

Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 19 December 2024)
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEER

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Mo Li (Chairladly) (resigned on 19 December 2024)

Mr. Han Zhenghai (resigned on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Deng Dongping (appointed on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (Chairman) (appointed on 19 December 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) (resigned on 12 December 2024)

Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Deng Dongping (Chairman) (appointed on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 19 December 2024)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman)

Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 19 December 2024)
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEEH

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wong Shiu Wah Williamson

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Han Zhenghai (resigned on 4 December 2024)
Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Wong Shiu Wah Williamson (appointed on 4 December 2024)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER

Bermuda Law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Appleby Global Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Canon'’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
PO Box HM 1179, Hamilton HMEX
Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Unit 1701, 17/F.,

Wai Fung Plaza,

664 Nathan Road,

Mongkok,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

WEBSITE
www.00204.com.hk

STOCK CODE
204
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
DR

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—EB-hHF —_ET_MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT FAET
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERAFEFAGEEREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss BMBEEZMBRE 45,641 -
Revenue W 3 - -
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ZAAREBEAEGEEFEEEE
the Company (155,800) (28,727)
2025 2024
—E-FREF —ZET_F
Net asset value per share BREEFE HK$0.253% 7t HK$0.437/% 7T
Net asset value per share is HK$0.253 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: W Z-_Z _HAF =A==+ —HEBREEFE
HK$0.437) which is calculated by dividing the net assets included in ~ 0.253/% JTr (= & = U 4F : 04377 jv) Jh & &t
the consolidated statement of financial position of approximately A 4R & B 75 #k i % 2 & 2= 5 (B #9262,348,0007
HK$262,348,000 (2024: HK$378,125,000) and the number of ordinary ~ 7© (= & = 4 4 : 378,125,000/ 7T) Bk A A =
shares in issue as at 31 March 2025, being 1,037,728,000 (2024: ZT-_hAF=A=+—HA 2B BT L MR EHE
864,788,000). 1,037,728,000% (= & = Y 4 : 864,788,000/% )
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 was nil
(2024 nil), which remained unchanged when compared with that
of last year. The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company amounting to approximately
HK$155,800,000 which increased by approximately HK$127,073,000
or 442.35% when compared with the loss of approximately
HK$28,727,000 incurred in last year. The increased in the loss for the
year was mainly attributable to the increase in (i) impairment losses
under the expected credit loss model, net of reversal and (ii) net
losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during
the year under review. The net asset value per share of the Group
as at 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$0.253 (2024: HK$0.437). The
Board has decided not to declare a final dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Details of all investments of the Group are included in notes 17, 18
and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$1,662,000 (2024: HK$16,166,000). The
Group had net current assets and the net assets of approximately
HK$90,490,000 (2024: HK$219,042,000) and approximately
HK$262,348,000 (2024: HK$378,125,000) respectively as at 31
March 2025. The Group had other borrowing of approximately
HK$109,025,000 at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$59,625,000). The
current ratio, calculated on the basis of total current assets over
total current liabilities, was approximately 1.78 (2024: 2.54) as at 31
March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 41.56% (2024: 15.77%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$109,025,000 (2024:
HK$59,625,000) divided by equity attributable to owners of the
Company HK$262,348,000 (2024: HK$378,125,000) as at 31 March
2025.

KR
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€ /&5 48 49155,800,00078 7T © B X F T E £ 5
18 #928,727,0007%8 JT & 0 43127,073,0007%8 JT =X
44235% - FEBEEZ M EZEARN)TEHE
EEEEMNETRAERE - IBRED XHR
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2025.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain assets to secure
loans of the Group. The pledged assets compromise listed equity
securities held by the Group with carrying value of HK$59,818,000
and unlisted equity securities held by the Group with carrying value
of HK$61,270,000 in secured the margin loan and loan from a third
party respectively.

Details of contingent liabilities is set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's other income was
approximately HK$10,478,000 which increased by approximately
HK$2,396,000 or 29.65% when compared of approximately
HK$8,082,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase is
mainly attributable to interest income from other financial assets at
amortised cost of HK$10,468,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.

NET LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the net loss was approximately
HK$66,519,000 as compare to the net loss of approximately
HK$787,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The net loss is
mainly attributable to net effect of the net loss on listed equity
investments for the year ended 31 March 2025.

8 Annual Report £ 5 2025
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE EXPECTED

CREDIT LOSS (“ECL") MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

A net amount of approximately HK$72,782,000 was recognised for
impairment loss under the ECL model for the year ended 31 March
2025 which increased by approximately HK$71,163,000 or 4,395.49%
when compared of approximately HK$1,619,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024. The increase is mainly attributable to the ECL on
other financial assets at amortised cost for the year ended 31 March
2025.

STAFF COST (INCLUDED IN ADMINISTRATIVE AND

OTHER EXPENSES)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 6 (2024: 11) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$3,431,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$6,776,000). The
employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities and
performance.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES
Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$24,210,000 (2024:
HK$32,482,000), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$8,272,000 or 25.47%, which was mainly due to decrease in staff
cost and exchange losses.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$2,767,000 (2024: HK$2,265,000), represented an
increase of approximately HK$502,000. Such increase was mainly

due to the increase of interest on other borrowings during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EHEEER ([BHEEEE]) X
TREEE - HREE
BHE_ZTZ_-_AF=ZA=+—BItEE '
EHEEBEEATHEBEBERITD
727820008 T REE_ZT_WMF = A
=+ — H IEFE® 41,619,000 JT & 104
71,163,000/ 7T 84,395.49% - M T B HR
BHE T _AF =A==+ —HLEFELREH
RAFECEMYBEECBBREERE -

BIRA (FFATEBREMAR)
RZZFE-_RAF=ZRA=+—8 ' AEEF6E (=

T_WE: R 2REE (FBRRES) -
Eﬁiigzﬁii)ﬂi%*ﬁiifg N

SEEIRARBE (BRESHE) 058
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ARRTREBZBERKRET NS 2 M
@o
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

PROSPECT

The Board has reassessed recent market condition and determined
that the Company should adopt a more active approach in its
investment strategies as the markets gained momentum on back
of robust recovery in the Chinese economy. In fact, the listed
securities held by the Company have made net losses this year
and the Company considered that it should continue to hold on to
these listed securities for medium to long term appreciation.

In the new financial year, the Group will continue to adopt a
cautious and proactive attitude in seeking potential business
opportunities in the market. In addition, the Group’s investment
strategy will explore more diversified investment opportunities
with various industries. The Group is aiming at implementing an
efficient and compliant internal control, pragmatically deploying its
investment strategy, and strengthen its financial situation in order
to bring favorable return to our Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan")

Mr. Chan, aged 61, has been appointed as an executive Director
since 29 May 2012. He is also the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree majoring
in Finance. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed and registered person
under the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) to carry out regulated activities in advising on
securities and providing asset management services. He currently
serves as director of the Investment Services Department of
Sinolink Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited. Mr. Chan has
over 30 years of experiences in the financial and investment sector,
with extensive expertise in securities, fund management, corporate
management, corporate finance, and the management of listed
investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Chan currently serves as an executive director of several
investment companies listed on the Stock Exchange, including
China Innovation Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1217, since June
2003), China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock Code:
1226, since March 2011), Capital VC Limited (Stock Code: 2324,
since November 2012), China New Economy Fund Limited (Stock
Code: 80, since June 2013), and Goldstone Capital Group Limited
(Stock Code: 1160, since February 2025).

In addition, Mr. Chan previously served as an executive director
of the following listed companies, including National Investment
Fund Limited (Stock Code before delisting: 1227, from March
2019 to January 2021), Core Economy Investment Group Limited
(Stock Code: 339, from January 2021 to June 2021), and Goldstone
Investment Group Limited (Stock Code before delisting: 901, from
November 2021 to November 2024).

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan")

Mr. Clement Chan, aged 67, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 6 April 2022. Mr. Clement Chan
was a member of The Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong
Limited and a Certified Financial Planner in Hong Kong from
2003 to 2023. Mr. Clement Chan obtained a higher diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the
Polytechnic University of Hong Kong) in November 1980 and a
Master of Science in corporate governance & directorship from the
Hong Kong Baptist University in November 2008.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan") (continued)
Mr. Clement Chan was an executive director of Goldstone
Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Eagle Ride
Investment Holdings Limited, the Stock Code before delisting: 901),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange from November 2013 to
October 2020. Mr. Clement Chan had over 30 years of experience
in the financial industry, including professional management of
investments on behalf of third-party investors and experiences
as responsible officers for type 4 (advising on securities) and type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO for a
number of corporations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Deng Dongping (“Mr. Deng”)

Mr. Deng, aged 51, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 13 November 2020, re-designated to non-
executive Director on 12 July 2021, as deputy chairman of the
Board since 11 December 2023 and as joint chairman of the Board
since 22 January 2024. Mr. Deng graduated from Tianjin Normal
University majoring in business administration. After over 10 years’
military service in the PRC, Mr. Deng has held senior positions
in the cultural industry in mainland China. He is now the deputy
director of the Chinese Volunteer Emergency Rescue Volunteer
Committee.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (“Mr. Zhu")

Mr. Zhu, aged 26, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 August 2021 and as deputy chairman
of the Board since 11 December 2023. Mr. Zhu has a wealth of
experience in multi-dimensional investments and, in particular,
mineral resources development and logistics information. Mr. Zhu
is the founder of )T 1)L R % & B BR A 7] (unofficially translated
as Zhanjiang City Jiangjing Investment Company Limited), as well
as a shareholder of F & & 2 B R A 7] (unofficially translated
as Qiangu Minerals Company Limited) and participating in its
operations.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ge Zhifu (“"Mr. Ge")

Mr. Ge, aged 47, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 October 2023 and as the deputy chairman
of the Board since 11 December 2023. Mr. Ge graduated from
Nankai University majoring in Business Administration. Mr. Ge has
extensive experience in investment and education management.
He has been appointed as chairman and director of various
educational management companies. Since August 2015, he has
been appointed as chairman of Shenzhen Pu Hui Enterprises
Management Group Limited. Since May 2016, he has been
appointed as the chairman of the Yunan Zhao Tong Chamber of
Commerce in Guangdong province and the member of the 4th
Yunnan Zhaotong Province Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Ms. Mo Xiuping (“Ms. XP Mo")

Ms. XP Mo, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 23 September 2022
and re-designated as non-executive Director of the Company since
19 April 2023. Ms. XP Mo graduated from Nanjing Tech University,
majoring in management science and business administration, and
is currently studying for a master’s degree in international finance.
Ms. XP Mo holds China Intermediate Accountant Certificate. Ms.
XP Mo has won honors such as “National Ten Thousand Talents
Program”, “Leading Talents in Scientific and Technological
Innovation”, and “"Young and Middle-aged Experts with
Outstanding Contributions in Jiangsu Province”. Since December
2016, she has served as the chief financial officer, independent
director and member of the board of directors of China area of JS
Beauty Land Network Technology Inc, a US listed company. Since
September 2018, she has concurrently served as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Meiyunmei Technology Co., Ltd. Since November
2019, she has concurrently served as the chief financial officer of

Yancheng Dafengzesheng Technology Co., Ltd.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Shi Zhu (“Mr. Shi")

Mr. Shi, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 August 2021.
Mr. Shi is a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Shi obtained his
first degree in Bachelor of Arts, majoring in English, from the
Anhui Fuyang Teacher’s University in the PRC in July 1989 and his
second degree in Bachelor of law, majoring in Journalism, from the
Communication University of China in July 1993. Mr. Shi worked
at the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC for over 15 years. From
November 1993 to May 2000, Mr. Shi served various positions
including front-page editor as well as deputy chief editor and chief
editor of the English version of International Business Monthly
under International Business Daily, a publishing entity under the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. Mr. Shi was appointed by the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC to work at the Embassy of the
PRC in New Zealand where he acted as the Commercial Consul
and was in charge of economic and commercial affairs from June
2000 to December 2000 and Mr. Shi subsequently returned to
International Business Daily and served various positions including
chief editor of Important News, director of general office, chief
editor of China-ASEAN Business Week, chief editor of Features
from January 2001 to February 2008. After that, Mr. Shi migrated
to Hong Kong under the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme in
February 2008. Mr. Shi was the director of BOCHK Wealth Achieve
Fund Series SPC, a serial investment fund company wholly owned
by BOCHK Asset Management Limited from May 2017 to January
2020. Mr. Shi was also the chairman of Shenzhen Sanhong Asset
Management Limited, a private equity company incorporated in
the PRC which principally engaged in equity investment and supply
chain finance in the PRC and South East Asia, from September 2015
to October 2020. In addition, Mr. Shi is a director of Joyful Capital
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which principally
engaged in investment and investment consultancy in Hong Kong
and the PRC, since May 2008. Besides, Mr. Shi is an independent
non-executive director of Hua Lien International (Holding) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 969), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange since December 2017 (suspension of duties
since April 2025) and Pinestone Capital Limited (Stock Code: 804)
since December 2024 (suspension of duties since April 2025). Mr.
Shi has also been appointed as the 5th Chairman of the Chinese
Academy of Governance (Hong Kong) Industrial and Commercial
Professionals Alumni Association in June 2024.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Ms. Chen Shunqing (“Ms. Chen")

Ms. Chen, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 27 July 2022. Ms.
Chen is the chairlady of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chen holds the qualification
certificates of China junior accountant certificate and chief
accountant officer certificate. Ms. Chen has focused on finance
management and so on fields in the past 28 years, has rich practical
experience in finance, and could provide effective and unique
analysis and advice on financial matters involved.

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (“Mr. Ding")

Mr. Ding, aged 38, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 26 September 2023.
Mr. Ding holds a bachelor degree in Environmental Engineering
from Nanjing University of Science and Technology. Mr. Ding
has also obtained professional qualifications such as Registered
Safety Engineer and Intermediate Environmental Engineer. Since
2020, Mr. Ding has been serving as EHS Manager in Tianneng
Power International Limited (Stock Code: 819). He has extensive
experience in ecological environment protection and occupational
health and safety in various fields of the new energy batteries
industry including the establishment of management systems, risk
precautions and management, setting up of smart factory and team
building.

(* for identification purpose only)
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Capital
Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (Formerly known as China
Investment Development Limited) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”)) hereby present its report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment for
short to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and investment
in listed and unlisted securities. There have been no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 88 of the annual report. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are
provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on
pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual
Report.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds

For the year ended 31 March 2025

On 23 October 2024, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agents pursuant to which the Placing
Agents have agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not less than
six independent Placees for up to 172,940,000 new Shares at a price
of HK$0.237 per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company.

The net proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$39.8
million (assuming the Placing Shares are fully placed and after all
relevant expenses) will be used for future investment opportunities
as may be identified from time to time, repayment of borrowings
and general working capital of the Group.

All the Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled and that
the Completion took place on 14 November 2024. A total of
172,940,000 Placing Shares have been successfully placed by the
Placing Agents to not less than six Placees at the Placing Price of
HK$0.237 per Placing Share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Placing Agreement.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 23
October 2024 and 14 November 2024.

¥KERE 2
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RGO (@)

Use of proceeds (continued) FRiSRIARR (&)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the net proceed of Placing ®HZ_Z_hF=A=+—HILFE ' BE
was used as follows: EEMGHREFHECEANT

Actual use the Unutilised

Net proceeds raised during the Intended use of the Proceeds during the
year ended 31 March 2025 Unutilised Proceeds year ended 31 March 2025
BE_2_R¥=RA=1+-H
BE-_F-RF¥=A=+—H EEERBAMRBRER
LEEEBENREBRERE AEAMBRENGERAR WERAR
HK$39.8 million HK$30.0 million — investment HK$30.0 million — investment
(the “Unutilised Proceeds”) HK$5.0 million — repayment of HK$5.0 million — repayment of
borrowings borrowings
HK$4.8 million — general working HK$4.8 million — general working
capital capital
98BEEET 0BEEET —KE 00BEEBT—KE
(IRBRAFRBRE]) 50888 —BEMER SOEEEET_E—%%F%K
IBEEATL — WMEERES IBEEBATL —  MEEASD
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

i)

The Company has implemented the Rights Issue on the basis
of one (1) Rights Share for every one (1) existing Share held
on the Record Date at the Subscription Price of HK$0.15
per Rights Share, to raise gross proceeds of approximately
HK$54.1 million and the net proceeds (after deducting all
relevant expenses) from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$52.7 million.

As disclosed in the Announcement of the Company, as at
4:00 p.m. on Friday, 28 July 2023, being the latest time for
acceptance, a total of 18 valid applications and acceptances
under the PAL in respect of a total of 229,830,914 Rights
Shares had been received, representing approximately
63.77% of the total number of Rights Shares offered under the
Rights Issue.

As disclosed in the Announcement of the Company, as at 6:00
p.m. on Wednesday, 9 August 2023, being the latest time
of placing of the unsubscribed Rights Shares by the Placing
Agents, all the 130,563,945 unsubscribed Rights Shares were
successfully placed at the price of HK$0.150 per Share, which
is equal to the Subscription Price, under the Placing.

As all the conditions with respect to the Rights Issue and the
Placing as set out in the Prospectus have been fulfilled, the
Rights Issue and the Placing became unconditional at 4:00
p.m. on Thursday, 10 August 2023.

Details are made to the Prospectus of the Company dated 14
July 2023 and the announcements of the Company dated 2
August 2023 and dated 11 August 2023.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Use of proceeds (continued)

(i)

(ii)

20

(continued|)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the net proceed of
Rights issue was used as follows:

Net proceeds raised during the Intended use of the
year ended 31 March 2024

BE-F-NF=ZA=+—H
HFEECERNMEREFH

Unutilised Proceeds |
REAFMBREIN
sFE AR

HK$52.7 million (the “Unutilised

Proceeds ") capital

HK$44.2 million — repayment of
the borrowings and finance costs

BS5HEARTT — MREEESD

M2EBAT —HEEBRR

5278887 ([KREHA
Fri8sEl])
B 75 pk AR

On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agents pursuant to which the
placing agents have agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to
not less than six independent placees for up to 144,000,000
new Shares at a price of HK$0.65 per placing share (the
“Placing”), for and on behalf of the Company.

The net proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$92.5
million (after all relevant expenses) will be used for future
investment opportunities as may be identified from time to
time, repayment of borrowings and general working capital of
the Group.

All the conditions precedent have been fulfilled and that the
completion of Placing took place on 23 February 2024. A total
of 144,000,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
by the placing agents to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.65 per placing share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement,

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
25 January 2024 and 23 February 2024.
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(i)

HK$8.5 million — general working

(i)

(&)
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HEEAMERBFECEADLOT ¢

Actual use the Unutilised

Proceeds | during the

year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_IE=ZA=+—H
LEERBAMSREAINERAR

HK$8.5 million — general working
capital

HK$44.2 million — repayment of
the borrowings and finance costs
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EHROE (2

Use of proceeds (continued) FRiSRIARR (&)

(i) (continued) (i) (#&)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the net proceed of BHE_Z_NWF=RA=+—HLLFE -
Placing was used as follows: IEFEMERBFHEEEAOT -

Actual use the Unutilised

Net proceeds raised during the Intended use of the Proceeds Il during the
year ended 31 March 2024 Unutilised Proceeds Il year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_IE=ZA=+—H

BEE-_F-_MF=A=+-—H EFEREARESRERN

LEECBRENMEREFE ABRARERBRINGERR NEBRAR

HK$92.5 million HK$92.5 million — investment HK$92.5 million — investment

(the "Unutilised Proceeds I1") — repayment of borrowings — repayment of borrowings
— general working capital — general working capital

925B&ET NS5EBAETL—KRE NSEBETL —KE

([RBAFEFEN]) — EEER — EBEER

——REEES ——REEE®
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RO (@)
Strategic Cooperation B aE

The Company has signed letter of intent (the “LOI") of strategic AAGIZEEEGEFTRESHEAE ([H
cooperation (the “Strategic Cooperation”) with potential B&#]) EmE([ERME]) - RZT=H
cooperation parties from time to time. As at 31 March 2025, the ®=A=+—H & BEREMNZHMR DO T o
status update of the LOls are set out as follows.

Date of Announcement Potential cooperation parties Long stop date Status
DERH BHEAER A kR
29 April 2021 Shenyang Shiye Culture Media Co., Ltd.* 28-Mar-2022 Still in progress (Note 1)
“E--FMOAZtNAA  ABREXLERBERAF “E-FZRAZ+HNB DEEST (M)
3 August 2023 Si Chuan Hui Tong Yun Enterprises Management  3-Aug-2024 Ended
Group Limited*
—E-_=f\A=H M ERECREREEAFRAA “E-_MENAZA BE&R
25 August 2023 Shenzhen San Zang Hui Tou Consulting 24-Aug-2024 Ended
Management Limited*
“EZFNAZTRR R CHERFAERARAA EMENAZTEAE EB&R
21 September 2023 Scallop (Zhejiang) Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.*  20-Sep-2024 Still in progress (Note 1)
“F-ZFAAZT-R RROMI) BERRERA “E-MEAAZ-TH HEETS (M)
17 November 2023 Weiyun Times (Jilin) Digital Technology Co., Ltd.* ~ 16-Nov-2024 Ended
“EZ=FT-AttB  HEBR (FEN) BEFHEBERLA “TmE+-A+RE E&R
29 November 2023 Kejian Kekang (Qingdao) Group Co., Ltd.* 26-Nov-2024 Ended
“ECZFEt-AZtAR TRATR (BR) EERNARAT “EoMFEt-AZ+RA BER
30 November 2023 Huizhigu (Nanjing) Information Technology Co., 29-Nov-2024 Ended
Ltd.*
“ZHEt-A=TR  EzA (BR) EAHERARAA “EZWMEF-AZtNABE BEXR
3 January 2024 Guangdong Chaoyou Xinfu Housekeeping Services  2-Jan-2025 Ended
Group Co., Ltd.*
—F-_WE-AZ=H EREBEERIUEZREEEERLA —Z-_R%-AZH BE#X
22 January 2024 Fengmao Ecological Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,  21-Jan-2025 Ended
Ltd.*
“TWE-AZTZH SHAERR (RI) ARAF “F-RFE-A-t-H  BER
9 April 2024 Shenzhen Zhong Luan Medical Health Industry Co., 8-Apr-2025 Ended
Ltd.*
—T_WEmANRA AITHEERERFERARDA “E_AFMANA BE&R
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & K R &£ %K B G R A 7

Date of Announcement Potential cooperation parties Long stop date Status
DEBRH BHEAHER B8R kR
15 July 2024 Xinghua Economic Development Co., Ltd.* 14-Jul-2025 Ended

“Z-MELATEA BEmEBEERARAD

29 August 2024 Yuyao Yangming Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd.*
“ECRENAZTARE AUBAREREEEERARF

28 October 2024 Heilongjiang Youpin Yougu Agricultural Technology
Co., Ltd.*
“EoWMETAZTNE ERIGREAREMRARA

4 December 2024 Hainan Yinya Automobile Transport Co., Ltd.
“E-ME+-AMA BEEETEEHERAR

13 December 2024 Guoxin Sky (Guangdong) Investment Co., Ltd.
“EIMFE+ZA+T=ZRE  BEEXRZE (BER)REERLA

*  For identification purpose only

Note:

(1 The long stop date has been expired. No further extension was made as
the terms and conditions are still under negotiation. Further due diligence
may have to be made, if necessary.

For the LOlIs still in progress, the specific terms and conditions of
the formal agreement are subject to the approval of the Board after
the completion of the Company’s due diligence. As at 31 March
2025, the Company has not entered into any formal or legally
binding agreement concerning Strategic Cooperation for the LOls
still in progress.

¥t ATEA BE&R

28-Aug-2025 Still in progress
—E-RENAZTNH HEETH

27-Oct-2025 Still in progress
ZZ-RETAZTER ERETH

3-Dec-2025 Still in progress
“E-hRFET-AZR HEETH

13-Dec-2025 Still in progress
ZZ-RETZAT=R DERETH
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Important Events after the Year-end Date

(i)

(ii)

Loss on disposal of listed equity securities

On 11 April 2025 and 2 May 2025, the Company’s margin
loan was forced into liquidation due to a margin call, resulting
in a loss on disposal of the listed equity securities classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$1,285,000 and HK$19,765,000 respectively.

Proposed Capital Reorganisation and proposed Rights Issue
On 13 May 2025, the Company (i) proposed Capital
Reorganisation involving the Share Consolidation, the Capital
Reduction and the Share Sub-division; and (2) proposed
to raise gross proceeds up to approximately HK$155.7
million before expenses by way of the Rights Issue of up to
155,659,455 Rights Shares (assuming there is no change in the
number of Shares in issue on or before the Record Date other
than the Capital Reorganisation) on the basis of three (3) Rights
Shares for every one (1) Adjusted Share held on the Record
Date at the Subscription Price of HK$1.00 per Rights Share to
the Qualifying Shareholders. Details of the proposed Capital
Reorganisation and the proposed Rights Issue are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 13 May 2025 and
the circular of the Company dated 20 June 2025. As at the date
of this report, the proposed Capital Reorganisation and the
proposed Rights Issue have not been completed.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a

variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity

risk, operational risk and market risk. Details of the aforesaid

key risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial

Risk Management Objectives and Policies”

in note 35 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and
paper to help protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, lighting, air-conditioners and office equipment
will be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the year under review, the
Group has, to the best of our knowledge, complied with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company Law of Bermuda, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant rules and regulations.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders
The Group's success lies also on the support from key stakeholders,
including shareholders, employees, bankers, and service providers.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’
rights and our investor relations can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 63 to 79 of this Annual Report.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important assets
of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources
management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives such as share options and bonus, and opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and has been soliciting funds from our bankers as and when
necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's good relationships with its key service providers are
important in our provision of effective and efficient services as well
as meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements. The
key service providers provide professional services to the Group
which are key to our success.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 90 to 91 and in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had approximately HK$73,661,000 reserves available for distribution
to shareholders (2024: HK$222,564,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment for short to long-term
capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted
securities, there are no major customers and suppliers during the
year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 184. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenhai (Joint Chairman and resigned on 12 December
2024)

Mr. Deng Dongping (Joint Chairman and appointed as chairman
on 12 December 2024)

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lyn Ping (deceased on 13 October 2024)

Ms. Mo Xiuping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024)
Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Mr. Ding Jiasheng

Directors respectively subject to retirement or rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with Bye-law 120 and Bye-law 153 of the Company's Bye-laws and
eligible for re-election thereat will be contained in a circular to be
separately issued to the shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 15 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions held by
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the "SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
"Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

EEREREERERE

ARABEERAEESRERBZEBEHR
RERFINEISE o

EERIETHRAEBRKRG - HBERAD
REERzER

RZE_RAF=ZA=Z1+—8  EERAEARF
FETBRABRARGARERBEE (TR
BHEREEGRD ([FHRBEGG]) EXVED)
ZBRH  BEARNIEREBZREBELLALR
NARBESRAERANEINGEAFTE 2
s RAR - AR B AR B M8 C3
e LB TAESHETESFRSNIZES
A (MZEFA]) ESTTHNEEARARES
BEXSHARAR ([BXF]) 2EER
KAEWMT

ARABRDRBBERNZHR

Number of shares/underlying shares held

Fikt,/ HBRHHE
Number of shares Approximate
Number of  issuable on share percentage of
Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held shares held optionheld  Total interests shareholding
FaBREL ERERN
Esng KEREZ S0 FRRBRE TRTRHOHA BER Bl
(Note)
(Ht5E)
Zhu Zhikun 75 8 Beneficial owner B 255 A A 4,890,000 4,890,000 047%
Note: MEE

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company’s
issued capital of 1,037,729,718 shares at 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

EERFETHRAERKRG - HEBER®E
REEEZES &)

BREXHEEEIN  RZZE_AF=R=+-—
B EFHARAETBTBRAEREREARQ
Al E AT REAE (E& B EF RPERD
EXVER) 2B - HEROIEEED - &
BERARRQARIEREF LHE GG F3521%
AGFEZECMARBREETRESTAE
ARBRBRMzEEIRR -

FERR

RZZB_AF=A=+—H BREFHARQ
AEXETBAEN  BEREBEEFRHPEEH
FERIFRAFEZECMMARLE - HELARA
Bty R AR R 5% A LR AX B 2 AL 40
T

Approximate

Capacity in which Number of  percentage of
Name of Shareholder interests are held shares held shareholding
ERERLD
BRREE/EB BEREZZEH RGO #E BOk
(Note 1)
(BEET)
Zhang Hai (Note 2 and 3) 558 (F§72K3) Beneficial owner Bz A A 25,614,000 2.47%
Interest of Controlled 78,859,945 7.60%
Corporation ZZ§)% B # =
104,473,945 10.07%
Infinite Apex International Corporation (Note 2) Beneficial owner E&m A A 78,859,945 7.60%
Infinite Apex International Corporation (Ffi#£2)
China Investment Limited (Note 3) Interest of Controlled 78,859,945 7.60%
HEEREER D E (FF3E3) Corporation 52 il % B # &
Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner Bz %A A 72,424,000 6.98%
Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited (Ff{4)
Shuo Kang International Limited (Note 5) Beneficial owner Bz A A 58,144,000 5.60%
Shuo Kang International Limited (i 75)
China Hui Shang Enterpriser Association International Beneficial owner Ezm %A A 56,000,000 5.40%
Group Limited (Note 6)
PEYHLCERHERREEER A (HT6)
Yang Weixu 15 &8 Beneficial owner Bz A A 53,222,000 5.13%
Ng Yu RF Beneficial owner Bz A A 52,560,000 5.06%
Notes: B3

Q)] The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the (1)
Company'’s issued share capital of 1,037,729,718 shares as at 31 March

2025.

BEBSE IR AR TR -_E_RAF=ZA=1+—
A2 BT 7A1,037,729, 718 B A 5+ E B H

(2) Infinite Apex International Corporation (“Infinite Apex”) is owned by Mr.
Zhang Hai (51%) and China Investment Limited (49%). Therefore, Mr. Zhang
Hai and China Investment Limited are deemed to be, or taken to be,
interested in all the shares held by Infinite Apex for the purpose of the SFO.

2) Infinite Apex International Corporation ( [Infinite
Apex]) BRBEEGCINRFEHKRERR QA
@OwER - FIt - RIEFSRBEKG - K8
%Ak R B RE AR AR AR A 7E Infinite Apex
RANRERMNDTEE#R -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3) China Investment Limited ("CIL") is owned by Mr. Zhang Hai (40%), 7 3!
MBI g EMREAER DA G0%) and FERE OFII) ZHAREER
A A) (30%). Therefore, Mr. Zhang Hai, I B8] E T AR AR 2 7
and FEF®E ORII) %R H B R A Fl are deemed to be, or taken to
be, interested in all the shares held by Infinite Apex for the purpose of the
SFO.

(4) Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yao
Aiyun.

(5) Shuo Kang International Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yang Dandan.

(6) China Hui Shang Enterpriser Association International Group Limited is
wholly owned by Zhang Qiaoyun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the AGM held on 28 December 2018, the terms of a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) were adopted by providing
incentive to eligible participants to work better for the interests
of the Group, under which the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to any full-time or part-time employee and
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and service
providers of the Group (collectively the “Grantees”).

The purposes of the grant of the Options are to retain and motivate
the Grantees to stive for future development and expansion of
the Group, give incentive to encourage the Grantees to enjoy
the results of the Group attained through their efforts and
contributions.

The old share option scheme (the "Old Scheme"”) adopted by the
Company by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company
on 9 April 2009 was terminated and replaced by the Scheme at the
AGM held on 28 December 2018. Details of the Old scheme are
shown in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The total number of shares which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme to
each Grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors. If the Board proposed to grant options to a substantial
shareholder or any independent non-executive Director or their
respective associates which will result in the number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue on the date of grant and having an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be subjected to the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the offer date or within such other period of time as may
be determined by the Board. Upon acceptance of the options, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration
for the grant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme shall be priced as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, but must be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the SEHK on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares as quoted on the SEHK for the five consecutive business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share of the Company.

The period during which an option may be exercise will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted
and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date.
The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not
carry voting rights until the completion of the registration of the
Grantee.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

When the Scheme was adopted on 28 December 2018, the Scheme
Mandate Limit approved by the Shareholders was 88,218,572
Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of HK$0.001
into one Share of nominal value of HK$0.01) which has taken effect
on 21 March 2019). The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed by
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting held
on 16 September 2021. The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit was
19,064,785 Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation
(involving consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value
of HK$0.01 into Share of nominal value of HK$0.1) which has taken
effect on 15 February 2023).

The outstanding share options at the beginning of the financial
year ended 31 March 2025 was 2,903,174 as follows:

(i) For the share options granted on 2 August 2021 (“First
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
2,777,248 Shares; and

(i) For the share options granted on 7 January 2022 (“Second
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
125,926 Shares.

For the First Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2025: (i) 2,777,248 share options were lapsed; (ii) no share option
was exercised; and (iii) as at 31 March 2025: no share options
remained outstanding.

For the Second Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2025: (i) 125,926 share option was lapsed; (ii) no share option was
exercised; and (i) as at 31 March 2025: no share options remained
outstanding.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

In total, during the year ended 31 March 2025: (i) 2,903,174 share
options were lapsed; (i) no share option was exercised; and (jii) as
at 31 March 2025: no share options remained outstanding. Details
of the Scheme and share options movements are set out in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, the total number of securities available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme in respect of outstanding
share options granted but not yet exercised is nil shares which
represented nil% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 March 2025.

THE NEW SHARE SCHEME

The Company has adopted the New Share Scheme pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company. The New Share Scheme allows
the Company to broaden the types of equity incentives it can utilize
by allowing the grant of both share awards and share options.

Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant Options or Awards to the Participants as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The New Share
Scheme will give the Participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company and will help achieve the following objectives:
(a) motivate the Participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency; and (b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain a long
term relationship with the Participants whose contributions are or
will be in line with the business objectives of the Group.

Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants include (a) directors and employees of any
member of the Group; (b) directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; or (c) persons who or entities which provide services to
the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of business which are in the interest of the long term
growth of the Group; as determined by the Board in its sole and
absolute discretion.
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THE NEW SHARE SCHEME (continued)

Vesting period

The Board may from time to time, in its absolute discretion,
determine the vesting date upon which the Options or Awards may
be vested in that grantee in respect of all or a proportion of such
Options or Awards. The vesting period in respect of any Option
or Award shall be not less than twelve (12) months. A shorter
vesting period may be granted to the Employee Participants at the
discretion of the Board in certain circumstances.

Exercise price and issue price

The exercise price of an Option granted under the New Share
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Option, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of offer.

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine whether the
grantee is required to pay any purchase price for the acquisition of
the Shares underlying an Award.

Acceptance
An offer for the grant of Options or Awards must be accepted
within 21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued in respect
of all Options or Awards to be granted under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed
86,478,971 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"). Options
or Awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
will not be regarded as utilised for the purpose of calculating the
Scheme Mandate Limit.

Within the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all Options or Awards to
be granted to the Service Providers shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue on the adoption date (the “Service
Provider Sublimit”).
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THE NEW SHARE SCHEME (continued)

Maximum entitlement for each participant

Where any grant of Options or Awards to a Participant would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all Options
or Awards granted to such person (excluding any Options or
Awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares of the Company
in issue (the “Individual Limit"), such grant must be separately
approved by Shareholders of the Company in general meeting with
such Participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the
Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Termination

The New Share Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of its adoption on 30 September
2024 and shall expire at the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of the New Share Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no Options or Awards has
been granted under the New Share Scheme.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
was a party during or at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the provisions
of the statutes, every Director or other officer of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable
for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-law shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company has maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its securities.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 6 (2024: 11) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$3,431,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$6,776,000). The employees
were remunerated based on their responsibilities and performance.

The Company has adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration
model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This
model stipulates that the Remuneration Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee would take into consideration, among
other things, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and prevailing market conditions when
determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including Directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Chen Shunging, Mr. Shi Zhu
and Mr. Ding Jiasheng, and Ms. Chen Shunging is the Committee
Chairlady. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

On 25 February 2022, BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of
the Company and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (“FCCL") has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by FCCL. The term
of office of FCCL will expire upon the conclusion of the AGM. A
resolution to re-appoint FCCL as auditor of the Company will be
proposed to the shareholders of the Company for approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Deng Dongping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (the "Company”)
is pleased to present its report on the Environmental, Social, and
Governance (the "ESG”") aspects (the “ESG Report”) to provide
an overview of the Group’s management on significant issues
affecting the operation and the performance of the Group in terms

of environmental and social aspects.

Being a listed company, apart from strictly complying with the
Code of Corporate Governance practices as set out in the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the
Board also strives to be a responsible corporation by placing great
emphasis on the environmental protection, people oriented and
community care and to maintain a high ethical standard. The Board
believes that these sustainability objectives can align with the
company's business strategies to contribute most favourable return
for stakeholders.

PREPARATION BASIS, SCOPE AND REPORTING

PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared to be in compliance with Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules — "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide"), including the overall approach,
reporting principles, the mandatory disclosure requirements, and
the “comply or explain” provisions as specified in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

The Company is an investment company and is principally engaged
in investments in a diversified portfolio of listed and unlisted
companies. As an investment company, the Company does not
directly participate in the production and operation of these listed
and unlisted companies. Hence the scope of this Report is limited
to the office space in Hong Kong. The ESG Report covers the
Group's overall performance, commitment and approaches in
workplace quality, environmental protection, operating practices
and community involvement in relation to the abovementioned
operations during the year ended 31 March 2025. All information and
data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and internal
statistics of the Group.
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PREPARATION BASIS, SCOPE AND REPORTING
PRINCIPLES (continued)
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The reporting principles used throughout this Report is explained A& FAIHRANFRERAFBRELD T -

as follows:

Reporting Principles
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How it is applied to this report
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The ESG Report includes ESG issues that are determined by the Board of Directors,
with the assistance of the management and ESG working group that are above the
threshold at which they are sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders
to be reported. These material ESG issues were identified through consideration and
discussion by the Board of Directors and the ESG working group, and also through the
discussions in the normal course of engagement with the different stakeholders. Further
detail of the identification process and the selection criteria are set out in the “Stakeholder
Engagement” section.
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The KPIs in respect of historical data described in the ESG Report are measured by
the Company. Targets set are either in terms of actual numerical figures, or directional
statements or forward-looking statements to reduce a particular impact related to each
of the KPIs. The effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems can hence be
evaluated and validated. Each quantitative information is accompanied by a narrative,
explaining its purpose, impacts, and comparative data are given where appropriate.
Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation used, and
source of key emission and conversion factors used for both quantitative environmental
and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report where appropriate. Refer to the
explanations accompanied the relevant KPlIs for further detail.
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The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the Company’s performance during the
Reporting Period by disclosing information in an objective manner, avoiding contents that
may inappropriately influence the judgment made by report readers, i.e. bias selections,
omissions, or present in a format that deliberately misrepresentation reality.
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Methodologies used is consistent so as to allow for meaningful comparison of ESG data
over time. Any changes that could affect a meaningful comparison of the KPIs have been
disclosed accordingly.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

While actively seeking to optimise its investment portfolio and
maximise shareholder return, the Company lives up to its corporate
social responsibility by striking a balance between the interests of
stakeholders such as the shareholders and the community, with the
ultimate goal of achieving to be a sustainable corporation and a
giant step towards responsible investing.

ESG oversight

The Board aims to provide stakeholders with an understanding
of the overall ESG governance structure of the Company. The
Board acknowledges its role of oversight of ESG issues through
the consideration and discussion of ESG issues in board meetings.
In this section the Board will further explain its ESG management
approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritise, and manage material ESG-related issues (including risks
to the issuer’s businesses), and how it reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they related to the Company'’s business.

ESG management approach and strategy

To ensure cohesion with existing business strategies and processes,
the Board aligns its ESG management approach and strategy with
our existing governance (i.e. risk management and internal controls
system) framework. The ESG-related risks are therefore evaluated,
prioritise, and managed as part of the existing processes of this
governance framework, so that ESG-related risks are managed just
as effective as those which are not ESG-related.

Through an integrated, dual top-down and bottom-up approach,
risks identified at each level of defence are discussed, evaluated
and prioritise at that level as well as between the other levels.
Material risks are then communicated and considered by the Board
and the senior management regularly at board and committee
meetings.
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

ESG management approach and strategy (continued)

Each of these material risks are entered into a risk register where
an appropriate level of risk appetite is set with the appropriate
risk response. Risk register and their relevant risk appetite and
risk responses are approved by the Board. These risks in the risk
register are regularly monitored to consider the change of any risk
and the necessity of change in risk response.

Hence, in formulating our sustainability we take not only the
principle of sustainability seriously, we also take into careful
consideration various risk including legal compliance, operational,
finance and also the opinions from stakeholders. We have
established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

We recognise the ESG Report as an important measure to
showcase our efforts in sustainable development. In realising
sustainable development, we are devoted to strike a balance of
the interests among various stakeholders, such as investors and
shareholders, customers, employees, work partners as well as the
community. The Company is searching for every opportunity to
understand and engage our stakeholder to ensure improvement
can be implemented to our investments. We strongly believe our
stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of our
business.
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement (continued)
The existing communication mechanism with stakeholders of the

Group is set forth as below:

Stakeholders
Flz=tEEEE

Expectations and concerns

HERBATERE

BRE

C HERERKNEE (@)
FBEERESR ()
BAKEAFABENRABBEANNT :

Communication Channels

The Stock Exchange

B 22 i

Government and regulatory
authorities

B REEHE

Shareholders or investors

RREIKEE

Employees

7l
il

Public and Communities

RNRFA R

e Compliance with the Listing Rules,
publishing of announcements in a
timely and accurate manner

o HST LT AL K Ko B 2 HE I B A

A==
=

AN

e Compliance with laws and regulations
e Business Sustainability

o BYARKZER
o XKAREN

e Return on investments
e Corporate governance
e Business compliance

o K& M@

e EER

s XBER

* Employees’ compensation and benefits

e Training and development

® Protection for the labour force and
safety during work

o EEmMKER

o FiIHEER

o LFOARIELE2RE

* Involvement in communities

e Business compliance

e Environmental protection awareness
s ZHEMEBER

e XBAM

o RIBEFREER

Meetings, trainings, seminars,
programmes, website update and

announcements
2% Bl - HAE - RE - B
EHMRAE

Supervision on the compliance with local
laws and regulations

Routine reports
EEHEMERIAENETER
BIiTHR &

Regular reports and announcements
Regular general meetings
Company's official website
EMBRRARE

NAEEM

Performance reviews
Regular meetings and trainings
Organization of team activities

RANE
R R

S R B

Volunteer activities

Public welfare and community activities
Company's official website

ELED

NEBHRLEREE

NEEH
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholders’ Feedback

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please share your
views with us via:

Address:  Unit 1701, 17/F.,
Wai Fung Plaza, 664 Nathan Road,
Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
Email: info@chinainvestment.com.hk
Website:  www.00204.com.hk

No formal stakeholder engagement exercise was conducted,
material ESG factors were selected based on input from ESG
working group, the management and stakeholders from existing
stakeholder engagement processes as outline above, which we
have identified to be (in the order of importance): supply chain
management, safety and quality assurance of food production,
health & safety of employees and customers, and also environment
ESG topics such as GHG emissions, waste management, energy
and water consumption.

ESG-related goals and targets progress review

Material ESG-related issues are issues that are critical to both short-
term and long-term success of the Company'’s business. It is those
parts of the Company’s business where these issues lie, the ESG
impact of these issues is highly relevant. The KPls of material ESG-
related issues are regularly reviewed against goals and targets set-
up by the Management and the Board, with the assistance of ESG
working group, throughout the process of the preparing of ESG
reporting to determine progress made and made adjustment and
revisions to the original goals and targets where appropriate.

A. ENVIRONMENT
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption

The Company is committed to reduce carbon footprints
by pursuing energy saving and other environment
protection measures in our business operation. As
the Company is engaged in investment business, only
generate indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission
limiting to electricity and paper consumptions in our
office setting and employee business travel. Non-
hazardous wastes (commercial wastes and the disposal
of computer devices and office equipment) produced
by the Company are also at a minimum.

44 Annual Report 4F ¥ 2025

RE - £ EREBNAE (@)
AR E R R R
RMBOFEEREERMARES  HLER
BERAENAERRBIELRE - HBBIU
THERBRAMS THEORN

Wk BBENE
it A o8 2B 6645k
HERMTIEITE
T - info@chinainvestment.com.hk
4yt 0 www.00204.com.hk

BEEREANMNEABELETY  HR
RIRIE - He@RkERIMENE - EEERT
mEAER EXBANRENEHEES R
BREEHEANERE HEREREX M
BMERRAZEFRES GLEEMEME) + #
EHER  RRBREENLZENEERE  E
ENEPHNEERLZE - UMIRE - HE8R
ERMEIE  PIWAERBHN  BEYE
B ERBREAK -

BiE - HERERNREEREREERS
EXRE  HeRkERBBERESHAQA
EBHOEHLERENOEFREENEE -
ARBEBHZEBDERZSTHEME -
ZEZENRE  HEREAFESERRA -
RN - HERERAIENENBHT - &
RARKRRE  HEREARENEB/RES
By REEEEMAEFSHTNEERE
7 THEESERRE  HekEARMHRZ
EHNHERAERER  AEERENER @ I
EFEENBATHRAEBEERESETHE
RAERT »

A BIE
Al BERYI R ETREFE

ARBBOIREBEBEEREERE
e BN R & E th 3R AR 18 B 2RORL 4 ik BE
Me BRARRNREREXES
AHERPATHNE N RESINE
AEBEHEELARAERE (R
ERE])RAEEE - ARAE
ErBERZEY (BEBEOLESE
EREERPLRETRE) TMENK
ERAKFE o



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE #HERERRE

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A BRE (&)
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption (continued) Al BERRYIREIRERE ()

Since the year of 2022 and up to November 2023, the BE-E - HFRENEE-_ZT_-_=F
Company has changed to a shared office arrangement +— A AAREERAHXERAE
where the fees for water usage are included in the ZH O KBREEHREZRAELRH
shared office arrangement, and hence relevant data o It 4 K & ?% MEEE - K
cannot be obtained. The details of carbon dioxide SERBERRN_AtREREE
equivalent emission and resources consumption of the RERBEZFBROT :
Group during the reporting period was as follows:
Printing paper TENAR

Unit 2025 2024

=il —E-RHF —ET_MF
Consumption quantity HEE kg T35 121.00 94.08
Electricity Eh

Unit 2025 2024

=il —E-RHF —E_MF
Consumption quantity EFEE kWh F F B 3,003.00 10,752.00
Greenhouse Gas Emissions &= REEHEN Kg CO,e 2,132.13 7,634.00

(Scope 2)! (83[E2)" Fr=—&1
mEERE &

L The amount of carbon emissions per unit is 0.71 kg CO2-e for the year
2021 as disclosed by HK Electric Investments Limited.

1

BEBRENREERAARE  —FT_—FE&E
B ERON TR —SLHREREE -
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BHRE

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption (continued)

RIE (&)
Al BEIRERERE (&)

Our Group had purchased a motor vehicle in the year REER-_T_MNEHEE— Wf"fi
2024. The fuel consumption and Scope 1 GHG emission FRMEERELEE —BRERBH
during the year are as follows: WA
Direct Energy BEERR
Unit 2025 2024
= Rivi —EZEHF —ET_NF
Gasoline i MWh JK BT B 111.53 5,933.37
Greenhouse Gas Emissions & = R A8 HE Kg CO,e 29,510.55 —
(Scope 1)2 (#3E1)2 FTr_—&1t
MEEME &

During the year ended 31 March 2025, our Group had
accounted for a total of 31,642.68 kg (2024: 7,634)
carbon dioxide equivalent emissions, produced directly
from gasoline from our motor vehicle and indirectly
from our electric energy consumption in the business
office.

Due to the nature of the business, our Group's business
activities do not generate any hazardous waste and
do not have any direct and significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources in the course of its
operation.

The amount of carbon emissions per unit is 0.71 kg CO2-e for the year
2021 as disclosed by HK Electric Investments Limited.
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A, RIE (&)
A.2. Use of Resources A2 BEREEH

The Company commits to protect the environment by
mainly focusing on the reduction in electricity, paper
and water consumption. To achieve this, the Company
continually applies efficient consumption strategy
to improve resources saving and reduce resources

consumption.

Resource Efficiency Management
The Company adopted a number of energy-saving and
resources usage initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas

emission and conserve resources usage.

Electricity

The Company uses LED lighting system, which saves
up to 80% energy and has a long life of more than 10
times comparing with traditional lighting. In addition,
there are no ultraviolet and infrared rays in the LED
light spectrum, and the waste can be recycled. It does
not contain mercury vapour as in traditional fluorescent
lamps. There is no gas pollution and it is a typical green
lighting.

J Set the central air-conditioning system at room
temperature of 25.5°C;

° Set the computers and printers in energy saving
mode when not in use;

J Switch off lights in meeting rooms when not in
use;
° Switch off printers when all staff have left office;

o Turn off computers and monitors overnight except
it is required for working purpose such as system
updates;

J Remove all the electronic chargers from the
sockets when not in use.

ARBEBETBHFINBIEN -
MRRKOBERMB N RERE o
Rk - ARFFBERBSUEHERE
SR B LA 00 5% B BE IR A BETRB AE o

BiREE IR
ARBEMTZHEMERERER
B AR BRERBHER - &
MEBERER °

£h

RRABHRKBLEDRBRELS - KZ 7
EN#KIB0%EETR - AERFm AEL
BREAEY +fFIA £ - tbsh - LED YR
P ERIMNR RALIMR - HEER
MAEY - ETBEBEREKEN
RER G AUHERBSR /A
BEIRRER -

e BHRREFRZRTA
K255

fhit
B

®

s HETERBKEMNRITHNHR
E R R

)

s ENERAFHIEERZEMNR
BH
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FTED# -
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

A.2.

A3

AA4.

Use of Resources (continued)

Paper
. Print in duplex;
o Use recycled paper for printing;

° Print in black and white; and
. E-storage of documents.

Water
Water consumption of the Company is minimal.
Employees are encouraged not to waste water.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the business, in addition to the
above-mentioned emissions and resource usage, the
Company does not have any direct and significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources in
the course of its operation.

Staff members believe it is important to minimise the
impact on the environment and natural resources due to
by their operations. In fact, as the Company’s operations
do not directly involve the use of natural resources there
is comparatively little impact on the environment and
natural resources.

Climate Change

The Company acknowledges that climate change
poses different kinds of risks as well as opportunities
to the Group's operations. According to the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD), climate risks are classified
into transitional risks (the adaptation challenges
that companies may face in terms of policies, laws,
technologies and markets) and physical risks (the impact
that extreme weather events may have on companies).
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.4. Climate Change (continued)

For physical risks, examples include bad weather such
as extreme cold or heat, heavy rain, storm, typhoon,
and other extreme weather events that can disrupt
operations by damaging the power grid, communication
infrastructures, obstructing and injuring our staff on the
way or during their work, and also disastrous events
incidental to these weather such as the fire hazard from
overheated equipment in severe heat waves caused by
global warming. All these events may bring a severe
impact on the company’s operations.

For transformation risks, which means the risks faced
by the Group include the introduction of policies
related to energy conservation and emission reduction,
stricter emission reporting obligations and compliance
requirements, etc.

In response, the Group will identify these risks and
prioritise those which have a severe impact to take
precautionary measures first. The Group will also
identify, if any, opportunities where changing of the
business processes may be possible, for instance, staff
switch to using online video conference methods to
communicate in order that these severe impacts to
operations may be mitigated or avoided.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Company
and also provide driving force for the continuous
innovation of the Company.

The Company has set up a comprehensive human
resources management system, which was prepared in
compliance with or with reference to the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, the PRC Labour Law ( {# ZE A
R AT A H)%) ), the PRC Labour Contract Law ( (/1
EARANMBESH A

and regulations.

[@ %) ) and other existing laws
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1.

Employment (continued)

The Company has implemented a set of human
resources policy, which clearly states the recruitment
and promotion, staff benefits and welfare,
compensation and dismissal, training and development,
codes of ethics, safety and health, working hours and
rest periods, equal employment opportunities without
any discrimination against gender, marital status, age,

race, nationality and religion etc.

Furthermore, for all our employees, we provide fair
and adequate opportunities in terms of job promotion
and salary increment in recognising and rewarding our
employees; whilst we encourage career development
within our organisation by offering on-job training.

Provision of mandatory provident fund, pension,
medical and unemployment insurance, and a range of
other welfare benefits is guaranteed in compliance with
relevant Employment laws.

As at 31 March 2025, the proportion of male and female
employees were 1:1 (2024: 7:4). The proportion of age
group of below 30, 30 to 50 and over 50 were 1:4:1 (2024
3:7:1) respectively.

Among all employees, 50% (2024: 27%) were from Hong
Kong and 50% (2024: 73%) from China. The employee
composition (in number of employees, excluding
directors) by gender, employee category, age group
and geographical region were as follows:

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total number
of 6 (2024: 11) employees. During the year, 4 (2024:16)
employees left the company, of which nil (2024: 1) was
employed in Hong Kong and 4 (2024:15) was employed
in the mainland China. The resulting turnover rate by
gender and age group were both 47% (2024: 59%).
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SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees. Every employee has enough working space
in office and small fitness equipment is offered in office
to support health. The Company provides its staff with
mandatory provident fund (MPF) and, medical insurance
(including in-patient and out-patient). In the Year, no
work related injuries or fatalities were recorded.

The Company has developed a set of work safety
codes covering areas of environmental hygiene and
cleanliness, machine operation, smoking ban and fire
prevention, hazardous materials handling, arrangements
in times of typhoons and rainstorms, as well as response
to emergencies, etc. It also requires strict compliance
with these work safety codes by its employees. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company recorded
nil number of work-related fatalities (2024: nil, 2023: nil)
and no lost days due to work injury (2024 nil, 2023: nil).

Development and training

The Company supports its staff to develop and enhance
their professional knowledge and skills to cope with
the evolving market environment and compliance
level. On top of on-job training, the staff members are
encouraged to take external professional training to
strengthen their work-related expertise.

The Company has always encouraged staff members to
attend courses or seminars organized by professional
bodies and regularly update their knowledge on
investments, accounting standards, Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Companies
Ordinances, and also those training related to anti-
corruption. The Company also offers education
allowance as incentive for employees to take
professional examinations.

We adopt a five-day work per week and encourage
our employees to have a good balance among health
work and social or family activities. Also we encourage
communication between employees and their
supervisors or the management of the Company. Based
on their requests and job performances, we provide
flexible career options to them to foster a better
personal development.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B3. Development and training (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the average training hours for all

employees was 20 hours (2024: 20).

B4. Labour Standards

The Company is in compliance with Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, Regulations on Labour Security
Supervision and other applicable laws as the Group
sets a high standard in protecting employees. Relevant
guidelines are set out in employment contracts, internal

notices and other forms of documents.

The Company strictly prohibits any child labour or
forced labour, or any unfair treatment to our employees
and does not employ staff who are below 18 years
of age. The Company provides such rights and
benefits to its employees which are no less than those
required statutorily. No employee is paid less than
the minimum wage specified by the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Company’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement scheme we operate under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are made by each monthly

contribution day.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws
and regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 570, the law of Hong Kong), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487, the law of Hong
Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480, the
law of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608, the law of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 282, the law of Hong Kong), Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485, the law
of Hong Kong), the Labour law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Prevention and the Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People's Republic of

China.

We closely monitor our workplace conditions and
employees’ behaviour. In any case of misconduct, we
will launch detailed investigations over the matters and

improve our preventive measures.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

Anti-Corruption

The Company is committed to adhering to the highest
ethical standards and maintaining a culture of integrity
and justice for preventing, detecting and reporting all
types of fraud, including corruption.

The Company seeks to encourage strict policies that
prohibit bribery and other improper payments to
public officials consistent with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
similar laws in other countries in which the Company

invests.

All staff members are to comply with provisions laid
down in the Staff Handbook, “Anti-bribery, Bribe
taking, Bribe-providing, and Conflict of Interest”. The
Staff Handbook stipulates that if an employee breaks
the Company’s policy or any Hong Kong laws and
regulations, the Company has the right to terminate
the employment contract. In addition to an open-door
policy towards employees’ grievances, as staff members
are also important stakeholders, as mentioned in the
stakeholders’ feedback section they are regularly
engaged by the Company in meetings and team
activities, etc., to provide them with guidance and
feedback to their work, and these also provide them
with ample opportunity to voice their complaints and
whistle-blow in a constructive manner.

Among the legal cases brought against the issuer or its
employees, there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices during the reporting period during the Year.

The Risk Management Committee was set up to
regularly evaluate and determine the nature and extent
of risks to the Company. Interest of shareholders and
stakeholders can hence be further protected.

Since the Board has recognized the importance of
corporate governance practice, it strictly complies with
the Code of Corporate Governance practices as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Hence anti-
corruption policy is adopted and all directors and
employees are required to sign the Code of Conduct
of the Company. Furthermore, the Company regularly
updates and informs employees which securities are
forbidden to purchase due to conflict of interests.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B8. Community Investment
As a socially responsible company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. We encourage
our employees to pursue their personal passions
and dedicate their time and skills to supporting
local communities. We strive to develop long-term
relationships with our stakeholders and bring a positive
impact on community development.

SOUND GOVERNANCE

To satisfy the expectation of shareholders, regulators and
others, the Company clearly promotes sound governance,
emphasizes on strong leadership and well management
that properly incentive appropriate behaviours. The senior
management of the Company is responsible for developing
company’s strategic direction and overseeing execution,
while the Board of Directors are in-charge of oversight of
management's performance.

The annual report contains detailed information about the
members of the Board, including the Director biographical
information and the Board’s role in risk management
oversight.

Independence of Board of Directors

Board independence is essential to effective governance. An
independent Board serves the interests of shareholders by
effectively carrying out its fundamental obligation of oversight
of management. Four of the Company’s eleven Board
members and each of the members of Audit Committee are
independent directors, and the majority of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee are independent
director, under the standards established by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company’s independence standards.

For more information, please refer to the part of corporate

governance in the annual report.
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RIE #HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RiE -

REPORTING INDEX

HERERRERS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TRER  BH - —REERBREERER =4} BER
A. Environmental
A BER
A1: Emissions
Al B
General Disclosure Emission and Resources 44
Consumption
— R E BER) B B TROE #E
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 45-46
data.
B8 ERIERAL e E R AR R BUR -
KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas Emission and Resources 45-46
emissions and, where appropriate, intensity. Consumption
BEREARIEEAL2 EERERFAEARERABAENER (WER) R ERERERE
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
BEREAMIEEALS MELXEZEEEDHEEN (WER) BE - TERRAEBER - THEA
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where ~ Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
HREZIEREAL MELAEBZEEDREEN (WER) BE - TERRAEEEY - TEHR
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps ESG-related goals and 44
taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
EREREEREALS RAFMATYOSERERERREINELEEN RE  HEREREH
RENEY B - BEREREERS -
BIREM
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ~ ESG-related goals and 44
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction target progress review,
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Use of Resources
HREZIERAL RHERREENEEEEYNTE Wil RE - HEREL/EH
RIVHRERE RN REIELBERMRMNS BEREREERS -
B o BIRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BiE - d2REARFERS ()
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TEHE  EH —REERBRENEER E=4: 0] BR

A2: Use of Resources

A2 ERER
General Disclosure Use of Resources 47
— AR BRER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Emission and Resources 45-46, 47
type in total and intensity. Consumption, Use of
Resources
BREARIEEA21 RENESNEER SHEZELRERERT HAORERERE
B o BIRER
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Not feasible for the N/A

Group to obtain water
consumption data.

BMRENIEEA22 BHEKERETE - BEREKEHBEREAE T
s AT -

it
H

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set ESG-related goals and 44, 45
and steps taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
BREMERA23 AT NEREARZERLIREINEE RE - HEREREH
EREITEZ: N BREREREEES
BIRE R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in No issue on sourcing water N/A
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water fir for purpose, since
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve water consumption is
them. not material for the
Group's business.
HREEMERA24 R SREGEAKIR R BERBE - UKEFA  REGEBKRELER TES
VAR mBEERAEINELREMER & FRELAKEAN
B - SEXBMELITE
Koo
KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Not applicable to the N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to per Group's business.

unit produced.
BREREREA25 AR mABEEMENRER (WER) 84 TERARAEEEK - T
EBMUEE -

[
I
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TEHR  EBEEH > —REERERENEE =6 BR
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BERRARER
General Disclosure The Environment and 48
Natural Resources
— M RREERAAER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ No significant impact N/A
on the environment and natural resources and the of activities on the
actions taken to manage them. environment and natural
resources was noted.
R ENIEBRA3 HMEBRETHERERRAERNEATZER IBEERERIHYEE ITEH

EXREEABXENTY - BRRAARERELE

B2 488
-2 30

A4: Climate Change

Ad: RIRE1t
General Disclosure Climate Change 48-49
—REE RIRE(E
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change 48-49
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
HRAEMERAL RECERARESEHRITAEERENERR RIERE(L

REEAEE - REHTH -
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREE E=4: 0] =P/
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
BRERZEIER
B1: Employment
B1: &R
General Disclosure Employment 49
—RIKE (=4
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Employment 50
group and geographical region.
R ENIEEB RER - BEREL  FRANERWES SN  ER
EEHRE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment 50
geographical region.
B EENMIERBL2 wmIER - FiREAMNKMWEESNEEREAL (ERE
& o
B2: Health and safety
B2 EEZE
General Disclosure Health and Safety 51
—REBE BERERZE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 51
occurred in each of the past three years including
the reporting year.
AR & M IEEB2.1 BE=ZF (BHEERFE) BFRAITHMNA RBEEZS
HREE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 51
ME&ENIEEB22 ATHEERTIERE - fEFERT 2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety 51
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.
B R&ENIERB23 HA PR RBERZ2ER - UWRiE RBEEZR
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)

TERHE  BEH - —REERBERERER 4] EED/N

B3: Development and Training

B3 : R R

General Disclosure Development and Training 51

— AR TR ME

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ Data on employee N/A
and employee category. demographics was not

available
B EMIEEB3N BERREERMNEDHXIEER DL - BEAXEBEEAOGH THEA
2 7E

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training 52
employee by gender and employee category.

HRENIEREB32 BRERKREERMNE D  BREETAXI  BHREKEI
B R E o

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : B TR

General Disclosure Labour Standards 52

—RIKE & T 2R

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 52
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

B AW IEEBA s BEEMNERAEREE T REHIE & ITER
T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 52
practices when discovered.

B RENIERBL2 R EERERBNRHERABBEB KRR 8 TER|

HER o
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREE 8-} EED/N
Operating Practices
EEEN
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : HESEERE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
—RKE THREEREAZE - THEA
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
B 8 4 AIEEB5.1 riWES DM HEFHEE - TEEER/REAZE - TER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Not identified as material ~ N/A
suppliers, number of suppliers where the aspect.
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
B8 & RIEEBS.2 HMAFERERHERNED  MERTEHE ITHETE/EAZE - TER
BOHINHEREE - URBEBABHABHRITR
ERE -
B6: Product Responsibility
B6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
— MR E TREEREAZE - THEA
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not identified as material ~ N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. aspect.
B 8 4 BB EB6.1 EEXRCDEZXERAHPRLRHERIPAMN THEERELEE - TER
ARKBED L -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Not identified as material ~ N/A
complaints received and how they are dealt with. aspect.
BREENIEEBSL.2 EEMNEREBRBORFHREUAREETE - TREEREAZE - THEHA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BiE - d2REARFERS ()
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages
Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREE E=4: 0] =P/
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and ~ Not identified as material ~ N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. aspect.
B R EMIEEB6.3 Rt g ERRENBEREBNED - TREEREAZE - THEHA
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Not identified as material ~ N/A
procedures. aspect.
BRENIEEB6A HAEERTRIBEREMLBWRERF - THEBERERZEE ° A5
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Not identified as material ~ N/A
privacy policies, how they are implemented and aspect.
monitored.
R ENMIERBGS HHBEEEHNRERLEBERE - UREHE THREZREXZE - THEA

WITRERTE -

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RES

General Disclosure Anti-corruption 53
—REE RES

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption 53

corrupt practices brought against the Company or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcome of the case.
B8 ERIEEBT REEHAUARASIERBERBI I EEN RES
BEAHRARTHEE RFDER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption 53
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored.

B R &M IEEBT.2 AP BEERERIET - UWREBRTR RES

ERTE -

KP17.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Development and 51,98
directors and staff. Training; Anti-
corruption
HRENERT3 HEREEREIRENRESHEI - HR MG RES
RES
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HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Section Pages

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)

TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREE 8-} EED/N

Community

#HE

B8: Community Investment

B8 : HERE

General Disclosure Community Investment 54

—RIKE HEKRE

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment 54
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

B 8 & I B8 EIEREE (WHE  REFH  HIF HRRE
kooRE - XE - BEF) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the  Community Investment 54
focus area.

B 8 A RIEEB8.2 EEIHBABDAER (M EHEHE) - HRIRE
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. The board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties. It is in the interest

of the shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to

operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-

regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with a
clear definition of accountability of directors and management. The
Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge,

that the Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") as set out in C3 to the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 March 2025, except for the following deviations:

(i)

(ii)

The code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code requires that
the independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Some directors were unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
30 September 2024 due to other important engagement.

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since Ms. Lin Yudan resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 12 July 2021, nobody has been
appointed. The executive Board which includes all executive
directors, investment manager and senior management
have been delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day operations of the Group while
reserving certain key matters for the approval by the Board.
After evaluation of the current situation of the Company
and considering of the board composition, the Board is of
the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests
of the Company at the present stage for such arrangement
as it helps to maintain the continuity of the policies and the
stability of the operations of the Company.

EFEEFAALTRAREEREARRCEREN -
T—EBNREMELXEREE - EFXTEAR
BIIERERBE - LWARZEERLEH

B RMEEBTRERR  RBFALEE
HhHl > WERRTEFTHREEERSE  F86

BRREBEFEAZNG - ARARESFHE
RRARERAN > ARARBE_ZT_AF
ZA=Zt-BLEFERA—BETLETHAM
BRCIFrE A EEATA ([REERTA)

HE AT s BRI L BR S

() DEERTAZTANRXECIOERE
BUFATEZTREMERTESER
HEGMWEEHERSMUCEEFEKE -
EHEERRAE  THRRZBEEARQ
E2TH HOEZREEMERFK
ARELEARANR-_FT_MEALA=F
RRETHRRBEFAE -

(i) TEBARTAUNZFANEXEC21EHTE -
TFEHETRBYE 2 ACEERS + T
FER— ARBRMT - TEEITHRERZ
BESDIEEWMATEAEZT@EH? -

EMRALXETR T -_—F+A+=8
HEARRITHRER%  EAEBEZE -
HTESET (BRE2EHRTES) K
EEBReREEEESEESRERE
KEERRBEAEBAEER  HET
TEEHAEAEEZTEN - KL
ARBRAMRRTEEESSHK  BF
ERAEBHABBLTHBRERTEAR
AREND  REAALTHEEHEFSA
NABRLEEEREEBE -
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(i)  The code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code requires that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the board should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence, the
chairman should invite another member of the committee or
failing this their duly appointed delegate, to attend. These
persons should be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. Some of the committee chairmen were unable
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
30 September 2024 due to other important engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee and Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement; four non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Deng Dongping (Chairman of the Board),
Mr. Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman of the Board), Mr. Ge Zhifu
(Deputy Chairman of the Board) and Ms. Mo Xiuping; and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms.
Chen Shunging and Mr. Ding Jiasheng.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, is collectively responsible for promoting its success
by directing and supervising its affairs and oversees the Group's
businesses, investment and strategic decisions and performance.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company. The executive Board, investment manager and
senior management have been delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day operations of
the Group while reserving certain key matters for the approval
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these
Board committees are set out in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board. The biographical information of the existing
Directors is set out on pages 11 to 15 under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition (continued)

Newly appointed directors of the Company would receive a
comprehensive and formal induction on appointment. Subsequently
they would receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and business and are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Exchange
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
issuer’s business and governance policies.

Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating
overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures the effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance
with good corporate governance practices and encourages and
facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The
Chairmen also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner with the
assistance of the company secretary.

The respective roles and responsibilities of Mr. Deng Dongping as
Chairman of the Company under the memorandum of continuance
and bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules
(including the Corporate Governance Code). Bye-law 95 of the Bye-
laws stipulates for the chairman of the Company to preside as the
chairman at every general meeting of the Company. Paragraph
C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code sets out certain roles and
responsibilities of the chairman of the Company with respect to the
Company's corporate governance matters.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group’s business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations.
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BUR °
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RTAEEARN  URBDEREEFR
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SEE RCEBKIRH  RERAE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of three independent non-executive Directors and each of them
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As one of the main pillars of good corporate governance, boards
are expected to have a suitable number of non-executive directors
("NEDs") including independent non-executive directors, and with
the right skills. The term of appointment of NED includes:

(i) The process by which any new director, including a NED, can
be appointed will be governed by the Company's articles
of association. The board may be able to appoint a NED,
this need shareholder approval at the next annual general
meeting.

(i) The letter of appointment confirms the initial term of the
NED’s appointment, considering that the articles require
directors to retire by rotation and stand for re-election. The
letter also makes it clear that either the company or the NED
may terminate the appointment early by giving the other
party one (1) month notice in advance or payment of one (1)
month’s remuneration in lieu of such notice.

(i) A NED is subject to the same general legal duties as an
executive director.

(iv)  Conflicts provisions in the appointment letter was balanced
carefully with the company's articles. The NED is required to
be absented from board discussions which present, or may
present, a conflict of interest. Alternatively, the NED can
attend the meeting and only be prevented from voting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

BE=g ()
Exge=

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings duringtheyear BEZZ_-_HAF=-A=+—HAILFE r §&F

ended 31 March 2025 was as follows:

EREFEERZ 2HFCENT ¢

Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Director BEEnR HERITEBHA
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZEEE 7/15
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement PR IR M 5 A 15/15
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Han Zhenghai (Joint Chairman of the Board and ﬁé‘fh?if‘ﬁi (BEFCHEEREIR 5/14
resigned on 12 December 2024) —E-mFEF=A + H & E)
Mr. Deng Dongping (Joint Chairman of the Board %Bizﬁf‘ﬁi (BEEHEFEIR 14/15
and appointed as Chairman of the Board on —E-pFEF=A 7L HEZTR
12 December 2024) EEeTE)
Mr. Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman of the Board) KAREE (EFESFHFE) 1/15
Mr. Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman of the Board) BHREE (EFESFHFE) 7/15
Mr. Lyu Ping (deceased on 13 October 2024) BEEE(RZFE-WFF+HAT=H 3/9
FFtr)
Ms. Mo Xiuping EFEFLT 6/15
Independent non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024) BXLt+(R-ZFE-—mWE+—-A+1H 9/15
BFIE)
Mr. Shi Zhu ARk E 12/15
Ms. Chen Shunging PR IEE 20 £ 12/15
Mr. Ding Jiasheng TEERE 14/15
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the “Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2024 to 31
March 2025, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary Mr. Wong Shiu Wah Williamson is a service
provider. He fulfill the requirement under rules 3.28 and 3.29 of
the Listing Rules. The company secretary report to the Chairman
and support the Board, ensure good information flow within the
Board and Board policy and procedures are followed; advise the
Board on governance matters, facilitate induction and, monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors. He
has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the review period.

INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the Directors and
officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all directors in
advance before the intended date of a meeting. The management
has the obligation to supply the Board and the various Board
committees with adequate information in a timely manner to
enable the members to make informed decisions. Each Director
has separate and independent access to the Group's senior
management to acquire more information than is volunteered by
management and to make further enquiries if necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms. Chen Shunging
and Mr. Ding Jiasheng, and is chaired by Ms. Chen Shunging.
The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s
financial reporting system and internal control procedures; making
recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal of
the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors; and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim
and annual reports and the financial statements of the Group. The
terms of reference are available on the Company's website.

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2025 was as follows:

EREEE

ERLZESR-RBUFNTES (AERE
RIEBFL LR TEALRE) AKX - XYHEKRIE
BRIEEER - ERZEEEEHRIENT
MAEH ERZBE@IZAEBEEARA
ZHBERBEGLAMBEZERERF  REER
BRI REZBEmPE =S RMER AR E

SRR BEM MR ETRGER R BEBEX
ZEzH TR EBBELEMER  RERHA

SEFPHULFERSARMBRE - BESR
ERARRMEUEATHER -

BE_ZT_RAF=A=Z=+—HLEFE - &K
BHFEERZESE@RCHUT ¢

Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Directors EEnE HERITEEHA

Ms. Chen Shunging (Chairladly) BRIEE 22+ (£ /E) 3/3

Ms. Mo Li R+t 3/3
(resigned on 19 December 2024) (R=ZFZmFEA=H+/1LHEE)

Mr. Shi Zhu AL E 3/3

Mr. Ding Jiasheng TEERE 0/0

(appointed on 19 December 2024)

(RZFZmFA+ A+ HEEE)

Annual Report £F #f 2025 69



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TREBRSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Deng Dongping, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms. Chen Shunging and Mr. Ding
Jiasheng, and is chaired by Mr. Ding Jiasheng. The Remuneration
Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company'’s remuneration policy for Directors and
senior management, and overseeing the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved
the Group's policy for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive Directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration
package for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are
assessed based on a performance related basis.

The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2025 was as follows:

Name of Directors

EsHR

%ﬁ@ﬂ%é%

FHNZE e R FATESM=2BIUIF
%ﬂ§$(%$$%i AERE WE%
TERTEERE) AR YATEERE
%Ezfotwézﬁigﬁéﬁ$ﬁﬂi
FreREREZFMBRRAESSRHER
O YERRTESARREREEZH M
B HBESERARRABUEAIHERN -

Miﬁae%ﬁ&%ﬁmﬁl%$&
aﬁF T c HTMEZEER %ﬁﬁm%
E2RE 1%%%%“%£WLm”TZ
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ZﬁMﬁLOMﬂ
EECTMNFBRERANBHRERW T4 E -
$Elﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%A“%ﬁZ%Mﬁ%o
FHE; N INF R S A FERE R IR A E EE TR -

BE-_FT-_AF=-A=+—"HLFE BK
BEHFEFMEZES@RLHLT ¢

Number of meetings
attended/held
HiE BITEERE

Ms. Mo Li (Chairladly)

(resigned on 19 December 2024)
Mr. Ding Jiasheng (Chairman)

(appointed on 19 December 2024)
Mr. Han Zhenghai

(resigned on 12 December 2024)

BIE LA

Mr. Shi Zhu AtEEE
Ms. Chen Shunging PR IE)E 20 4
Mr. Deng Dongping BTk A

(appointed on 12 December 2024)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms. Chen Shunging and
Mr. Ding Jiasheng as well as the Chairman of the Board and non-
executive Director Mr. Deng Dongping, and is chaired by Mr. Deng
Dongping. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group's corporate strategy. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2025 was as follows:

REEESE

RAZEEA-BBEUFNTES (AERE
RIBFZ LR TEELELE) AREEGEFER
FHRTEEBRTEEEAKR  YABRTE
ERETFE  REZESTIZBREREER
NEFSHEB  ABRMAK  tHREFEZ
FHEZBRAPREERL  UEAAKELE
REE - HRBEENAR MM AIHER -

BE_ZT_AF=-A=+—"BHLFE 8K
EHFREZEEEHTHLT

Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Directors EspR HE BOTEREEAE

Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) BIESEE(FE) 0/1
(resigned on 12 December 2024) (R-_ZF—pmFE+ - A+ —HET)

Mr. Deng Dongping (Chairman) R EE(FE) 1/
(appointed on 12 December 2024) (R-ZFB-mF+—H+-HEZF)

Ms. Mo Li R+ 2/2
(resigned on 19 December 2024) (R=ZFZmFEA=H+/1LHEE)

Mr. Shi Zhu AL E 2/2

Ms. Chen Shunging BRIIE)E 20 4 2/2

Mr. Ding Jiasheng TEERE 0/0
(appointed on 19 December 2024) (R-ZFB-_mFE+—H+/LAEZE)
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are required to support the execution of its
business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o Character and integrity;

o Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, and the ability
to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes;

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

o For independent non-executive directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

J Ability to develop a good working relationship with other
Board members and contribute to the Board's working
relationship with senior management of the Company;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Committee for achieving diversity on the

Board; and

o Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company's
business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking
into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the corporate governance report,
on the Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of this policy.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board
members as of the date of this annual report:

EEERESTIEER
ARRIEERBUREFEFTEAEBSZ TN
Ex BRETRR) MR - F& - X1t
RHBEESREELER -

—EEEZTENEESREBRLEZAES
Rikge - HERTEER  BF - Bk
MR REMBERESFI T HMER - RAEHE
EFZeEnNREASR BERLANE
2 -MBEFEREZED - HUARAKES

RRA - XEEZ T (BREMERZ T -
REZEEEFEIHRLAAEREETES

EZLIEMAGFEER  YERFAEFER
MZEAERR - RBZEBEEHREBEFNDE
XEARBRENERESTEN S LLEREMNA
Ko ARERABRZHIT -

TRE-FPHBEBEAFHRAHEEENXE
M % AL

Gender Age Group Area
% Bl F 45l & i
China
Male  Female 20to 50 50to 70 HKSAR Mainland
BB 5
Name of Director ESnA ) ZMH 20E50m%50FE708 THE HEAM
Chan Cheong Yee bR E & v/ v/ v
Chan Yiu Pun Clement PR 12 2 4 v v
Deng Dongping (Chairman) BE¥ (/&) 4 v v
Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman)  &y648 (Bl £ /&) 4 4 v
Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman) BN (BIEE) 4 v v
Mo Xiuping EF 4 4 v
Ding Jiasheng THEE v v v
Shi Zhu atE v v v
Chen Shunging B JIE 4 4 4
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

EREEEES

The Risk Management Committee consists of the executive EBREEBZEEHNTESTHREETEER=
Director Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and three independent non- HBR Y EHTES (AELE - WIBEE LT
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms. Chen Shungingand R TES%4) HK - WHERE R L EEE
Mr. Ding Jiasheng, and is chaired by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The EJF - BREEZE ST EBE AR - &
primary function of the Risk Management Committee is to review, % « EERZEHEFKE - UHFT REHER
monitor, manage and control the existing investments, developing BREERREEZREREEMNEREE

and reviewing the risk management policy and monitoring the

effective running of the risk management.

The attendance of each member at Risk Management Committee #HZE-ZZ-_AF=ZA=Z+—HIFE + K
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2025 was as follows: BEHFRAREBZESEERCHOT :
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Directors EEpR HERITEEHA
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman) MERTE(EE) 11
Ms. Mo Li (resigned on 19 December 2024) BNzt (R=_ZF-—mFE+=-A+1H 1/1
)
Mr. Shi Zhu AtELLE 1/1
Ms. Chen Shunging BRJIE)E 2+ 1/
Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 19 December TEERE (RZF-_mF+ZH+N 0/0
2024) HEZT)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding
their responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 80 to 87 of this
Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness, is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal control system to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the assets of the Group. Procedures have been designed
to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to
ensure the sufficient allocation of resources and manpower and
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and
to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules and regulations.
The procedures provide a reasonable but not absolute assurance
and prevention of material untrue statements or losses, as well
as management on the interruption of the Group’s management
system and risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's
objectives.

The management of the Group has conducted a review on the
Group's internal control and risk management system for the
year ended 31 March 2025 with no material weakness found. The
management will continue to improve and strengthen its control
in order to enhance the corporate governance and safeguard the
interest of its shareholders.

The Company conducted an annual review for the need of setting
up an internal audit department. Given the Company’s simple
operating structure, it was decided by the Board that the Board be
directly responsible for the internal control system of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance, emphasizing accountability and high degree of
transparency which enable our stakeholder to have trust and faith
in the Company to take care of their needs and to fulfill its social
responsibility. The Company has devised a Whistleblowing Policy
(the "Policy”) so that employees of the Company as well as relevant
third parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, etc., who deal with the
Company (“Third Parties”)) can raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related to
the Company The Company also ensures that proper arrangements
are in place for the fair and independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Whistleblowing matters may include but are not confined to: (i)
Breach of legal or regulatory requirements; (ii) Criminal offenses,
breach of civil law and miscarriage of justice; (iii) Malpractice,
impropriety or fraud relating to internal controls, accounting,
auditing and financial matters; (iv) Violation of rules of conducts
applicable within the Company or those of the Group; (v) Bribery or
corruption; and/or (vi) Deliberate concealment of any of the above.

The Company will make every effort to keep all whistleblowing
reports and identities of employees and/or Third Parties who have
made reports confidential.

In addition, having discovered any suspicious behavior, employees
could report to the relevant business department, or the executive
directors or management of the Company. The Company provides
anonymous reporting channels in case of corruption or deception.

In general, the whistle-blower should made their reports to the
chairman of the board of directors ("Board”) of the Company in
writing by post in a sealed envelope clearly marked “To be opened
by addressee only” at

Chairman of the board of directors

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited

Unit 1701, 17/F., Wai Fung Plaza, 664 Nathan Road, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

A report may also be submitted to the chairman of the Board via
the following email address: chairman@chinainvestment.com.hk, or
directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company via
the following email address: whistleblower@chinainvestment.com.hk
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company’s auditor, Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, for audit service of
the year ended 31 March 2025 is HK$500,000 and there is no non-
audit service provided during the year ended 31 March 2025.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of any unpublished
inside information of the Company or its securities.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the “Candidate”) other than a Director of
the Company for election as a director at a general meeting by
lodging the following documents at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong (Unit 1701, 17/F., Wai Fung Plaza, 664
Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong) for the attention of
the company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for
election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director (continued)

The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have
given to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meetings provide a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company’s website,
http://www.00204.com.hk, and on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, (http://www.hkex.com.hk).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively
enhanced its corporate transparency and communications with
its shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments.
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SLIR G 3t ERAT A MR 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAPITAL REALM
FINANCIAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capital
Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 88 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
“Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERNMNEEEARERSHE

Fair value measurement of unlisted financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"):
BAFEFAEEZERE ([RATEFATERERE])
WIELTHBHEE

We identified the fair value measurement of unlisted o
financial assets at FVTPL as a key audit matter due to

the inherent level of complex and subjective judgements
required and estimation uncertainty involved in
determining their fair values.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
unlisted financial assets at FVTPL included:
BMEEATEFACEREENELITHBEE
WEEETORFBE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the valuer's scope of work and
their terms of engagement;

AR EMEERE RO REHN L TH
EERE T E RGN

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuer's
valuation approaches to assess if they meet
the requirements of the HKFRS Accounting
Standards and industry norms;
TAEEEMZHERARTEE - UrIHAER
BENETEMBREEGAERRITRED
B E -
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter
HREREE

HRELER (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELNMNEEBRERSER

The Group's unlisted equity securities classified as
FVTPL are stated at their fair values of approximately
HK$171 million, at 31 March 2025, with a fair value loss
on FVTPL of approximately HK$413,000, recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year then ended
as disclosed in note 19(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair values were assessed by the
management based on valuations performed by an
independent valuer engaged by the Group.
EEERSPBEREBEATESAEEREENIE LTR
ABFR _BE_HAEF=ZA=ZT—ARQATFEMNMTIES
BRIER  BEZRALEFERAFEAACERERER
QT EERELN413000F TREEER REMEEK
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17T
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Challenging the reasonableness of the
key assumptions and inputs adopted and
appropriateness of valuation models applied
based on available market data and our
knowledge of the investees and their industry
and whether the assumptions, inputs and
methodologies are consistent with those used in
prior year;
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Reviewing supporting documentation and
evidence for the significant judgements and
estimates of the valuations and the key inputs
used in the valuations; and
ERHENERAE G ARGEMAEE
BWABRBOIREXHERER &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELEER

HRELER (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERUNMNEEEARERSE

Impairment assessment of financial assets at amortised
cost:

RBHEKATHEZMBEERBENG

We identified impairment assessment of financial assets
as a key audit matter because the Group has promissory
notes with the net carrying amounts of approximately HK$26
million, as at 31 March 2025 which accounted for 7% of the
Group's total assets.
BHMBNMBEEERETERBREZETE - RE
2 BREER-_ZF-_AF=-A=t-HARLEREEF
BAR2BEEBT 6 EXEREETS °

The assessment of impairment of financial assets at
amortised cost under the expected credit loss model ("ECL")
is considered to be a key audit matter as it requires the
application of judgement to reflect information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions,
and use of subjective assumptions by the management.
EHEEBERN ([FHEEER ) TREHKAG
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The ECL was assessed by the management with reference
to valuations performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the Group and other information of the assets.
BHEEFERERESZ2EZ ESEZRENBIMERM
ETHREREENHEMERETTGE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of financial assets at amortised cost included:
BMUREEK AT EZH B EERBENGETH
BrFeiE:

J Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessment of financial assets at
amortised cost is estimated by the management;
THREEBNMMMANZBEENATAEZYBE
B R B FT {4 B BE B2 4% I

o Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group's policy for calculating ECLs to consider
consistency of application;

ER kL ESEEAEENEERBEREN
JERAEERR -3 :

o Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the valuer;

AP EMEEE - BEIE - Bk

o Evaluating the techniques and methodologies
in the ECLs model against the requirements of
HKFRS 9;
TEBRBEEEMBREENFEIRRTNED
EEEBEERA MR R AE

o Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
credit loss allowance on financial assets at
amortised cost;
TEEEEETHRBERANABECMBEE
MEEBERBzEERAHOSEM

o Testing the key data sources applied in the ECLs
computation on a sample basis by checking to the
supporting information and external data sources,
as applicable; and
FRMEXHENRINBEE IR (MER) -
mEAHEREESRFETERN T ZEE
TR R

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECLs.
BEEREEBEFTEERIKE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBMBES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYZHMBES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin

Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
nERmEkEtEZERSER

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_®HEF —T-F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & THERT FET
Revenue Wiz 7 — —
Other income Hip g A 7 10,478 8,082
Net losses on financial assets BATEFATERZREZ
at fair value through profit or loss MBEEZEETE (66,519) (787)
Impairment losses under the expected HHEEEEEX TRERE
credit loss model, net of reversal Mk AL 8 (72,782) (1,619)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B2 A2 e 26 — 344
Administrative and other expenses TEREEMFEY (24,210) (32,482)
Finance costs B RSB R 9 (2,767) (2,265)
Loss before income tax expense BrATE R A A EE 10 (155,800) (28,727)
Income tax expense PSR 11 = —
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR AHEE AELEAFTEEE
the Company (155,800) (28,727)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) ﬂﬁ%ﬁlﬂlﬁ"&/ M)
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit or T2 EH N EEEZCIHEE ¢
loss:
— Change in fair value of financial —BATEAEEGZE
assets at fair value through other HQE@EZW%EEZ
comprehensive income NEEEZH — (11,798)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently & At EH D EEER 2
to profit or loss: AE
— Exchange differences on translation — BEREME AR ®REK
of financial statements of PRC EEZERESR
subsidiaries 267 (1,553)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) AEEEM2EKES,/ (FX)
for the year, net of tax HMkHIA 267 (13,351)
Total comprehensive expense for the year, AKX RIHEA ARG
attributable to owners of the Company AEETERXEE (155,533) (42,078)
Loss per share BRESR 13
— Basic (HK cent per share) — ER(FREI) (16.75) 4.27)
— Diluted (HK cent per share) — 58 (50BN (16.75) (4.27)
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e M BARR R

Asat31March2025 R — 2 -4 =A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-EF —EWF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
k=S FAER FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HEMRE 15 776 1,369
Financial assets at fair value through BROVEAFANERRREZ
profit or loss BB AEE 19 171,082 157,714
171,858 159,083
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEG AR M2 EWE
other comprehensive income BREZHBEE 18 — 36,506
Financial assets at fair value through Tﬁz&?f AT EREE L
profit or loss %A E 19 179,012 103,068
Deposits paid and other receivables B RE & EH R 20 793 122,531
Other financial assets at amortised cost R E AT E 2 HA Eﬁfﬁz,\iz 17 25,764 83,347
Cash and cash equivalents RehBLFEYD 21 1,662 16,166
207,231 361,618
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accrued charges H A e RIBREFE R 22 78,933 142,576
Other borrowings, secured Hibfg & - B4 23 37,808 =
116,741 142,576
Net current assets RBEEZE 90,490 219,042
Net assets BEESE 262,348 378,125
EQUITY E
Equity attributable to owners of EARBEAEGES
the Company
Share capital [N 24 103,772 86,478
Reserves 8 158,576 291,647
Total equity T BsE 262,348 378,125

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 183 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30
June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Deng Dongping
BRT

Director

EF

Chan Yiu Pun Clement

BR HE M2
Director

EF

FREIBANGAUBREMEFIN -
SEENASTEREREMTE - B
TREFE
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholder's  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve osses Total
k& R0EE  BRRIE REEGERE BRERE  EXEE  2HER EEl

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR Tin Tk TR TR Thn Tin

(note 24) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25)

(W) (WEs)  (Win)  (WiEs)  (WES)  (WED)

At 1 April 2023 RZB-Z¥MA-A 36,039 639,605 10,934 (4.921) 9,436 (3,634) (413,783) 213,676
Loss for the year rEEER — = — — — (28727) (28,727)
Other comprehensive expense A2ERX
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of RERENBARNERREEL
PRC subsidaries EXZE - - - - - (1,553) = (1583)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through  BATEF AELH2EREREL
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") YHBEE ([RATESATEM
PANEREZHBEE]) L
DTERD - - - (1,79 - - - (11,79%)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2ARNAE - — — (11,798) — (1553) (28727) (42,078)
Rightsisue (note 24 {18 (hf z0u) 30 18021 - - - - - 54,060
Rights issue expenses (note 24(i) R ARB sz (s 2ui) = (197) = = = = = (197)
Placing of new shares (note 24{i) REMRH (Hatauin) 14400 79,200 = = = = = 93,600
New shares placement expenses (note 24(i) HREER (o) - (936) = - - = S (936)
Lapse of vested share options BEBERELN - - - (1,161) = 1,161 =
At 31 March 2024 RZB-BE=B=t+-B 86,478 735,693 10,934 (16,719) 8,275 (5,187) (441,349) 318125
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERSBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholder's  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Bx  RBEE  RREE REEMEE BRESE  EXRE  RHER /it

HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TEn TERL TiEn TEn TEn TER

(note 24) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25) (note 25)

(H&24) (H&25) (H&25) (M &25) (Wa25) (B&25)

At 1 April 2024 R-Z-MEMA-R 86,478 735,693 10,934 (16,719) 8,275 (5187) (441,349) 378,125
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - (155,800) (155,800)
Other comprehensive expense A2ERX
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of RERENBARNERREEL

PRC subsidiaries EiZE - - - - - 27 - 27
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2ARYAE = = = = = 27 (155,800) (155,533)
Release on disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI BREERATEHALERZEYA

REZHBEE — — — 16,119 — — (16,719) —

Placing of new shares (note 24() REMRR (Waku) 17,294 23,692 = = = = = 40,986
New shares placement expenses (note 24(i) HRESHT (Bun) - (1,230) - - - - = (1,230)
Lapse of vested share options BEBERELY - - - - (8,275) - 8,275 =
At 31 March 2025 R-B-a§=h=1-A 103,772 758,155 10,934 - = (4,920) (605,593) 262,348
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E"RHEFE —EWF
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
k=S FAER FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REREXBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax expense B P15 i B 2 A 18 (155,800) (28,727)
Adjustments for: T 5‘] EHEHAE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 10 330 185
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BELIREREEBRE
equipment ) 263 —
Net realised loss on disposals of HERAFEAAERERE
financial assets at fair value ([BRTEFAEERE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") Bl)2MBEEZEER
BB 36,659 ==
Bank interest income |ATH B WA 7 9) (80)
Interest income from financial assets at REBEKNANECHHKEEL
amortised cost B WA 7 (10,468) (7,972)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HMEBBZHNERX 9 . 185
Interest expenses on bonds BHEZHERAY 9 2,153 2,080
Interest expenses on borrowings f& R A B X 9 614 ==
Change in fair value of financial assets BRATEFAERGREZ
at FVTPL MBEECNTEEZD 29,860 787
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary b E B A A 2 s - (344)
Impairment loss, net of reversal on HBIRBEHERATEZEM
other financial assets at amortised M EERD ZREEIE
cost 8 75,620 1,212
Impairment loss, net of reversal on MREMReBE 2 REER
deposits paid 8 (2,838) 407
Exchange realignment R 8,068 14,460
Operating loss before working capital EEESRPACRERRE
changes (15,548) (17,807)
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEFACEZERE
CHBEE (197,691) (29,070)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HERRATEFALERE
assets at FVTPL 2 8f f%é%Zﬁﬁ B IA 45,641 =
Decrease in amount due from a & U A% R F TR R,
shareholder — 949
Decrease in deposits paid and other B iRE R H e RIE R
receivables 896 8
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Ht N RIERETER
and accrued charges CRA) /1 (1,618) 3,921
Cash used in operations KEfmERE (168,320) (41,999)
Interest received B U F B 9 14,159
Net cash used in operating activities RELERFHERESTFE (168,311) (27,840)
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REBREREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE
2025 2024
“EZRF —EWF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$ 000
B & THERT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREFHZHAERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EE ¥ % - HiFE k& H — (100)
Purchase of other financial assets at BERBEKATEZEMORS
amortised cost BE (34,449) (95,394)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEGFALEGRREZ
HHEE (11,017) (69,269)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of assets BBWEINBRAINEEE
through acquisition of a subsidiary Bend s - (1,438)
Proceed from disposal of other financial ~ HEZRAFEFATEBZEIEZ
assets at FVTPL B A B 75 A 2 P 5 SR 71,553 —
Proceed from disposal of other financial HERRAFEFATCEMEZE
assets at FVTOCI Bz HtHBEE
FT 1% 3R 36,506 —
Proceed from disposal of other financial ~ Z| B B E LB HM A E 2
assets at amortised cost upon maturity H {th Bt 7% & EE P15 3KIE 20,012 100,352
Deposits paid for acquisition of # 1451 BRENESHES
investments — (129,814)
Deposits refunded for acquisition of BUBEBRENERER 2
investments 59,363 5,403
Loan advanced to a borrower BRBERANER (1,200) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETBHME/ (P ne
investing activities HE 140,768 (190,260)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMEZHZAETRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bonds (EEa3:01 = ?K 83,726 56,600
Proceeds from margin loan RELE Pﬁ (EF Q| 30,994 =
Proceeds from loan SXAE 7?7\ 6,200 =
Repayment of principal portion of bonds EEE% 2 N (73,357) (40,000)
Proceed from deposit received B S M HRIE — 73,617
Repayment of deposit received BEENZES (73,617) =
Net proceeds from issuance of shares upon BZ%E % 7 18 %17k 15 2 FT15 5B
placement of shares F R 39,756 92,664
Net proceeds from rights issue of shares & f% F7 15 5K 18 ¥ &8 — 53,863
Repayment of principal portion of lease ~ EEHEBBEZ AL IS
liabilities . (1,497)
Interest paid on bonds BHR2EMFE (930) (3,240)
Interest paid on lease liabilities MERBZENTE — (185)
Net cash generated from financing MEZDRMEREFH
activities 12,772 231,822
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash HERBREZEY (RD)
equivalents ®FEE (14,771) 13,722
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EX#Z Bz & 267 (1,553)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERBREEEY
beginning of the year 16,166 3,997
Cash and cash equivalents at theend of FREERHESZEEY
the year 1,662 16,166
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash BE&RBESSEYEH DN
equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 1,662 16,166
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

94

GENERAL INFORMATION

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (the
"Company"”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 25 March
1998 and was de-registered on 11 March 2011 and was
registered by way of continuation as an exempted company
in Bermuda on 2 March 2011. The Company’s shares have
been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) with effect from 12 December 2000.
Its registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal office in
Hong Kong is located at Unit 1701, 17/F., Wai Fung Plaza, 664
Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holding for short to long-term capital appreciation
purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted securities.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the current
accounting period of the Group for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

° Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance
Arrangements
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards listed above
in the current year has had no material effect on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
year and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to HKAS 1, the
Group changed its accounting policy for the classification of
borrowings:

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Covenants that the Group is required to
comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, are
considered in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required
to comply with after the reporting period do not affect the
classification at the reporting date.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.

R BB BREENSHE
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ZHERET R BB ERFIRZBITH
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HRRABEGENEIR 2B
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5
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BEEEHREHRERZD12AH - SRER
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R Z A& T RGNS R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective for the current accounting
period. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position:

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after

e Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, 1 January 2026
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

e Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, To be
Sale or Contribution of Assets between determined
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

e Amendments to HKFRS Accounting 1 January 2026

Standards, Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
11

e HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in 1 January 2027
Financial Statements
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL,
which are measured at fair values as explained in the
material accounting policy information set out in note 4
below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional
currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.
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4.

98

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”).

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate.

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value.

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associates

The associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease term or 4 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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4.

100

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Leases

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications.

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2025

4.

EXSTHBERER (@)

(e)

HE

AEEEREBAA
FREHEBARMBRRKRERNLES
ERAEEENMEERE @ EE®ER
EFHEFHREE  EETKOEB
MHEENEER RHEEEE
REBEZHEETERL - A%
EEEBEIHEEBEEERBRN
HEEBADR12(8 B &0 & #RE
REEERHEERE - B%FHE
HEAZHEENFERBERRNZE
AROESTH ©

EREEE
FERAREELZKAREMNREANE
REMBEEBERER  YHREER

BEONEMNENAETAAE - £8
REERHEMANTERAFHERE
HreBEENEGEENE -

AEAE

MERERRBERKBBRE
RENKZRERR - AENK
HRERERE (HRAETES
BB - RN REAE S
FoARBRAAEEZEEER
IE

RAKBH®E  XEEFA/ TG
AFEHEERE : (VEMEEEMN
RBEEBEZFE (VAL ERE
BUARBERZBAEMNZR  Rii)E
¥t 2 5R T E A R MR T ] &= {f sk Al
Ei5 o



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that, at
initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Levels 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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4.

102

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A
trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments.
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4.

104

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Company could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair
value. Dividend income is recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in
OCIl and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“"ECL") on other receivables
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Company in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for other receivables using HKFRS 9
general approach and the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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4.

106

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables, accrued charges, other
borrowings and bonds are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expenses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Revenue recognition
Interest income is accrued on a timely basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future; and
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4.

108

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

Income taxes (continued)

—  those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(0

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

o Property, plant and equipment; and
o Investment in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.
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4.

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(0

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short-term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

(i)  Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the

earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw

the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances
and short-term deposits and highly liquid investments
with maturities of three months or less from the date
of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in
the management of its short-term commitments. For the
purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the Group's cash management are included in
cash and cash equivalents.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(o)

Foreign currency translation

Translation on consolidation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised to profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates at the reporting rate. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(p) Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Company's
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person'’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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5.

114

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of impairment loss recognised in respect
of deposits paid and other receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost

The Group individually assesses the ECL for deposits paid
and other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost. The impairment allowances are based on assumptions
about risk of default and ECL rates. The Group makes its
estimates based on the ageing of its loan balances, debtors’
creditworthiness, historical write-off experience and existing
market condition including forward-looking estimates as at
the reporting date. If the financial condition of its debtors was
to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be
higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise
the basis of making the allowance and its future results would
be affected. The information about the ECL and the Group's
deposits paid and other receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are disclosed in notes 35, 20 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Fair value of unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTPL and unlisted equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTOCI, amounting
to approximately HK$171,082,000 (2024: HK$157,714,000)
and HKS$ nil (2024: HK$36,506,000) respectively, are measured
at fair value hierarchy Level 3, which cannot be derived
from active markets. In the absence of an active market, the
directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for those financial instruments not quoted
in an active market. The fair value measurement valuation
methodologies require the adoption of some assumptions not
supported by observable market prices and rates. Changes
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported
fair values of financial instruments. Further disclosures are
set out in notes 18, 19(c) and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker ("CODM") in order to allocate
resources and assess performance of the segment. For
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the information
reported to the executive directors, who are the CODM,
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance, do not contain profit or loss information of each
business line or geographical area and the executive directors
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole
reported under HKFRS Accounting Standards. Therefore, the
executive directors have determined that the Group has only
one single operating and reportable segment as the Group is
only engaged in investment holding. The executive directors
allocate resources and assess performance on an aggregated
basis. Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant
and equipment (i.e. “specified non-current assets”) by
geographical locations, determined based on physical
location of the assets:

KEDEAAEBRERIUKARE
SRS CEBRES AKX - TIIRE
AEBTEEBRARE ([TEEERK
El)ERHEECHEHRUNE SRS
BREFERBECADEEZRERH
Al e BEZET_RAFL_FT_NF=A
=+T—HLEFE  RERSERKRBE
BmME r MATES (NETELERRK
H)BREZERTRESEBERY St
BZaMkEEER  MATESERE
BMAEBERIEESMFHREERNFEE
BIZ2R s BB ESE - At - $117E
EEETASEEE FEE—KERA
WEDE  RAALAEBENREREE
R o HITEFREFEEDRERKT
mERR - At - ME2VKEHHEE
B e

TERRERREEERUEMETHIEN
BN ZAEBERANERDEE (B
EYWE BEERRE B HEFRRD
BE])) 2ohmT :

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENMREFZWE REFRBDEE
2025 2024 2025 2024

—E_RE —_E_NF ZB-_REFE —_ZET_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FETT FER FAET

Hong Kong (place of domicile)

{

e

— — 776 1,369
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

7. WEKREMEA

2025 2024

—E_-_RE —E-_MF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Revenue W &5 - -

Other income Ha g A

Bank interest income R1T A B U A 9 80
Interest income from the other financial WEHEK AT E 2 HM T

assets at amortised cost BEMNFBRA 10,468 7,972

Others Hib 1 30

Total revenue and other income g 25 B H b U A 42 %8 10,478 8,082

No other source of income contributed to the Group's
revenue for both 2025 and 2024.

TERAFR T _NFIEEMRKA
REAERNEEBERKZE -

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE ECL MODEL, 8. FHEEEEEXTHESE &

NET OF REVERSAL 3]
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Impairment losses, (net of reversal) on: LTEEZRERERE
(R Em)

Other financial assets at amortised cost BEHEK AT E 2 HMET B
(note (i) EE (MFEG) 75,620 1,212
Deposits paid (note (ii)) B s (M) (2,838) 407
72,782 1,619

116

Notes:

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2025, balance included reversal of
impairment losses on promissory notes classified as other financial
assets at amortised cost of approximately HK$12,446,000 (2024:
HK$11,234,000).

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2025, balance included reversal of

impairment losses on deposits paid for potential investment of
approximately HK$2,838,000 (2024: HK$2,431,000).
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9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. BABRA
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-ME
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENAERX = 185

Interest expenses on other HimEE (BEEM) OF L

borrowings, secured X 614 —
Interest expenses on bonds BHFEMFERX 2,153 2,080
2,767 2,265

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRATSHBIZ AT 1B
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the BRETEHAIAEBLENER T SEE
following: HIER -
2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-UFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Staff costs 8 T KA

Salaries e 1,625 4,908

Provident fund contributions BEEHN — 8
Total staff costs excluding directors’ BETIRARE (TBEEEH

remunerations (note 14) %) (F3E14) 1,625 4,916
Auditor’s remuneration % EEM BN 500 540
Depreciation of property, plant and mME - BMERRHEITE

equipment 330 185
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) EEME (MHiE14)

— Fees — e 1,806 1,860
Investment manager's fee REKEER 244 480
Short-term leases EEE 2,076 3,815
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 5,561 3,423
Net exchange losses [E X B8 55 2,660 13,124
Impairment of property, plant and ME - BERERBRE*

equipment* 263 —

* Amount included in “administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

* REFTAGREBRREREMEE BRI (17
BREAMAZ] -
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11.

118

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Bill 2017,
profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
of a qualifying corporation in the Group is lowered to 8.25%
with the excess assessable profits continue to be taxed at
16.5%. Overseas tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense
is required since the Group has no assessable profits either

arising from Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year
(2024: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

11.

P18 ﬁF‘aﬁS‘Z
BRE_ZE—EFHBE (BE]) GHER -
$EIA§%¢%$%Mmﬂﬁﬁ§%
TR RS EGEHAEE8.25% © B
B FE R R 5 B BN A2 4B 12 16.5% B R BN B
H o BHNHBIEEBEREERBERAME
HE c R AEERAFETERASR
BRHEMEAERZERE G - WH
BAELSEHRAEYBEBE (DTN F
/) o

REFEF fREﬂS‘ZEﬁ?—?/m\TE s N HE MR

loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement EREZXRARAEHAXZAER 2 HE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: UM
2025 2024
ZEZHE T _WF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Loss before income tax expense FRFTS M Al E 18 (155,800) (28,727)
Tax calculated at the applicable REREAEMEFEZHIE
statutory tax rates (25,707) (4,740)
Tax effects of income not taxable BERBBRA BB ZE (1,727) (1,315)
Tax effects of expenses not deductible AAHRFAX 2 BT E 11,779 3,645
Tax effects of tax losses not recognised AERBTEEBE G E 3,913 3,493
Tax effects of deductible temporary AERATENEREZEZ
differences not recognised MEgeE 11,742 ==
Tax effects of utilisation of unrecognised ) Fi 7k T 3R 7] 3] 0 & I = &8
deductible temporary differences 2GR — (1,083)
Income tax expense FTIS A — —

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$285,806,000 (2024: approximately
HK$262,091,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. The tax losses are
subject to the final assessment of Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences in respect of impairment losses
under the ECL model, net of reversal of approximately
HK$72,782,000 (2024: HK$1,619,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any EETEBMBE_T_0F

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

—t+—BLEFERMNEMAEE
ZPOF ) o

13. BREE

attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is BEERNIRATEEE

based on the following data:

A

&=

=

(

ARAEBEZRAAREERELRR

2025 2024
ZBEC-RHF —E-WF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss & #E
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A &t & & /% & A& & #5855
the Company for the purposes of basic B2ARRRHEE AEIER
and diluted loss per share FEEE (155,800) (28,727)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share

Bt 8 B
AR ESRERNNEEE
18 2 & BB N HE T 15 B

930,175,252 672,362,605

Note: B EE -
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, diluted loss per share was HE T -_AFRER-_Z-_WNF=A=+—81
the same as the basic loss per share as the potential ordinary shares FE - ARAFEETEINAKRRD A ERE X
represented by the Company'’s share options outstanding during the year THELERREERENBERAAFREEAR -
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share. BREEERATREKNBIEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

120

(a)

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622@) are as follows:

14, EERFETHRAEZEHE

(a)

EEMS
BEFB QRGN (F6228) 5383
EERAR (WEEEFNFER) R
Bl (F622GE) TUBBEZ KNFE
EEMEOT

2025 2024
—ZE_-EfF T INF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Fees Ziahc A
Executive directors WITES 720 720
Non-executive directors FEHITES 640 718
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITE S 446 422
1,806 1,860

No directors had waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2024: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERFIETHAEZME (2)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM< (&)

BEffkEM2E (ZFT_MF 13
R)EEZHEWT

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 (2024:
13) directors are as follows:

2025 —EC-HE
Employer's
Salaries  contribution
and other  to pension
Fees benefit scheme Total
ek BiNeHE
e  HeEN  EIHR @t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TER TER TER TER
Executive director: HITES .
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 — — 360
Chan You Pun Clement R 360 = = 360
Non-executive directors FHTES:
Deng Dongping HRY 120 — 120
Han Zhenghai (note (i) BIEE () 90 = 90
Zhu Zhikun Rl 120 - 120
Ge Zhifu EAR 120 - - 120
Lyu Ping (note (i) a ¥ (K& i) 70 - - 70
Mo Xiuping EAE 120 - - 120
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHMTES:
Chen Shunging RIEF 120 - - 120
Mo Li (note (iii) B (M3 (i)) 86 - - 86
Shi Zhu At 120 — — 120
Ding Jiasheng T 120 - - 120
Total @i 1,806 = = 1,806
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14, EERFETHRAEBZHE (&)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEME (&)
2024 gl 11
Employer's
Salaries  contribution
and other o pension
Fees benefit scheme Total
ek BALHE
e  HEEN  EIER @t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FEL FEL FEL FhEL
Executive director: BTES:
Chan Cheong Yee REZ 360 = = 360
Chan You Pun Clement BREW 360 = = 360
Non-executive directors FHTES:
Deng Dongping HEY 120 - - 120
Han Zhenghai 8IS 120 — — 120
Liu Lihan (note (iv)) B3 E (MEGv) 60 - - 60
Zhu Zhikun et 120 - - 120
Ge Zhifu (note (vi) BAR (M (vi) 58 - - 58
Lyu Ping a¥ 120 = = 120
Mo Xiuping BEE% 120 — — 120
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHMES:
Chen Shunging BIEE 120 — — 120
Mo Li LR 120 - - 120
Shi Zhu A 120 — — 120
Ding Jiasheng (note (v)) THE (FEwy) 62 — — 62
Total @t 1,860 = = 1,860

The number of directors whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

MENFUATHEEZEEARET :

2025 2024
—EBE-FRE —E-F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,0007% 7T 12 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

Mr. Han Zhenghai resigned as a non-executive director of
the board on 12 December 2024.

Mr. Lyu Ping deceased on 13 October 2024.
Ms. Mo Li resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the board on 19 December 2024.

Mr. Liu Lihan resigned as a non-executive director of the
board on 6 October 2023.

Mr. Ding Jiahseng has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 26 September 2023.

Mr. Ge Zhifu has been appointed as a non-executive director
of the board on 6 October 2023.

14, EERFETHRAEBZHE (&)

(a) EBME (&)

o3 -

@

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

BESXAEN_Z_HWE+_-A
+_BHBEITEESERTES -

BYAEALER B -_WNE+A+=H
Bt o

REFAiZtR-_TZ-_WFE+ZA+N
ARTEEEBUFATES -

BN EAER T _=F+AKXA
BEEEEFNTES -

TEEAEEER=-_ZFE=_=ZFNA
i+AE%KEﬁ§$§ v
TEE -

BARAEER T -_=%+AXA
BZEIREFTSHNTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERFIETHAEZME (2)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2024: nil) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 14(a)
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2024:
five) highest paid individuals were as follows:

(b)

IEGEEHFALTZHE
AEBhfussHFMALH - &
ME(ZTE_MF: &) SKARQF
B HFMO R EXHE14E@ET
B-Efp=%2(ZT-_@mF : 1%)
RRHFALTZHMEWT

2025 2024

—E-HEF T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE FHET

Basic salaries and other benefits HEAEH 2 R EMEF 869 2,954
Contributions to retirement benefit ROKE FEH 84 R

scheme — _

869 2,954

The emoluments of the three (2024: five) individuals with

ZH(ZE-_UF:RB) &=

highest emoluments are within the following band: ATZMENFUTEHE :
2025 2024
—E_-ERE ZEZAF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T 3 )

There was no arrangement under which any of the
directors or the highest paid employees had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - WMERKE

Leasehold  Furniture and Motor Computer
improvements  equipment vehicle  equipment Total
HENEEE GARRE RE ElRE st
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TEL TER TEL TER TEL
At 1 April 2023 A-B-ZFMA-H
Cost A 149 2 — — 175
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (89) = = = (89)
Accumulated impairment ZEtRE (60) = = = (60)
Net carrying amount FREFE = 2 = = 26
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-B-_ME=A=t+-AL
FE
Opening net carrying amount 41 R EFE - 26 - - 26
Addition nE — — — 100 100
Acquisition of assets through ARKENBAAKEEE
acquisition of a subsidiary = = 1,428 == 1,428
Depreciation & = 4 (153) (28) (185)
Closing net carrying amount HREREFE = 2 1,275 72 1,369
At 31 March 2024 and RZB-ME=A=+-HER
1 April 2024 “E-_MEMA-H
Cost KA 149 26 1,428 100 1,703
Accumulated depreciation Zithg (89) (4 (153) (28) (274)
Accumulated impairment 2itEE (60) — - - (60)
Net carrying amount ERFE = 2 1,275 72 1,369
Year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-IE=R=+-AHL
EE
Opening net carrying amount SR EFE = 2 1,275 72 1,369
Depreciation ik = 9 (286) (35) (330)
Impairment HE — 13) 213) 37) (263)
Closing net carrying amount HREREFE — = 776 = 776
At 31 March 2025 RZB-HF=A=1-H
Cost A 149 2 1,428 100 1,703
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (89) (13) (439) 63) (604)
Accumulated impairment 2R E (60) (13) 213) (37) (323)
Net carrying amount FREFE = = 776 = 776
Note: o3t
(i) Management identified impairment indicator for subsidiaries of the 0 EEHBUHAEEENELSEBOWELD R

Group that incurred loss for the year and performed impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment that belonged
to the subsidiaries, which mainly represented motor vehicle. The
recoverable amounts of the assets were determined based on fair
values less costs of disposal with reference to observable market
prices of similar assets. As the estimated recoverable amounts of
these assets are lesser than their carrying amounts, impairment loss
of HK$263,000 (2024:nil) is recognised during the year ended 31
March 2025.

HBRRETR  THZEWBRARNY
¥ BELRZE (XEZRAHE) ETRE
Tl BEMA KB SEIERRAFER
HEXRAL 2 ZBUEENAIBRMSE
BETE - ARZEFEEMNGT I KESE
BREEEE  BWRBE-_ZT_RF=AH
=+ — B 1L F [Z 1 R B B /& 263,000 7T
(ZZ-_HF : &) -
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16.

126

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2025 and 31 March 2024 are as follows:

16. RBARZIRE
RZE_RF=A=+—"HERZZ-@Q
FZA=1T—HARRETEHNEB QA HF

BT
Company Place of Share capital/  Proportion of ownership interest held  Principal
incorporation/ Paid up BERELA activities
operation capital 2025 2024
ZECLE “EINE
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
AL AL/ EEHE RE/BERE  HE Mg  BX BE TEER
Global Oasis Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
BEZRBRAT &R 18T REAR
Fu Hao Investment Consulting PRC Nil —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."2
BERAFA(RY) BRRA 2 HHE Z REAR
China Zhongzi Zhiyuan Technology ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
PERERENRBERAT REARBE/ER 50,000% T REZR
China Dingrun Supply Chain Co., Ltd.  BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
TERBHEAERAA EBARBR/ER 50,000% T REAR
Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Hong Kong HK$100 —  100% - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
IRAERERRARDA B 100/ 7 REAR
Guangzhou Dingrun Supply Chain Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
EMNTRBARERERAA BE 100 7T REZR
China Zhongzhixie Emergency Rescue  BVI US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd.
TEPEHESNEERERLT REARESR (B3 REZK
China Creation Investment Group Hong Kong HK$100 —  100% - 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited (formerly know as
"Hong Gaocheng Co., Limited")
TEAEREEEARRAERARN R 1008 7T REAR

(FIRABRABRAR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMBREIZKRE (4#)

Company Place of Share capital/  Proportion of ownership interest held  Principal
incorporation/ Paid up BRRELA activities
operation capital 2025 2024
ZECLE —ZZEE
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
oL AR/ EESE RA/BAREX EE  BE 0 EE Rk TEXH
Shengshi Venture Capital Holding PRC Nil —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."3
BRI RER (RI) BRAA - HE 7 REZR
Fuhao Technology (Guangzhou) PRC Nil - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.!
BEME (BM) ERAR e z REER
China Tianzhi Market Management  BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
PERETELEERERAT  EBERER/EE (E3 REZRK
Skillful Plan Limited Hong Kong HK$100 —  100% - 100%  Investment holding
AEERAA BE 100/ 7 REAR
Good Palace Holdings Limited BVI US$1 —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
FERERAERAA REERES (E3 RERR
Hongkong Hong Xuan Co., Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
EERHAERLA &b 10,0007 7T REZR
Notes: &t -
1. Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. 1. BIFFEEEAMARIEBERE -

2. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2025
was RMB200,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31
March 2025.

3. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2025
was USD50,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31
March 2025.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. YMBARIR-_E-_AE=RA=+—8B%
S5 E BN B A R 200,000,000 © R F
ZHAE=ZA=1T—BYEEHBRALX -

3. ZHBATRR-_ZE_RE=A=+—0#
S5 F A% AN A50,000000%( 7T c R - - A
EFZA=+—ATEBEHEAX -

% %5 B R A R R S A B A
BEIMNAREEELBES -

ERINHARREETRARIEFELRE
BEAREABXNASEEERAREE
REDOARRBMBEAR - RABES
R EMHEB AR ZHBK<F R
RRERER -
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17.

128

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

COST

At 31 March 2025, the other financial assets at amortised
cost included promissory notes held by the Group with
carrying amount of approximately HK$25,764,000 (2024:
HK$83,347,000) which are unsecured, interest bearing,
non-transferrable, non-trading related in nature and issued by
private entities.

17. RBERATEZHMUBEE

M-ZT-_RAF=A=1+—08 - H#HHEKX
A ErHMWU BEEREASERSE
R W E ¥ - BR M B 425,764,000 JT
(Z = — /g 4 : 83,347,000/ 7t) » A&
BH TR To®EzE - FEEHHEE
MEWHFLEEEET -

2025 2024

—EBE-FRE —E-UF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHE T FHET

At amortised cost biog: . &N DN 112,630 95,793
Less: ECL allowance BTEBHEESBERE (86,866) (12,446)
25,764 83,347

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
promissory notes net of allowance for credit losses, based on
the maturity date is as follows:

ARl AT
BEREHKR  AALRE (HEKEES
BEE RENBANKRESTOT

2025 2024

—E_-_RE —E-mE

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FAT FAET

Mature within 1 year 145 A 5 Bf 25,764 83,347
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e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST (continued)

Particulars of the promissory notes classified as other financial
assets at amortised cost held by the Group as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows:

17.

BMERATTECHMMBEE (&)

BRELTRAIFNERENAEEN —
Z_RAER-Z_NE=RA=+—H%#
BREBHEKAFTEZRMYBEEDS TR
ZEARBFHBODN

2025 —EC-RF
Percentage
Place of Net Interest of the total
incorporation/  Amortised carrying Interest  received/  assets of
Name of issuer Operation cost ECL  amount rate receivable the Group
G REEE B/ r&EAR
BRITAEH EENE BERE BE REFE AE EUNE EBIW
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER TEL TER
Guangdong Juhong Technology Industrial PRC 45,329 (34,960) 10,369 6% 3,243 2.74%
Park Co., Ltd.* ("Guangdong Juhong")
(note (i)
EREEHREZRERAA ([ERER]) TE
(B &Ei)
Guangdong Yijushang Information PRC 67,301 (51,906) 15,395 6% 7,225 4.06%
Technology Co. Ltd.* (note i)
ERHPRLERMRBERAT hE
(note (ii))
112,630 (86,866) 25,764
*  For identification purpose only * (2R
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

130

17. BBERATEZEMUMBEE (&)

COST (continued)
2024 —E-NF
Percentage
Place of Net Interest of the total
incorporation/  Amortised carrying Interest  received/  assets of
Name of issuer Operation cost ECL  amount rate receivable the Group
EMsL/ REEE B/ AKELE
BRITAER EENE BHERE BE REFE AxE EWANE EBIW
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT THET
Guangdong Juhong Technology Industrial PRC 30,383 (3,935) 26,448 6% 124 5.08%
Park Co., Ltd.* (note i)
BEERNAELEARAD (W) o
Guangdong Yijushang Information PRC 65,410 (8,511) 56,899 6% 570 10.93%
Technology Co. Ltd.* (note i)
BERHFRLEERRARD e
kD)
95,793 (12,446) 83,347
* for identification purpose only * BB
Notes: Bt o

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes

0]

Guangdong Juhong is a comprehensive investment enterprise
that focuses on property leasing, property management, parking
lot operation, and consulting services, covering commodity
information consulting services, hotel management, catering
management, largescale event organization planning services,
corporate image planning services, conference and exhibition
services, logistics transportation, professional alcohol trading
market investment, supply chain financing, and market services.

Upon maturity of the promissory note of principal amount of
RMB28,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$30,257,000) in
September 2024, Guangdong Juhong has partially repaid the
principal amount of RMB18,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,012,000) and the remaining principal amount of
RMB9,680,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,245,000)
was extended for six months until March 2025. The Group has
further subscribed for promissory note of principal amount of
RMB32,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,449,000) during
the year ended 31 March 2025, which was also matured in March
2025. Upon maturity of all the promissory note in March 2025, both
parties agreed to extend the maturity date of the promissory note
to September 2025.

The promissory note of principal amount of RMB41,680,000
(equivalent to HK$44,582,000) (2024: RMB28,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$30,257,000)) is unsecured, interest bearing at 6% (2024: 6%) per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year of the
end of the reporting period.
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes (continued)

(ii)

Guangdong Yijushang Information Technology Co., Ltd. is based
on high-end IT technology services and focuses on building a high-
tech, efficient, and high-quality professional technical team. The
company is committed to integrating the entire IT resources and
wholeheartedly building the most professional IT service team
in Guangdong Province, providing scientific, accurate, and user-
friendly professional IT technical services.

This promissory note was matured on 6 February 2025. On 6
February 2025, the parties to this promissory note agreed to extend
the maturity date of promissory note to 7 August 2025.

The promissory note of principal amount of RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to HK$64,178,000) (2024: RMB&0,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$64,837,000)) is unsecured, interest bearing at 6% (2024: 6%) per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year of the
end of the reporting period.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B AT

17. BBERATEZEMUMBEE (&)

(%)

BAIT A ES AR ZHRNIER (&)

(ii)

EXRSPBELEEMEERARNILIRESKIT
RMRE - EERTE— &R -
ME - FEOANFEERWEEK - Z2 7
HAORNBEITERNES  2L02NTE
BEREZZEENT REERK - ZHNBHE
- AR E T BAMR o

Tt

ZERAEZBER_Z-_RAF_ABHEH -
R-ZE_RE-_AB > AALEEITHAH
RAESARLERIBHERE T -_AF
NA+EHB -

A & | A E #60,0000005 (# &
64,1780008 L) (ZZEZMWMF: AR
60,000,0007T (8 & 764,837,000/ 7t) ) K
AFHEBEBEEE  FHERAEBN (ZF
TV 6%) - BIHAEE AR ARE BR
1R

i

18. BAVPEFAREMEZEAREEE
ZHBEE

2025 2024
—B-HEF  —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at cost H B3 ERAE#H - KK — 53,225
Accumulated fair value adjustment R AT ERAE = (16,719)
— 36,506

Analysed for reporting purpose as: REEBMNSTOAT -
Non-current JERB — —
Current B — 36,506
— 36,506
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mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  18. RAFEFALEHME2EAKZEE
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) ZHBREE (©)
Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by BEELETHUNFNERBE2AEBER =
the Group as at 31 March 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter TN F =A==+ —HABIFELTRR
21 of Listing Rules were as follows: BHREEFBOT :
Percentage
of effective Accumulated Dividend  Percentage of
interest fair value receivable/  total asset of
Name of investee companies Place of incorporation heldat At cost adjustment  Carrying value received the Group
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
fisER EH0VE El/ *EMBEE
HRENAER ERRIBY BRAMY BHE EE A BHRE ARl
ZRCRE ZRcRE CRcRE CRCRE CRCRE CRopf
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TER TER TER
Qingzhou Jiajiafu Modern Agricultural PRC 7% 29,825 9.413) 20,412 - 392%
Group Co., Ltd.* ("Jiajiafu”) (note (i)
ENRRERRRESEARELALA HE
(TFFE]) (W@
Lanzhou Wole Home Furnishing Service  PRC 30% 23,400 (7,306) 16,094 - 3.09%
Co, Ltd* ("Wole") (notel(ii)
ANEEFERBBRERLT Gl
(T5%]) (W3EG)
53,225 (16,719) 36,506
e For identification purpose only * 12 3% 5l
Notes: M T

132

0]

Jiajiafu was a modern agricultural development enterprise that
integrates green and organic fruit and vegetable cultivation,
processing, and sales, poultry breeding, processing, and sales,
agricultural technology services, farmer credit mutual assistance,
agricultural material distribution and supply, and international
trade.

As at 31 March 2024, the investment in Jiajiafu was measured at fair
value based on Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Jiajiafu was determined by reference to the valuation carried out
by an external independent valuer by using recent transaction with
reference to the consideration paid by an independent third party
for acquiring the Group's indirect equity interests in Jiajiafu in June
2024.

Jiajiafu was disposed to an independent third party by the Group in
June 2024 at a consideration of HK$20,412,000 resulting in release
of investment revaluation reserve of HK$9,413,000.

The decision to dispose of Jiajiafu was made with a view to reduce
the Group's equity price risk and to re-invest in other investment
opportunities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Wole's business focuses on the manufacturing of integrated
cabinets and full house customization, continuously upgrading
the design and improving the intelligent chemical factory that
combines “industrialization” and “informatization”, providing
consumers with beautifully designed, exquisite craftsmanship, and
reliable quality customized home products.

The Group had no significant influence as the Group had no power
to participate in the operating and financial policy decisions of
Wole. The directors had elected to designate this investment in
equity instruments as at FVTOCI on initial recognition as they
believed that this investment was not held for trading and not
expected to be sold in foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2024, the investment in Wole was measured at fair
value based on Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Wole was determined by reference to the valuation carried out by
an external independent valuer by using recent transaction with
reference to the consideration paid by an independent third party
for acquiring the Group's indirect equity interests in Wole in June
2024.

Wole was disposed to an independent third party by the Group in
June 2024 at a consideration of HK$16,094,000 resulting in release
of investment revaluation reserve of HK$7,306,000.

The decision to dispose of Wole was made with a view to reduce
the Group's equity price risk and to re-invest in other investment
opportunities.

18. BEAVPEFAREMMEZEAREEE

Z 8t

B AT

(ii)

BEE (&)
()

REXBAERBERENZEESR - T
B &R LTE T %] 8581
BESHERICIH - REEHERHRS
BX TERE HEUENEHRE
Em o

AEEEESERENGERMBERE
RAUAEBETEREEATEN - EFEE
ENHEREHSILIREREERRAFER
AEEMEMKREREZEEZTER - RRE
ERERBURENIFFHEEE - BBEY
EARRETGHE -

RZZB-_ME=ZA=+—H  RELZK
BRE=RRATVEFEBARFEFE - &
L2 RFEDIRSEINEE L EHER
EHZ5ETOME  A2E_T_WF
NABYE=TWBASEMERBAHE
BRI NOREEE -

ANEBK =T — P94 75 A LA 816,094,000
BLABLE - HAHERYE  BHHBRIE
& & {4 1% 57,306,000/ 7T °

HERENWREEEREAREORES
REBRENREREMRERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. AT A ACTHM 2 EKFSERE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) ZHBREE (©)

The equity investments were not held for trading, the Company had BREREWIEFELE  RUBLEERREER
made an irrecoverable election upon initial recognition of the investments RATAHEERE  REAEMEZERRE 25K
to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in other ENATEEEY

comprehensive income.

The following is the analysis of fair value change of financial assets at UTRRATEFACEM KRR 2
FVTOCI for the year ended 31 March 2024: BEENRBE_ZS_NEF=-A=+—HBLEE
ZRTFEZEHDH -

2024

—FomE

HK$'000

FHET

Unlisted equity securities issued by: AU TAREITZ I EMRAZS

— Jiajiafu — XK= (7,974)

- Wole — R (3,824)

(11,798)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. AT Bt A EEBHEZEE 2K E

PROFIT OR LOSS =
2025 2024
—E_REF —EUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Hong Kong listed equity securities, at BEEITRAZS
market value (note (a)) ZmE (M) 179,012 103,068
Investments in convertible bonds, at fair BERABRKRES -
value (note (b)) ZRFE (HiEb) — —
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at fair MBI ETRAZES
value (note (c)) BRTE (B 171,082 157,714
Equity interests in private equity funds, at R EREES 2 R#E -
fair value (note (d)) BAFE () — —
350,094 260,782
Analysed for reporting purpose as: ABRESERNDMAT
Non-current E 171,082 157,714
Current Vi) 179,012 103,068
350,094 260,782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@) Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows:

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE

E (&)

@ WRELFTRANENEREZAEER
RZEZAFRZFT_MF=H
—t+t—BBBZFELTRARES
HEFBRAT :

2025 —E-RE
Accumulated
unrealised Percentage
Percentage gain/(loss) Dividend of the total
Number of  of interest Market  arisingon  Changein  received/ asset of the
Name of investee companies Notes shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue  receivable Group
EffExY
EEES £ A58
@i g/ AFE BN/  BEE
BRELAAR Wi FERGER Aol Bx 3 (B8 28 EWRE  EOK
HK$'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000
Thn TR TEL  TETL  TEX
Icon Culture Global Company Limited (i) 115,080,000  26.6389% 53,893 58,691 4,798 7,190 — 15.48%
("lcon") ordinary
shares
AAXEEEEEERAA RERR
(TRH])
International Genius Company (i) 7332000 1.3134% 13,859 19,430 5571 (17,797) — 5.13%
("Inl'l Genius") ordinary
shares
REER
China In-tech Limited ] 2008000 43267% 6,118 4,63 (1482) (1,482) - 1.22%
("China In-tech”) ordinary
shares
PEEEHRARAA RERR
(T EEREHE])
Asia Television Holdings Limited (iv) 200,592,000 10.1998% 18,274 16,248 (2,026) (2,026) - 4.29%
("ATV") ordinary
shares
ENERBRERAF ([28]) RERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed (a)
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE

E (#)

BE TTRAUFNEREZAEER
RZE-_RAFR_FT_MOF=A

and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing ST —HBREZFELTRARZS
Rules are as follows: (continued) WEFHBWOT + (&)
2025 —E-RHF ()
Accumulated
unrealised Percentage
Percentage gain/(loss) Dividend ~ of the total
Number of  of interest Market  arisingon  Changein  received/ asset of the
Name of investee companies Notes  shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue  receivable Group
EffEEZ
R RER 158
fisgs k#/ AY@E B/  #EE
HREAREMR i KERAHE BAl B i (F8) 28 REYRE B
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$000
TERL TEx TExL TR TEL
Pinestone Capital Limited () 11775000 22.9386% 2,746 2131 (2615) (2615) - 5.84%
("Pinestone”) ordinary
shares
SREAERAR ([RA]) RERR
Modem Innovative Digital Technology  (v) 106,912,000 2.5946% 76,074 53,456 (22,618) (22,618) - 14.10%
Company Limited ("Modern ordinary
Innovative”) shares
HEHTHMEARAA REER
(IHE8%])
Ocean Star Technology Group (vi) 82,140,000 7.6186% 4775 4107 (668) (668) - 1.08%
Limited ("Ocean Star") ordinary
shares
BRETHREEERAT REER
(lamE=])
Raffles Interior Limited (vil) 5040000 0.5040% 343 33 (30 (30 - 0.08%
("Raffles Interior") ordinary
shares
RE &R
179,012
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e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@) Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE
E (#)

(a)

B ETRUENEFRBE 2 AEE
RZE-_RAFM_ZT_WNF=A
—t+t—BBBZFELTRARES
WEFHBWOT + (&)

2024 —EZWMEF
Accumulated
unrealised Percentage
Percentage gain/(loss) Dividend ~ of the total
Number of ~ of interest Market  arisingon  Changein  received/ asset of the
Name of investee companies Notes  shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue  receivable Group
EffELY
it RER %8
o [ T i/ 0TE BM/  gEE
BRELAAR W FERGBEE B4R RA i (B8 28 RURE AR
HK$'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Ten TR Ten TR TEx
Icon Culture Global Company Limited (i) 42,750,000 19.7917% 29,070 26,078 (2,992) (2.992) - 5.01%
("lcon") ordinary
\ shares
AAXEAEREEARAA RERR
(TR5])
International Genius Company (iil) 9,564,000 1.7132% 13,781 76,990 63,209 53,941 - 14.79%
("Int'l Genius") ordinary
shares
RERR
103,068
Notes: Bt 5
(i) lcon was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 0] KRB —HRERASESQFDAR

exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8500). Its principal activities are
rendering of traditional offline media advertising services,
online media advertising service, and public relations,
marketing campaigns and other services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2024, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of Icon was approximately
RMB17,814,000 (2024: RMB84,647,000) with basic and
diluted loss per share of 6 RMB cents (2024: 38 RMB cents
(restated)). As at 31 December 2024, its audited consolidated
net assets/(liabilities) attributable to owners of lcon was
approximately RMB34,868,000 (2024: (RMB14,303,000)). No
dividend was received by the Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

0]

(ii)

(continued)

The shareholding of the Group in Icon as at 31 March 2025
became over 20% as a result of purchases of additional
shares of Icon during the year. The Group considered Icon
became an associate of the Group on 22 October 2024.
As the Company is listed under Chapter 21 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange,
the Group qualifies as a venture capital organization for
the purposes of HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates and
Joint Ventures. In accordance with paragraph 18 of HKAS
28, the Group has elected to measure its investments in the
associate at fair value through profit or loss in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The election was made
as at the date Icon became an associate of the Group. The
Group's objective of investment in Icon is held for trading.

Int'l Genius was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 33). Its principal activities are
(i) trading of party products and metals and minerals, (ii)
securities brokerage and assets management, advancing
business, credit guarantee and (iii) investment business and
trading of commodities. For the financial year ended 30 June
2024, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Int'l Genius was approximately HK$39,991,000
(2023: HK$38,710,000) with basic and diluted loss per share
of 7.36 HK cents (2023: 7.21 HK cents). As at 30 June 2024,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners
of Int'l Genius was approximately HK$693,411,000 (2023:
HK$142,670,000). No dividend was received by the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE
B (#)

(a)

BIEFTRANFENERBEZAEER
RZE-_RAFR_FT_MOF=A
—t+t—BBBZFELTRARES
WEFHBWOT + (&)

M (&)
0o &)

HREANBINEAXRLNBRG - &
EER_FT-_AF=A=+—8%
K J5h B)F5 % 2 8 1820% o AN K E R
BRIR_Z-_NF+A=-+= E
RAEASENBEEAR - HRARQ
A AR R B 32 BT %Lmﬁw%ma
£ BB B G RER FE285 K H
“”H&Q§£¥W&ﬁﬁ§'$
EEFARREEHEBNER - B
BEB G ERFLRFI8R -
SEDREBRRS %%%ﬁiﬁw
FORLH T AUNRNFEFEERE
“”Tmhé'IﬁAEA°7t
BRAAKABAEEBERREB
B - AEBRRANREBEZA

BEEE -

*}

(i) Int |Genius & —HIIRIEHREHS R
AIEARHASHEFMR TN ERE
ﬁ@ Al HBRORBEEBAERS
FTBERARER L™ (BRH AR :
B) c HEFBEBRONEKEER N
ReBREEES  WBFHFELLER
EEEE BEXL - ERAER:
mﬁﬁiﬁ&ﬁ““% HE—
“MENRAZ+THLETREE
Int | Genius i 5 3 B A JE {1 & %T
o %Emﬁmwmm%m<
— = % : 38,710,0007% JT)
$&%%%%%mﬁﬂw_q_
F 7218 ) c RZTZMEXA
=48 Intl Genius%’ﬁ/\}ghﬁﬁ
WEZIRE B EFEL H693,411,000
I (Z T = = 4 : 142,670,000
L) c AEBMREBEE-_ZT_MNF R
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W B & o
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\II%MI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

140

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

China In-tech was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 464). Its principal activities
are designing, manufacturing and selling electronic hair
care appliances and provision of information technology
system platform development services in PRC. For the
period ended 30 September 2024, the unaudited interim
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of China
In-tech was approximately HK$20,557,000 with basic and
diluted loss per share of 3.939 HK cents. As at 30 September
2024 (unaudited), its consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of China In-tech was approximately HK$11,690,000.
No dividend was received by the Group for the period
ended 30 September 2024.

ATV was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 707). Its principal activities are (i) entertainment
and media services, (i) property and intellectual property
holding, (iii) trading of fabrics, (iv) processing, printing and
sales of finished fabrics, (v) money lending, (vi) securities
investment and (vii) provision of management services. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of ATV was
approximately RMB120,100,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of 8.79 RMB cents. As at 31 December 2024, its
audited consolidated net liabilities attributable to owners
of ATV was approximately RMB429,964,000. No dividend
was received by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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(iii)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

)

(vi)

Pinestone was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 804). Its principal activities are
(i) provision of securities brokerage services, placing and
underwriting services as well as margin financing services
and (i) provision of consultancy services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2024, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of Pinestone was
approximately HK$31,289,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of 7.56 HK cents. As at 31 December 2024, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners of
Pinestone was approximately HK$138,372,000. No dividend
was received by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The shareholding of the Group to Pinestone as at 31
March 2025 became over 20% as a result of purchases of
additional shares of Pinestone during the year. The Group
considered Pinestone became an associate of the Group
on 17 March 2025. As the Company is listed under Chapter
21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange, the Group qualifies as a venture capital
organization for the purposes of HKAS 28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures. In accordance with
paragraph 18 of HKAS 28, the Group has elected to measure
its investments in the associate at fair value through profit
or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The election was made as at the date Pinestone became an
associate of the Group. The Group's objective of investment
in Pinestone was held for trading. In May 2025, the Group
disposed of all the shares of Pinestone.

Modern Innovative was incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Bermuda and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 2322). Its principal activities are trading,
money lending, factoring, finance leasing and provision
of financial services. For the period ended 30 September
2024, the unaudited interim consolidated loss attributable
to equity holders of Modern Innovative was approximately
HK$30,677,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of
0.74 HK cent. As at 30 September 2024 (unaudited), its
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of Modern
Innovative was approximately HK$713,476,000. No dividend
was received by the Group for the period ended 30
September 2024.
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

142

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(vi)  Ocean Star was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8297). Its principal activities are
(i) designing, manufacturing and sales of lingerie products
in Hong Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of China;
(i) provision of social influencers agency services through
an online platform; and (iii) money lending business. For the
period ended 30 September 2024, the unaudited interim
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of Ocean
Star was approximately HK$12,678,000 with basic and
diluted loss per share of 1.17 HK cents. As at 30 September
2024 (unaudited), its consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of Ocean Star was approximately HK$34,868,000. No
dividend was received by the Group for the period ended 30
September 2024.

(viii)  Raffles Interior was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1376). Its principal activities are
provision of interior fitting-out services in the Republic
of Singapore. For the financial year ended 31 December
2024, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Raffles Interior was approximately Singapore
Dollars ("SGD") 4,154,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of 0.42 SGD cent. As at 31 December 2024, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of Raffles
Interior was approximately SGD8,218,000. No dividend was
received by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

(ix) At 31 March 2025, the listed equity securities held by the

Group with carrying value of HK$59,818,000 were pledged
to secured margin loan granted to the Group (note 23(ii)).
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

(b)

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)
Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held by RELTMRAUFNEFEEZAEEH
by the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 disclosed RZE_RAFR_Z_MF=H
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: ST -HABERERATRRESF
BEWT
Percentage Percentage
Name of Interest ~ of the total Interest ~ of the total
investee Place of Unlisted debt Fair value received/  assetsof  received/ assets of
companies incorporation securities, at cost adjustment Carrying value receivable the Group  receivable  the Group
Bh/ AEEE B4/ KEEE
RRENALH ARAIRY FINERRS  RAA APERE REE EHHE EEEAM RUNE EEANM
2025 2004 2025 2004 225 2004 2025 2025 2004 2004
ZECEfE -“EF-PF CZECEf —T-QMEF CZECRE _S-QRE CBCEF CECREE CS-NE “E-ME
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000 HK$'000
TErn  TEx  TEx TR TR TEr TEn Thn
Guanwan Investments Limited BV
(note (i) 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000) - - - - - -
BEREERLA (W) ZBARES
Note: B 5
(i) On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in the (i) R-FE—WNF+=_A=+=H " &

3% unsecured convertible bonds issued by Guanwan
Investments Limited (“Guanwan”) with principal amount
of HK$20,000,000, bearing coupon interest rate of 3% per
annum. Guanwan is an investment holding company which
indirectly hold 100% of the issued shares of its subsidiary, &
NEFBEREBRAF ("EEE"). 1% is established
in the PRC and principally engaged in designing,
manufacturing and retail of women’s dress in PRC. The
convertible bonds held by the Group were originally due on
22 December 2017 and convertible into 24 fully paid ordinary
shares of Guanwan with a par value of USD1.00 each, which
represented 24% of the enlarged issued shares of Guanwan
as at 22 December 2014, at a conversion price of HK$833,333
per conversion share. The Company could exercise the
conversion option at any time until the maturity date. On 23
December 2017, the maturity date of the convertible bonds
was renewed and extended to 22 December 2020.

On 23 December 2020, the maturity date of the convertible
bonds was further renewed and extended to 22 December
2023. All of the other terms of the convertible bonds
remained unchanged for the above renewals.

NERENRBEREERARF (B
B) BT ZIEEERABRRES

7K & %8 /520,000,000 7T ¢ % =@ F
XGFIEFHE - BEBERARKREEZR

nA > HAERFEEWBRT RIS
BEREERAR ([2%6B]) 2
100% 2 &ETRG - @FBELFE
R+ XEGERELELERT

SERTE - AEBBEEZATBRR
BFEERR-_T—+tF+-_A=-+=
BEH  JTERARESRERRG
833,333 L AR AT B F R EE1.00
ELZHRBRAE BR2AK - HE
R-_E—NME+_A-_+_HES
KIBRBEITRMD24% - ZAQFTA
RE BB ATRERF TR E - K=
E—+&E+-RA=-+=8 - THBEK
BEHINYPRELEITCRE_T_F
F+=-—A=+=H -

WZBEZFTF+=—A=+=H " 7
HRELFDNHAE - SELIER
B2=F=F+=—H=H=H - ®
FREEME JRBREHFZHE
HMGERH®HTE -
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

144

(b)

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held
by the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:

(continued)
Note: (continued)

i)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's
investments in convertible bonds were in default as
Guanwan failed to repay the convertible bonds on 22
December 2023. As the event of default had happened, the
fair value of the convertible bonds had been measured at
HK$ nil for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

No interest repayment on the convertible bonds was
received by the Group during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024. The directors of the Company consider there
was no foreseeable cash inflow for the interest receivable,
hence, no interest income on the convertible bonds was
recognised during the year (2024: nil).
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  19. BAFEH AEEBEEB MK E

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)

(c)  Particulars of the Group's major investments of unlisted © RELTRAUFNEFEEZAEEH
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025 RZE_RAFR_Z_MF=H
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing ST+ —BFRBFELTRABEEE
Rules are as follows: KEFHBOT -

2025 —E-RE

Percentage Accumulated Dividend  Percentage of
Place of of effective fair value Carrying  receivable/ the total assets
Name of investee companies incorporation interest Atcost  adjustment value received  of the Group Principal activities
held at 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025
fisgReEs Zit REBHBEE
BRELASR RaTEES BAlt BRA LATERE HEE B/ CHRE Bl TEEX
“E_RE CBCEE ZBCRE 0 -B-RE 0 “ECRE CEBCRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i .

Zhonghe Huinong (Beijing) PRC 21 54% 40503 (5,646) 34,857 = 9.19%  Scientific research
Technology Development Co,, and technical
Ltd* ("Zhonghe Huinong”) services industry
(note (i)

hAER (IR) BEZERRLA +E HERESERR

([heZE]) (W) BE

Shenzhen Qianhai CIC Dingsheng ~ PRC 30.00% 41402 (18,178) 23,204 — 613%  Rental and business
Investment Consulting Co,, Ltd* services
("Shenzhen Qianhai") (notel(i))

MRS REFREZIERAE RE HENEERE

(TRYIAS) ) (R
Huanghao International Financial ~ PRC 22.85% 38789 (143) 38,046 - 10.04%  Financial industry
Leasing (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd*
("Huanghao") (note (i)
ERERHENE (B BRAA E SRE
(128l ) (M)

Zhong Ying Hua Xia Investment ~ PRC 30.00% 11,017 - 1,017 - 291%  Provision of financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* and business
("Zhong Ying Hua Xia") (note (iv) advisory services

REZERESR (R) BRAF HE RECBREHE

([hEZE]) (W) i

Guangyi Beidoli Electronic PRC 30.00% 64317 (379 63938 = 1687%  Manufacturing
Technology Co., Ltd. of electronic
("Guangxi Beidoli") (note (v)) products

EEEZNETRRARAA P PEETER

(TEEESN)) (W)
196,028 (24.946) 171,082

* For identification purpose only

& E 35
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

146

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

() Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

E (&)

© BRELITRAUIFNEFREZAEE
RZE-_RAFR_FT_MOF=A
— T HFBIELTRAEFESFETE

Rules are as follows: (continued) BEFBWOT « (&)
2024 —EBE-E
Percentage
of effective Accumulated Dividend  Percentage of
Place of interest held at fair value Carrying  receivable/ the total assets
Name of investee companies incorporation 2024 Atcost  adjustment value received  of the Group Principal activities
R-Z-RE
i anER Zit rEEAEE
RREARER Bl At BHA  ATESR REE EK/CHRS Btk FEEE
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
ZECRE ZECRE CECRE ZEC@E CEIRE
HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000
TR OTER TER THR

Zhonghe Huinong (Beijing) PRC 21 54% 40503 (14,136) 26,367 = 5.06%  Scientific research
Technology Development Co,, and technical
Ltd* ("Zhonghe Huinong”) services industry
(note (i)

hRER (LR) MEERERAR PE HEmEERR

([haB&l) (W) Bx

Shenzhen Qianhai CIC Dingsheng ~ PRC 30.00% 41402 (13,357) 28,045 — 539%  Rental and business
Investment Consulting Co,, Ltd* services
("Shenzhen Qianhai") (notel(i))

MIFETRERREZAGRAA HE BENBRRE

( [RYIE] ) (RoskGn)

Huanghao International Financial ~ PRC 22.85% 38,789 2959 41,748 - 8.02%  Financial indlustry
Leasing (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd*
("Huanghao") (note (i)

SRERRERE (M) ARAA HE Hx

(T28)) (i)

Zhong Ying Hua Xia Investment ~ PRC 30.00% 29482 (347) 2135 - 560%  Provision of financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* and business
("Zhong Ying Hua Xia") (note (iv) advisory services

hRESREER () ARAT & RUMBRARE

([EEE]) (W) AR

Hui Tong Yun (Shenzhen) Enterprise PRC 30.00% 32,666 (247) 2419 = 623%  Wholesale and
Management Co., Ltd* ("Hui Tong retal business
Yun") (note (vi)

2RZ (M) CXERARAT  4E HERSEEH

([ZBE]) (W)
182,842 (25128) 157,714
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(0

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing
Rules are as follows: (continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

Zhonghe Huinong is engaged in technology development,
technology transfer, technology consulting, technology
services, technology promotion and data processing.

The investment in Zhonghe Huinong is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Zhonghe Huinong is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using Guideline Public Company method with
reference to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect
the specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market multiple
— enterprise value to revenue ("EV/REVENUE") valuation
methodology using key input of 0.44 (2024: 0.40) and further
adjusted for discount for lack of marketability of 20.4% (2024:
20.5%).

If the market multiple of Zhonghe Huinong was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Zhonghe Huinong
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,074,000
(2024 HK$869,000).

Shenzhen Qianhai is engaged in investment consulting
including but not limited to financial advisory services
and assets management services, business management
consulting and economic information consulting.

The investment in Shenzhen Qianhai is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Shenzhen Qianhai is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using Guideline Public Company method with
reference to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect
the specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:
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i
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

148

(0

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(continued)

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market
multiple — EV/REVENUE valuation methodology using key
input of 0.7 (2024: 0.6) and further adjusted for discount for
lack of marketability of 20.4% (2024: 20.5%).

If the market multiple of Shenzhen Qianhai was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Shenzhen Qianhai
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$962,000
(2024: HK$1,056,000).

The investment in Shenzhen Qianhai with carrying value of
HK$23,224,000 is pledged to secure a loan from a third party
(note 23(i)).

Huanghao is engaged in financial leasing business, leasing
business, purchase of leased properties at home and abroad
and treatment and maintenance of residual value of leased
properties.

The investment in Huanghao is measured at fair value
and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair
value of Huanghao is determined by reference to the
valuation carried out by an external independent valuer by
using Guideline Public Company method with reference
to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect the
specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market
multiple — price to book value valuation methodology using
key input of 1.1 (2024: 1.1) and further adjusted for discount
for lack of marketability of 20.4% (2024: 20.5%).

If the market multiple of Huanghao was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Huanghao would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,526,000 (2024:
HK$1,649,000).

The investment in Huanghao with carrying value of
HK$38,046,000 is pledged to secure a loan from a third party
(note 23(i)).
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(0

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv)

Zhong Ying Hua Xia is engaged in building up a platform
assisting and promoting the mutual cooperation of listed
companies in Hong Kong and domestic enterprises in
China. It helps the domestic small-medium sized enterprises
in restructuring the equity, strengthening corporate
governance and value-added capabilities in order to cope
with the international capital markets.

In June 2024, the Group entered into a share withdrawal
agreement with the other shareholder of Zhong Ying Hua
Xia (the “Other Shareholder”) and Zhong Ying Hua Xia,
pursuant to which the Group transferred its entire 30% equity
interest in Zhong Ying Hua Xia to the Other Shareholder
and received back the original investment cost of
RMB27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$28,880,000)
as consideration for the transfer. In October 2024, the Group
entered into an agreement with the Other Shareholder
and Zhong Ying Hua Xia to terminate the share withdrawal
agreement dated June 2024 and whereby the Group agreed
to reinvest in Zhong Ying Hua Xia at the original investment
cost of RMB27,000,000 for 30% equity interest in Zhong Ying
Hua Xia.

During the period from October 2024 to March 2025,
the Group reinvested approximately RMB10,300,000
(approximately HK$11,017,000) in Zhong Yin Hua Xia. The
Group is committed to reinvest the remaining balance
of RMB16,700,000 (approximately HK$17,863,000) as at
31 March 2025, as disclosed in note 38. The Group has
decided to reinvest in Zhong Yin Hua Xia because the Group
considered investing in Zhong Ying Hua Xia would enable
the Group to capture the investment opportunities for better
return to the shareholders of the Group.

The investment in Zhong Ying Hua Xia is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Zhong Ying Hua Xia is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using the cost approach to value its paid-in capital
(2024: asset-based approach).

The asset-based approach was adopted by the independent
valuer as the valuation method in the fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2024 because in that financial year, Zhong
Ying Hua Xia had not yet commenced operation. In the
year ended 31 March 2025, as the Group has re-invested in
Zhong Ying Hua Xia during the period from October 2024
to March 2025, it was considered a recent investment hence
the cost approach is adopted as the valuation method as
at 31 March 2025 as the short business operation of Zhong
Ying Hua Xia could not represent a sustainable level for
valuation analysis. As such, the paid-in capital contributed by
the Group in during the period from October 2024 to March
2025, of approximately HK$11,017,000, representing the key
input used in the valuation, is deemed to approximate the
fair value as at 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

150

(0

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Guangxi Beidoli is engaged in manufacturing and selling
of electronic products in Guangxi Province, China. The fair
value of Guangxi Beidoli is determined by reference to the
valuation carried out by an external independent valuer by
using Guideline Public Company method with reference
to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect the
specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market
multiple — EV/REVENUE valuation methodology using key
input of 10.6 and further adjusted for discount for lack of
marketability of 25%.

If the market multiple of Guangxi Beidoli was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Guangxi Beidoli
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$3,689,000.

Hui Tong Yun is engaged in developing ecological
platform that integrates education, industry and finance for
certain major sectors including industrial finance, financial
technology, new retailing, healthcare, education, consulting,
wellness, media and philanthropy.

In June 2024, the Group entered into share transfer
agreement with other shareholder of Hui Tong Yun for the
transfer of its entire equity interest in Hui Tong Yun at cost.

The Group has no voting rights and no power to participate
in the operating and financial policy decisions of Zhonghe
Huinong, Shenzhen Qianhai, Huanghao, Zhong Ying Hua
Xia, Guangxi Beidoli and Hui Tong Yun (collectively the
“Investees”). According to the relevant shareholders’
agreements, except for the dividend rights, the Group has
agreed to relinquish all of its shareholder’s rights, including
voting rights of the shares held by the Group. Since the
Group has no voting right and no power to participate in
the operating and financial policy decisions of the above
Investees, the directors of the Company have classified its
interests in these investees as financial assets at FVTPL in
accordance with HKFRS 9.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(d)

The Group subscribed Mount Peak Fund SPC — Mount
Peak Currency Fund SP (the “Currency Fund”) for
approximately HK$10,012,000 at cost, bearing coupon
interest rate of 7.5% per annum. The Currency Fund
is for investors with different needs and risks, which
match the corresponding fund products. The fund
manager has asset management licenses in Hong
Kong and Singapore and offshore investment manager
qualifications in Cayman and the BVI. The core fund
products are hedge funds.

In August 2023, the operation of the Currency Fund
was terminated and subsequently the Currency Fund
was put into liquidation process voluntarily. In February
2024, the terms of the Currency Fund were expired, the
Group's equity interest in the Currency Fund has already
applied for redemption. The liquidation process was not
completed by February 2024 and the redemption was
not completed on 31 March 2024. As a result of it, the
fair value of the Currency Fund has been measured to
HKS$ nil for the year ended 31 March 2024.

In July 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party to transfer
the Currency Fund with consideration of approximately
United States Dollar 1,300,000, which is equivalent
to HK$10,000,000. The transfer was completed in
November 2024. As a result, an amount of fair value
gain of HK$10,000,000 in financial assets at FVTPL was
recognized in profit and loss during the year.

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRECHBE
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20. DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

152

20. ENfREREMEWKE

2025 2024
—B-Hf T @OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET

Deposits paid (note (a)) Bftike (Mi@E) 30,000 154,411

Loan receivable (note (b)) & W B (B 5F (b)) 1,200 —

Other receivables E b fE W 5008 793 958

31,993 155,369

Less: ECL allowance (notes (a) and (b)) W TEEAE B EBERE

(M} 5% (a) & (b)) (31,200) (32,838)
793 122,531

Notes: Mt ET -

(a) At 31 March 2025 and 2024, ECL allowance of HK$30,000,000 was (a) R_E-_RAEN_ZT-_WNF=Z/F=+—
recognised in prior years on deposits paid for potential investments B RBEFERBERERPEIE L
in unlisted equities in PRC with gross carrying amount of the same TRANBEN R EREREEEBERE
amount, as they are categorised as doubtful under the Group's 30,000,000/ 7t FRmE A E R HR &
credit risk grading framework. THERBEAEENEERRTRIELRKE

DERFE
During the year ended 31 March 2025, refundable deposits RZZBE_RAF=ZA=+—H " AJRERK
with gross carrying amount of HK$64,977,000 (equivalent to SR _E-_MF=ZA=+—BHEHEMLE
RMB60,130,000) as at 31 March 2024 was utilised as the cash 64,977,000/ 7T (18& 7 A K #60,130,0007T )
consideration for the acquisition of shares of Guangxi Beidoli A1E W BOERRATEFSALERER
classified as financial assets at FVTPL (see note 19(c)); and ZHBEENE @E\ %N E’J Hx@ HIE R
with gross carrying amount of HK$59,434,000 (equivalent to B(RWE19)  RRZZE-_MFARA
RMB55,000,000) was refunded in June 2024. Accordingly, a reversal R [B B8R 42 E59,434,000/§ T (HERAR
of the related ECL of HK$2,838,000 (2024: HK$2,431,000) has been #55,000,0007T) ° H L - F AR IEERER
recognised in profit or loss during the year. B 78 H {5 & 5 48 # 212,838,000/ 7T (=
T U4 : 2,431,000 7T) °

For the year ended 31 March 2024, in addition to the above BHE-_T-_WF=A=+—HLFE -
ECL allowance of HK$30,000,000 recognised in prior years on BRT7TBAFEHRALMBEREEBERE
deposits paid, the directors of the Company estimated the loss 30,000,000 7T+ AN A & E F R E R &%
allowance on the remaining deposits paid for potential investment A RBRERRKTEEREZENERS2
and other receivables with aggregate gross carrying amount of REMEKRRENEERBEREAESR
HK$124,411,000 at the end of the reporting period on an individual 124,411,000 7T - € BEMHEZE N2 A B H
basis, at an amount equal to 12-month ECL taking into account the 1:. % E§ B BARENRESERNEERE
expected collection period as the deposits paid were categorised BRFRERTHERR @ RERE
as low risk under the Group's credit risk grading framework. Thus, Hﬂ W FE e Ft - BREBEEHEEEAR
an amount of HK$2,838,000 was provided for impairment losses = 5T 42 8 B /&5 152,838,000 7T ©

under the ECL model.

(b) At 31 March 2025, the loan receivable balance mainly represented (b) R-ZZE_AF=ZA=+—8 " BERER=E
loan to an individual. At 31 March 2025, the entire balance is ZhAR—REANATRENER - R-Z
secured, interest bearing at 2.5% per month and repayable within ZTHAFEF=ZA=+—8 " 2HEHHBEE
one year. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the loan R ERER25%E B - ﬁﬁ ARN—FRNE
receivable was defaulted. The carrying amount (net of impairment B RMEHKRE  BEKERBEYD -
losses) of loan receivable as at 31 March 2025 was nil. Accordingly, ﬁ(\ TR E=A=+—H " EKREXK
ECL of HK$1,200,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during WEREE (MRBREBE) A - At -
the year. 1,200,000 T TR EEBREERNFAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

20. DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21.

(continued|)
Notes: (continued)

20. ENfREREMEWRRE &)

MisE - (&)

(0 The movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables (0) EmEWRERE N RS REREZSHN
and deposits paid are as follows: T
2025 2024
—EBE-RHE —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
At the beginning of year R E ] 32,838 32,431
Impairment losses recognised B RO E & B 1,200 2,838
Reversal of impairment e 1B B [ (2,838) (2,431)
At the end of year RER 31,200 32,838
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS . BeRREEEY
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Cash and bank balances RekiBTHER 1,662 16,166

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2025, cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$17,000 (2024: HK$5,707,000) are denominated in RMB
and placed in financial institutions in the PRC. RMB is not a
freely convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange controls promulgated by the PRC
government.

BEERRESARAERARRTE
WIS - BITRTREAR L EE
WS ISR R RS -

R-_ZE-_RAF=A=+—8B W&k
RITHEF 17,0008 £ (ZF — U &F -
5,707,000 L) AAREEEE - TR
HeormigkE ARBEPRHIIIFETAR
Hingk  BoELFHAETPRHK
T 78 45 B0 SNEE B I 50 Rl ROE AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

from financing activities,

including both cash and non-cash

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash

21. RERBEEEN &)
BMERPELCBBEIHEK

TERRAEERETDELEZCAESE

(BRASKIFERACEY) F15 - BER
BELACREDRRAEREIARAKER
MERAEEGRARERNEREDEX
KO BABRERDMBCREEREZEA

flows as cash flows from financing activities. & o
Other
Lease borrowings, Deposit
liabilities Bonds secured received Total
HipEE
HERE &% 2 ghEe @it
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FTHL FTHL THET THL FTHT
At 1 April 2024 R-ZBE-_NEWA—-H 1,497 44,185 — — 45,682
Changes from financing cash MEBR&REZE !
flows:
Proceeds FiGHIE = 56,600 = 73,617 130,217
Repayments B (1,497) (40,000) — — (41,497)
Finance cost paid BRFBRA (185) (3,240) = = (3,425)
Non-cash changes: EXE L ¥
Finance costs BB A 185 2,080 = = 2,265
At 31 March 2024 and R-E-MmE
1 April 2024 ZAZ+-HRK
—E_NMEMA-H — 59,625 — 73,617 133,242
Changes from financing cash BER&FEZF !
flows:
Proceeds FiEHE = 83,726 37,194 = 120,920
Repayments B — (73,357) — (73,617) (146,974)
Finance cost paid BB BRA = (930) == = (930)
Non-cash changes: k¥Re8E
Finance costs B 75 P A = 2,153 614 = 2,767
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-1&=ZA=+-H — 71,217 37,808 — 109,025
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22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS CHARGES 22. EtENFEREGTER

2025 2024
Z®R-HFE T -MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TAETT

Bonds interest payables JE& 1 & % 7 8 1,978 755

Bonds payables (note (i) FEftEZ (M 3EG) 69,239 58,870

Deposit received (note (ii)) 2 Ui & (B 5E i) — 73,617

Accruals and other payables FEEt & A N H & < 58 7,716 9,334

78,933 142,576

Notes: M T -

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has issued short- (i) HE_Z_RF=ZA=+—BLLFE
term unsecured bond pursuant to bond agreements entered into ARBBRBEBLIE=ZFIUNESHZE
with independent third parties. All of the bonds outstanding as at BOOEHEERES c FARZ-ZZT_-A
31 March 2025 with aggregate principal amount of approximately F=A=+T—"BAREEBFLSBERY
HK$69,239,000 (2024: HK$58,870,000) and interest rates from 5% 69,239,000/ 7t (= Z = /M4 : 58,870,000/%
(2024: 5%-15%) per annum are due within one year. TC) K FREES% (ZZEZNF 5% F

15%) + R—FREH -

(if) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received deposit (i) HE_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE &
of approximately HK$73,617,000 from an independent third party EEEBRVE=- MM EBEZBLE=F
for potential investment by this independent third party in the AR AR EEIRE BIRE 473,617,000
Company. The amount was fully refunded by the Company in T BEEARARARZFT_WIFENLAR
September 2024. HER -

23. OTHER BORROWINGS, SECURED 23. Hitifg& » 2R
2025 2024
—E-RHFE —ET-F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
THERT FTET

Loan from a third party (note (i)) E=7EF (ME()) 6,200 —

Loan interest payable (note (i) A ERAE (K@) 341 =

Margin loan (note (ii)) REEER (M) 30,993 —

Margin loan interest payable (note (ii)) &R & & B R 8 (B &2 (i) 274 —

37,808 —

Notes: Bt &

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has entered (i) BE-_ZTZ_-_AF=A=+—8H ¢¢f N
into a short-term loan agreement with a third-party entity. The RAHEE=FEBIUEPERDGZE - 2
entire balance is secured by the unlisted securities classified as MEHAREEFANIE AT EFALER
financial assets at FVTPL held by the Group with carrying value of RERNFIMUBEEFEER - REE
HK$61,270,000 (notes 19(c)(ii) and (iii)), interest bearing at 2% per %61,270,0007% 7T (K FE19(Q)0) & (i) - &
month and repayable within one year. BRA2%ABENEAR—FRNEE -

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group borrowed a (i) HE_Z-_AF=A=Z+—HBIFE &
margin loan from a third-party securities company. The margin loan SEME=ZFFFRABARESER °
is secured by the listed securities stocked in the broker account ZERBEERARRAFANLL KR
held by the Company with carrying value of HK$59,818,000 (note FPHh&EFEAN EHEFE ?fﬁ #REEAR
19(a)(ix)) classified as financial assets at FVTPL, interest bearing at 59,818,000/ 7t (Fff 5E19(a)ix)) @ # 2 %8 &
18-25% per annum and repayable within one year. RAFEGFAER “JZ%@E’JW?%QF 7

FMEI18E25%T BAL AR — FAEE -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, B
Number of
shares Share capital
BHEE B 7
‘000 HK$'000
T & FAET
Authorised & E
At 1 April 2023 at HK$0.1 each RZEZ=FWMA—H
B & K0.1%E T 1,000,000 100,000
Increase in authorised share capital #0E T R A (K 5% (iv)
(note (iv)) 2,000,000 200,000
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and RZE-_WF=A=+—H -
31 March 2025 at HK$0.1 each TENFOA—HEZE
—_hAF=ZA=+—8 &8
f%0.17% 7T 3,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid ERITRHER
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FIPA—H 360,394 36,039
Rights issue (note (ii) HEE (BT 5E i) 360,394 36,039
Placing of new shares (note (iii)) B & ¥ A% 19 (B & Gii)) 144,000 14,400
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-_WWF=A=+—8xK
—“E-NFEPAH—H 864,788 86,478
Placing of new shares (note (i) il & ¥ (B 5E ) 172,940 17,294
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-_RHF=ZA=+—H 1,037,728 103,772

All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then

existing shares in all respects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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24. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 23 October 2024, the Company and the placing agents entered
into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing agents
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 172,940,000 placing
shares at a placing price of HK$0.237 to not less than six placees
who are independent third parties.

A total of 172,940,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting direct expenses of approximately HK$1,230,000,
amount to approximately HK$39.8 million, which is intended to be
utilised for repayment of borrowings, general working capital of the
Group and future investment opportunities as may be identified by
the Group from time to time.

On 11 August 2023, the Company had raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$54.1 million before expenses by way of a rights
issue of up to 360,394,859 rights shares at a price of HK$0.15 per
rights share on the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1)
existing share held by the qualifying shareholders on the record
date.

The net proceeds from the rights issue, after deducting direct
expenses of approximately HK$197,000 for the rights issue, were
approximately HK$53.9 million.

On 25 January 2024, the Company and the placing agents entered
into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing agents
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 144,000,000 placing
shares at a placing price of HK$0.65 to not less than six placees who
are independent third parties. On 19 February 2024, the Company
and the placing agents entered into a letter of confirmation to
extend the long stop date of the placing agreement.

A total of 144,000,000 placing shares had been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting direct expenses of approximately HK$936,000,
amount to approximately HK$92.7 million, which was intended to
be utilised for repayment of borrowings, general working capital of
the Group and future investment opportunities as may be identified
by the Group from time to time.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2023, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$100,000,000
divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to
HK$300,000,000 divided into 3,000,000,000 ordinary shares by the
creation of an additional 2,000,000,000 unissued ordinary shares.
Details of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated 31
July 2023.

24, B (48)

Wi

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

RZZ-_WE+A=-+=0  AQFHE
ERBITYEEHE Bt - BEERE
FAENBEMEFRAATIR BB
E =7 2 &R AR E & %172,940,0008% B
ERMD - EMBAC237TETT -

& #£172940000f B EBRHER N EE T
TAORAREBERBEA (BRERBA - AFAR
SREBREER)  MREFREARER
REZWBEALRBILE=T - KK
5 18 FA 5 X 91,230,000 7T #% - ELE FIH
ZIIBHAFHEAONEEET - ER
REEEER  AEE-R2EESRA
SEURETHYEZ RRKREHRS -

RZZEZ=ZFNA+—8  AQE A
FREBREERBRERTRERKKB0IS
BTHESERACLHEBHREEE —1)RER
ERHOATEE -(WVREBKRRG 2 EEELT
T %360,394,8590% 1 A% i% 19 E & Fr 15 5 18
WEBASANEE BT (NBRFAZAT)

HRAAEBRIEFE (KNRERZEER
X #9197,0008 7T) #)BS39B BB T °

RZE-_WE—A=Z+HAB » AAaHEE
EREBITVRERE Bt EERRE
BENIBEAES R AT DR B B
fid A BC & B % 144,000,000% B2 & B {5 - B
EBAILETL - RZTE-_WFEF=_ATAN
A ARREREREBITUERE @ &
RREHENZEHILEAE -

A 144,000,000k Fe E R E XD ELE T
FLRANBEREAN (BEABBEA - 27K
SERBEBREE)  MEZSFAREARES
REXBBEALABIE=H - £HKHE
B X #9936,0008 L% - BEEEBZAB
REFBEAANIEE ST - HEMEE
BEN  AEE—REEELRAEET
BETRYEZ RRIEERE -

BEARAAR-_ZE-_=F N \A=+HK1T
ZHREBFASBBNEBRAZER B8
1 3% %8 512,000,000,0000% & 2% 17 % 3@ A% -
#5 2N X 8] 3% 5 A% 7K §3.100,000,00058 7T (5 B
1,000,000,000/% & X F1H0.107%8 T 2 @A)
# 0 %300,000,0005% 7T (% %43,000,000,000
REBR) - FBEHERARRBAHAZT
“ZELA=+—HMBXK -
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25. RESERVES
THE COMPANY

Share Shareholder’s

25. 1
FiNNE]

Investment
revaluation

Share option Accumulated

premium  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
R EE RRIE REERAE BRERE Rt BB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=ZFWA—AH 639,605 10,934 (4,921) 9,436 (417,476) 237,578
Loss for the year AEEER — — — — (96,814) (96,814)
Other comprehensive expense Hth2EAX
Change in fair value of financial BRATHEFAEHME
assets Bl ERECHEE
at FVTOCI EZRAFEEZD — — (11,798) — — (11,798)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ AFE2HAXHE
the year — — (11,798) — (96,814) (108,612)
Rights issue it 1 18,021 - - - = 18,021
Rights issue expenses B % (197) - - - — (197)
Placing of new shares REHKRR 79,200 = = = = 79,200
New share placement expenses FROAEERAX (936) - - - - (936)
Lapse of vested share options ERBRERELX — — — (1,161) 1,161 =
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME
=A=+—H 735,693 10,934 (16,719) 8,275 (513,129) 225,054
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 KT F
ZR=+-8Bk
“E-MENA-A 735,693 10,934 (16,719) 8,275 (513,129) 225,054
Loss for the year AEEER = = = = (162,921) (162,921)
Total comprehensive expense for  AFE2HAXBE
the year - - - - (162,921) (162,921)
Placing of new shares (note 24(i) B2 & ¥ 1% 17 (24()) 23,692 - - - = 23,692
Release on disposal of financial BRUERATETA
assets at FVTOCI EEMEZERRRE
ZHBERE — — 16,719 — (16,719) -
New share placement IR B & B S 240)
expenses (note 24(i) (1,230) — — — — (1,230)
Lapse of vested share options ERBRERELX — — = (8,275) 8,275 =
At 31 March 2025 RZZZhE
=A=+—H 758,155 10,934 — — (684,494) 84,595

158
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25. RESERVES (continued)

25. @& (&)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each NTREBEEARGASREBIEER

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

f# 1

2 t 2 i

Description and purpose

Ha B

Share premium

IR 9 i (&

Shareholders’ contribution
REFE

Investment revaluation Reserve

REEMHEHE

Share option reserve

R

Exchange reserve
BE 5

Accumulated losses

RETEE

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RERARBEEE -

Contribution arisen from a financial guarantee by shareholders on 20
January 2020. o
BRER-_Z-_ZF-A_+tHNUBERELENIE -

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value.
HZAFESHGEERRD B RIZAFEF AERMEE K
BREZHMBEEEMNEEz s BAE -

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options
to the employees over the vesting period and subscription monies
received from option holders in respect of which shares have not yet
been issued.
%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%k%%\iﬁﬁiuﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
N2 B A AWEE R RIE -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into presentation currency

w258 Méﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁizw 5/ B8 o

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

REmERZ Rt RaEMEBERFRE -
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26. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
In March 2024, the Group disposed of its entire equity

160

interests in China Investments Assets Co., Limited
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2021 to an independent third
party with a cash consideration of HK$1.

Analysis of total assets and total liabilities over which control

was lost is as follows:

26. HEKWBAT

Pt

RZEBE-_WF=ZR » AEER—FLEL
FZFHEERFPRHKEEEBR A A
(R=ZBE-—FEFBIMAT) 23
ReREABVET -

REZEGENBEERBABITAT :

HK$'000

FET

Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFTEGFTAEERERBR VB EE 533

Other payables and accrued charges Hih N IARESER (877)

Net liabilities disposed of EHEBRFE (344)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMRB A W

Consideration received 2R E S

Net liabilities disposed of PEHEAEBEFEHE (344)

344

Cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received

HEEAZRERA

EWRERE

* Amount was less than HK$1,000.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a)

Old share option scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
"Scheme"”) and terminated the previous share option
scheme pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
an annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
December 2018 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors, eligible employees and
consultants, and the scheme will expire on 27 December
2028. Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may, at its discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant to parties including any employee,
director, consultant or advisor of any member of the
Group options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price determined by the Board and shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the grant date; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant ; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant. Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.

27. BBIRERTE

(a)

ERRESE
RER-_FT-NF+-A=-+N\H
BOZARBABRRAFAELAES
MEBRIR  AXADHEMA—
AEBERTE (TaxsTEl)) TR LE
TR BRESS  TEEHEH
EF AEREBELREMIEHE
B ZETEER_T-_NF+=A
“TEHEH - REZFE K
RAEZEUNBARERRAE
MR > A&7 (BERAKEEM
KREWMTMAES - EF - BENK
FAAN) BEAIRBEARR KD
BhE ERAEFEET X
BELROARBRMDER L B
YT E : (NBEE LB A A E
BEAZBOFHRTE - KA
ARARHERHBRAZHE AR
SER/E) IREBREANHE

EHzB (BREZA) E21X A
2% 0 WRBHBEREMNUET -
BREIREFTSETHHRAE
BT BETSBARDBHEL
F o

Annual Report £F ¥} 2025

161



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 & [# H [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 27. BEESE @)
(a) Old share option scheme (continued) (a) EBEKRESE (&)
The following table discloses movements of the TREBRBE_Z_AEK_F
Company'’s share options granted under the Scheme “ME=A=1T-BLEFERIERZ
. 1y g ; N SRR RO R < Ak S -
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024: P BRI B AR A B 2 &
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted and
accepted  Exercised Lapsed  Adjustment
Date of Exercise price  At1April  duringthe  duringthe  during the onrights At 31 March
Category grant Exercise period per share 2024 year year year issue 2025
R-B-mE  FARW R-BZ-%F
ERl REHAH i3 ERfTEE WA-A REH EnTE  EREN HREE ZA=t+-8
HKS
B
Non-executive directors
kHTES
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 397+ 1,110,900 - —  (1,110,900) = =
BER
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 39+ 1,110,900 - — (1,110,900) - -
BRY
Independent non-executive directors
BUFHTES
Mo Li 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 397+ 111,088 — — (111,088) - -
EE]
Shi Zhu 1112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.540 125,926 — — (125,926) — -
biY:d
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 444,360 - — (444300) - —
ER
Total 2,903,174 - —  (2903174) - —
ast
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 3.8222 — = 3.8222 =

MEFHHARE (Br)
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(a)

Old share option scheme (continued)

27. BRESE (@)
(a) EBKRESE (2

Number of share options

BREHE
Granted and
accepted  Exercised Lapsed  Adjustment

Date of Exercise price At 1 April duringthe  duringthe  during the onrights At 31 March

Category grant Exercise period per share 2023 year year year issue 2024
RZBZZ%F EREL RZ2-Q%
53 RHAH ig:d ERTERE MA-A kEH  FRGE FRAR #RBE ZA=t-B
HKS
En

Non-executive directors
FHTES
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 882,185 - — - 228,715 1,110,900
B
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 882,185 - - — 228,715 1,110,900
BRT
Liu Lihan (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971* 882,185 - — (1,110,900 228715 -
B En
Independent non-executive directors
BU4TES
Mo Li 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 86,218 - — — 22,870 111,088
CEd]
Shi Zhu 7112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.540* 100,000 - - — 25,926 125,926
At
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 352,874 - - — 91,486 444,360
Total 3,187,647 - - (1,110900) 826,427 2903174
@t
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 4.8645 — — 39710 38222

MEFHARE (B
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

164

(a)

Old share option scheme (continued)
(i) Resigned on 6 October 2023

* As at the dates of grant, the exercise prices of the share

options were HK$0.5 and HK$0.068. As a result of the share
consolidation effected on 15 February 2023, the exercise
prices were adjusted to HK$5.00 and HK$0.68 respectively.
As a result of the rights issue on 11 August 2023, the exercise
prices were further adjusted to HK$3.971 and HK$0.54
respectively.

Note:

Upon acceptance of the share options, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
Company has received such consideration from the respective
grantees.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for
share options outstanding at 31 March 2024 was 0.44
year.

There were no securities available for issue under the
Scheme as at 31 March 2025 in respect of outstanding
share options granted but not yet exercised. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, a total of 2,903,134 (2024
1,110,900) share options were lapsed and the amount
of approximately HK$8,275,000 (2024: HK$1,161,000)
previously recognised in the share option reserve was
transferred to accumulated losses accordingly. The
total number of securities available for issue under the
Scheme as at 31 March 2025 in respect of outstanding
share options granted but not yet exercised was nil
shares (2024: 2,903,174 shares), which represented 0%
(2024: 0.34%) of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2025.
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FEEE— 595 H %ﬁwm%n&
0548 T °

GER

() EwBERER > ARARREARA
XI00ETHERRERE - AR
AEWEERARANERRE -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(b) New share scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 September
2024, a new share scheme (the “New Share Scheme”)
was adopted. The summary of the principal terms of the
New Share Scheme has been set out in Appendix IIl of
the circular of the Company dated 27 August 2024, and
the additional principal terms of the New Share Scheme
has been set out in the supplemental circular of the
Company dated 12 September 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and at the end of
the reporting period, no options or awards was granted
or outstanding under the New Share Scheme.

28. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
Net asset value per share is HK$0.253 as at 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$0.437) which is calculated by dividing the net assets
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
of approximately HK$262,348,000 (2024: HK$378,125,000) and
the number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 March 2025,
being approximately 1,037,728,000 (2024: 864,788,000).

27. BRESE (@)

(b) FERBETE
BEARTFR-_E-_NEHLA=1
HROZBRRAFAS LBANY
BRBR FRGE ([FERH
TE) EERM - RO ENE
BREIMEBEANAQRFTBHRAE T
“WENAZ+ERZBERME=
MM 8 E A EBIERER
ARARBSA-_ZT-_MWEALA+ =
AzfmEE -

BE_Z_RA¥=A=+—H1tF
ERHBERR - BEREHRD
RS HARTT B E LR -

28. BREEFE

RZE-_RAF=ZA=Z=+—HBHKE
% 1H0.2537%8 T (= & — I 4 : 0437
B DEFABRAVYBERILRZE
B H {E £9262,348,0000% T (= & = I
F 3781250008 7t) BR LR ZZFE = A
FZAZ+T " BZEETEYBEBRXN
B #91,037,728,000% (= & — I 4 :
864,788,000/%) & -
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

166

(a)

29.

Compensation of key management personnel, including

the directors and other members of key management,

during the year is as follows:

BEALRS

(a

T2EEABE (BREEFkEME
ZEHEXE) FAMESWT ¢

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & * EZBEREWH &=

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
1,806 1,860

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in

note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group entered into the following

transactions with related parties:

AHEEHS 2L —SHERAR
ABBREM I -

Ep o AEEERESALITIN
TR

2025 2024

—E-EF —EMF

Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000

HEATEB REME TER TAET
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Investment manager fee

Limited (note) 244 480

BAREH (F#) AR AR (K &)

Note:

RE

2 E M

Al

The executive director of the Company, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is
one of the representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited. The investment management agreement was effective

from 1 December 2021 to 4 October 2024.

No investment manager was appointed thereafter as at the date of

this report.
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30.

31.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Under the scheme, each of
the Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a maximum
contribution of HK$1,500 (2024: HK$1,500) per month with
effective from 1 June 2014 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to nil (2024: approximately HK$8,000),
representing contributions payable to the MPF Scheme by
the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for leased
premise which were not recognised as right-of-use assets
were payable as follows:

30.

31.

RAKBRETE

AEEZBAGERTE S GORM
BERERBAREZ2ETHRMHAIBH ML
NELFE ([RESE]) - BES
AEZEERAKREZEESR - BE
AAZHZESHE - REZXFE - &
S8 (X)) REREEXARRBERZ
FE (EXRRblErB2at %) 2
5FAMBEEEMFLHR - B
—HFEANA—HBHE BEXREESEBZ
HREER/FH15008T (ZB_MWF :
15008 7T) @ WERZEKBEER - L &E
P8 WA SR AR, A R R F B A 2 3R e

ARG RERPIERBRERT (=
T _MF 480008 TT) - HEAKE R
BE_T_HF=A=+—HILFEE
@B ETE 2R -

ReHERRE
RBEHR - RETATHEECEHEN
HENE (TERRARERREE) BN
ZREBESKREBELT

2025 2024

—E-EHF —ETZmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TET

Within one year —£R" 32 1,671

The Group leases office and staff dormitory for its operations.
Lease agreements are typically made for average fixed period
of 1 year (2024: 1 year). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

AEEHERAEREIEEHELE
ZA - HEBZNFHEEHRBIF
(ZT_WF - 15F) - HHRSRENE
EEDET - LBE — RITEERK
iR o HEEE HH KT & R0 #
MEBRE - ARERAAONERLE
EADARHIMITHHR - HEHZEL
ERNEMNRE  MEEEETSAE
fERAEHER -
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  32. XA TR ARRR
COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-RF —E_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAER TET
Non-current assets EFRBHEE
Property, plant and equipment MmE - BERRE e —
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRZIE 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFACBZEREEZ
profit or loss HBEE 160,065 96,160
160,066 96,161
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BRAVEFAEEMGEZE RS
other comprehensive income BREHBEE — 36,506
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFALERREZ
profit or loss MBEE 179,012 103,068
Deposits paid and other receivables Bt Re RE MR K RIE — 121,571
Other financial assets at amortised cost REHEKATEZEMYBEE 25,764 83,347
Cash and cash equivalents ReBeEEY 1,484 10,258
206,260 354,750
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary JES B A B A 61,554 —
Other payables and accrued charges HMEMNFIERETER 78,597 139,379
Other borrowings, secured HuEgs  oEH 37,808 =
177,959 139,379
Net current assets REBEEFE 28,301 215,371
Net assets EERE 188,367 311,532
Equity R
Share capital & 7 103,772 86,478
Reserves i 84,595 225,054
Total equity Rt 188,367 311,532
Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors KEZFEeR_T_RFA=THILAE
on 30 June 2025. KR E
Deng Dongping Chan Yiu Pun Clement
R F BR HE M2
Director Digector
EFE
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5o

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 33. REFED M BEERYBERE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BZE
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair TRIRMFMFIAEARAEEBUBHEE
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined RBaBEsEEBERATHE:
in note 4(g):
2025 2024
—EBEC-HE —E-NF
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount  Fair value
RREE DNE¥E REE NS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTHERT FHET FAT
Financial assets: BHEE :
Financial assets at fair value through ~ EAFEFHAZEMEE
other comprehensive income WREE s WBEE
— Unlisted equity securities — FLETMRAESH — — 36,506 36,506
Financial assets at fair value through ~ EAFETAEBZEE
profit or loss ZLHBERE
— Unlisted equity securities — FETRAES 171,082 171,082 157,714 157,714
— Listed equity securities — FTRARES 179,012 179,012 103,068 103,068
Financial assets measured at amortised 1% % $8§ 5 N 51 2 2 B 7%
costs BE
— Deposits paid and other receivables — E 43 & I H i JE IR
FE 793 793 122,531 122,531
— Promissory notes — A HEE 25,764 25,764 83,347 83,347
— Cash and cash equivalents —BReRkBeZEY 1,662 1,662 16,166 16,166
Financial liabilities: BEaE:
Financial liabilities measured at BREHEKAGTE B
amortised costs BfE 116,741 116,741 142,576 142,576

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

Inputs other than quoted prices included within

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.

hierarchy:—
Level 1:

identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2:

derived from prices); and
Level 3:

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based

on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

TRINFEAFESERE D AR FED
BEZHMBITESN :

H
[l
2y

CHMREEXRBBEZERT SR

B CREHFE)

B (AMER) kEE (BIRE

BR) MEESBBEZAER
BMABE ML -RMER
HE: R

P WHERABETSRENE

ESRBEZHEARE (TAE
RZBABIE) -
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 33. REFEsHMEEERMKAEE

170

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued) ME (&)
2025
—E-hE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rl g E=ZR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAER TAER TERT
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEBEZEE
profit or loss LHBEE
— Listed equity securities — FTRAREH 179,012 - = 179,012
— Unlisted equity securities — I ETRAE S = - 171,082 171,082
179,012 — 171,082 350,094
2024
ZEZMEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—1 E_R EZW Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT FHET FET
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEHMEZE
other comprehensive income WEERBCHBEEE
— Unlisted equity securities — I ETRAES S S 36,506 36,506
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFALEBEZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
— Listed equity securities — FTTRARES 103,068 - = 103,068
— Unlisted equity securities — I ETRAE S = = 157,714 157,714
103,068 — 194220 297,288
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value

based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

follows:

Financial assets

33. REFEsHMEEERMKAEE
BE (®)
BEEAFTHREASE (B=H) KU
AFEFENTETAZHENT

Financial assets  Financial assets  Financial assets

at FVTPL at FVTPL at FVTOC at FVTPL
Investmentsin ~ Investmentsin Investmentsin  Investments in
convertible  unlisted private  unlisted equity  unlisted equity
bonds equity funds securities securities Total
RAVEGAE RAOVERAE
RAVEFAE BEREZME HAM2ERER RAVEGAE
EREBZHE EE: RFLT BrHBEE: BEAEZHE
BE  RUAR RERE RELTRA EECRELT
E5RE ESRE B5RE  RAESRE Az
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEAR TER TER TER TR
At 1 April 2024 RZE-MEMA-A - - 36,506 157,714 194,220

Additions NE - - - 75,334 75,334

Disposal & - (10,000) (36,506) (61,553) (108,059)

Total gain/(loss) s/ (B8)

— in profit or loss (note (a)) —NBE (W#E) - 10,000 = 413) 9,587
At 31 March 2025 R-2-1%=HA=1-H - - - 171,082 171,082
Gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss REEERBERBLERERE

relating to financial instruments held by~ I T AR BEFER 2 ME/

the Group at the end of the reporting ~ (B#)

period - 10,000 - (413) 9,587
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA-A 15,180 10,080 48,304 - 73,564

Additions hE - 268 - 182,842 183,110

Total loss from change in fair value ATRED AER

— in profit or loss note (a)) —NBE (W#E) (15,180) (10,348) — (25,128) (50,656)

—in other comprehensive income —REBEERE (W)

(note (b)) - — (11,798) — (11,798)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1-H - - 36,506 157,114 194,220
Loss recognised in profit or loss relating S A S BN 7% B BLERE M

to financial instruments held by the HBIARBRTRABE

Group at the end of the reporting

period (15,180) (10,348) - (25,128) (50,656)
Notes: Mt 5
(a) Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/(loss) (a) FARATFEFAEBIEBEZHEEE

on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL.

(b) Included in the OCl related to investment revaluation.

AFEZEHRERA A ALRS
REIHBAEZERRKES (BB
FE -

k) FAEHEBRESHEZEMEZEES -
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34.

35.

172

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group completed
the acquisition of investments in unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTPL from independent
third parties and settled the consideration for the
acquisition of these securities by utilizing the deposits paid
of HK$64,977,000 (equivalent to RMB60,130,000) (2024:
HK$120,675,000 (equivalent to RMB108,000,000)) (note 20(a)).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, promissory notes, deposits paid and other
receivables, amount due from a shareholder, cash and cash
equivalents, other borrowings, secured, other payables and
accrued charges. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies applied by the
Group to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry
floating interest rate, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets or liabilities with floating rates. The
Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's fair value interest
rate risk relates to its fixed-rate promissory notes (see Notes
17(i) and (ii)), convertible bonds (see Note 19(b)), Currency
Fund (see Note 19(d)), loan receivable (see Note 20(b)),
bonds payables (see Note 22(i)) and other borrowings (see
Note 23). The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.
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FEXRERS
HE-_Z_AF=ZA=1+—HLEFE
REBTXABYE=HARESELAR
NFEFACBZEENTBEEENIE
ETBRAFELREE  FEHEEHES
64,977,000/ 7T (8 & % A K #60,130,000
7T) (=& = /M 4 : 120,675,000 7T (48
B A K #108,000,0007T) ) 18 - Uk BE %
ZRHFHRE (H3E200R)

M RREERERBUER

AEBETEV B ITABREAKRE - &
RER ONEREREMERFE - &
WERRHE - RekREFED - Hi
BEE(EEM) - EMEMNRERER
ER - SMBIAZHFBRAEBME
BE  AEZSEWHEIAZREREAE
BRAANREZSERAR ZBEREINET -
EREERAFARNERER AR
EeEEE -

AR @R

BRRELRBSEMANIBF R EI -
AEBETBEMAZBHFERFEZEKX
MEEELRE - AEERARKEER
EREANRDABLN MG H KB -

R-E-_RHER T -_WNE=ZA=+—
B A&£EAFEMNERARSEEEE
MEAE S ZE (B M 170 R G) ~ AT #
BEH (RMFE190) «  BEES (R
FE19d) ~ B E R (R K E200) - &
HEH (RWFE20) REMEE (B
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

35. BRAREEEEREE (£)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2025 was the amount
for the whole year, if the interest rate on cash and cash
equivalents was 50 basis points higher or lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for
the year ended 31 March 2025 would decrease or increase
by approximately HK$8,000 (2024: decrease or increase by
approximately HK$81,000).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the
Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

HREDTH
BER-_ZF-_AF=ZA=T—"BZE®R
D2FEZFRE  WREARREFED
%'J?LH%TE S0 &% - MATA E M
""""" HEHER/ITE  AXAKEEBEE_T -1
FZA=+-"BLEFEZEBEEHRLD K
12 4980008 T (ZFE Z W F : H A=K
1 I14981,00078 7T) ©

S EE R B
AEBAZ KB ZEEE 2MNER R
HPETEEBKEARE - SMERRK
BEINEBZAREBERS - EHRE
ERBBEARKEFE

AEERZHREBHUAIIEHENTE

denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective BERAREREENT
reporting dates are as follows:
2025 2024
ZE-HF —ET_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T THET
Assets BE
Other financial assets at amortised cost LAAN R 5B 1% 8 s P R
denominated in RMB FREZHMHBEE 25,764 83,347
Deposits paid and other receivables NARBFEZENES
denominated in RMB K H At & WK IA 793 122,531
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in AWA KRB BEZBR & K
RMB ReFEEY 17 6,280
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35.

174

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BEREEEEREE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued) SMNERME ()

Sensitivity analysis BRBEDMN

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% TRITARBREBITFAE, T E%E
increase/decrease in RMB against the HK$, the effect in the RFEBBRTEZRBRESN

loss for the year is as follows:

Impact of RMB

ARz E
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-OF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Decrease/increase in loss for the year REEZEBER D L 1,329 10,608
Equity price risk IR A B & R B
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from AREBEBAIBRAEBRER - IR EBNER
investments in PRC unlisted equity securities and investments EUBRARF D BARIEATET AL
in Hong Kong listed equity securities, which were classified as Hih2EKRS BB 2HMBEE (MzE18)
either financial assets at FVTOCI (note 18) or financial assets HEANFEFACETREBECUBEE
at FVTPL (note 19) on the consolidated statement of financial (B5E19) 2R RELTRABTHEE
position. To manage its price risk arising from investments in EREBLTRAZBESKRE - RERERK
financial assets, the Group diversified its portfolio. EUMBEENMEEZERER » A£E

DHEREMASG -
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2024: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Impact of financial assets at Impact of financial assets at

35.

M¥EREEEERBE (#)

BRAERRER (&)
TRAAEMBEMEHER TEZE
AT REVBEERGRESHRZER
Ec®BEAE 2FEEEHH (=F
“ PO 5%) ZBRRE o

Impact of investments in
Hong Kong listed equity

FVTOCI FVTPL securities
BATEHAEEMZE BRAVEFAERE REBLTRABSEN
KERBEZHBEERE EECHEEEY REFE
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE-Rf CZE-ME ZEZRE -T-WNE BRI TN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER THR TER THR
Increase/decrease in loss AEEEBEREN/
for the year o — — 8,554 7,886 8,951 5,153
Increase/decrease in other EtEnEEEn/
equity reserve e - 1,825 - = - =
Credit risk FEERR

The credit risk for bank deposits and balances is considered
negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with
high quality external credit ratings.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a systematic
internal credit management policy, which includes both credit
and risk management and collection management.

Before placing an investment in a debt instrument or an
advance to a counterparty, the Group conducts a credit
risk assessment on each of the counterparties, including
assessing the potential credit quality, defining credit limits
and calculating the interest rate by considering the underlying
financial risks. The Group subsequently performs on-going
review on the recoverable amount of each individual financial
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate derecognition process is made for any irrecoverable
amounts and impairment loss under ECL model is recognised
for future potential loss.

m%%?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁgﬁﬁi%&ﬁg

RIFHIRTT - ARBRTEREBEEFNE
EE R RRSEN -
REFERBREERE  AEBREA R

MONBEEETERR  HBEEER
R &R AR BKERE -

IS ﬁ*%%ﬁ?i?ﬂfﬂ‘klﬂ&;ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ
 AEEHZRZETFETEERR

m'%E BEILEBENEREER - BE
FERSE  XEBEEEAES AR

BRx  AEEERENBERREE
AP BEEZ RO RETHERS -
AREREEM AR E S RBETEEN
RIEBREF > UREBHEEBER
AERARREERRNBEER -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses the following benchmarks to perform internal
credit risk grading and impairment assessment under ECL

35. BRAREEEEREE (£)

EERR (£)

AEBERANTEEETRBEERR
BRAIET 2 AEEE R BT R KR (E T

model: (G

Level of credit risk Benchmarks ECL assessment requirement

= & & B ok F BE% AHEEBRFMGEER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts.

15 & 2 R FHENRREKBRE E[EH 2R EHEEEE
RIE o

Watch list The counterparty has amounts past-due but ~ 12-month ECL
is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with
the Group.

BERBE ZEcHCaY  MXSZUTFRIHBMER NREAEHEEER
FEEE YRAKREFBETELX
5 o

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition through impaired
information developed internally or
externally resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions
with the Group.

CIR=: BRABENZEHIIIGEER - FER 2HEHEEBE —LEEER
REMRERARBEZEN  EXZHFE E
FEBEFBETERRS -

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired

&8 ERBERTNEECREFEERE 2HEHEEEE —EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

i ERBERTEBABARENNBREL MEARBEREA
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BREBREEEEREE @)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EER (&)
Gross carrying amount
FEAE
External Internal 12-month or
Notes credit rating credit rating Lifetime ECL 2025 2024
H k! 1A
i3 EEFR EEFR FHEEEERE “EIRE “EC[RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEL
Other financial assets at amortised cost 17 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 112,630 -
credit-impaired
BEENAHE EHIRER TER FE 2HRHEE
BEEEME
Low risk 12-month ECL = 95,793
ERR 1NEARBEEFE
Deposits paid and other receivables 2 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 793 125,369
BRREREMLELTE ki EBR 1NEAEBEEEB
Loss Lifetime ECL 1,200 =
credit impaired
BE 2HBARE
EEEERE
Loss Lifetime ECL 30,000 30,000
credit impaired
FE 2HRHEE
BEEEHE
Cash at banks 2! Within Low risk 12-month ECL 1,662 16,166
investment
grade
Bi7R2 RESBIA R R 12EARH
FERR
146,285 261328

In term of collection management, the Group monitors the
repayment against the pre-determined repayment terms and
considers to take and conducts these actions to recover the
overdue receivables in a default event:

(i) To negotiate with the counterparty, understand their
financial position and plan for debt restructuring, if
necessary;

(i) Toissue legal letter to the counterparty as a warning;

(i)  To appoint external debt collection agency to recover
the debt against the counterparty; and

(iv)  To take legal actions against the counterparty to collect
the overdue receivable.

REHRERTE  AEERBEEXAETE
MEFHREEEREN  ARELE
HE MR Z B EREUA T 178 A de @ 8 5
& W R IR

() BXZHFETERD  LERTH
HE BN R ERHEEFE
(i) MXBFHEFHELRAREEMMEETR :

(i) ZEHINFBREEBRARSZE FE
B R

vy HRXZHEFRIVEFTHAKRE A
HE W SOR -
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35.

178

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Although the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover the credit risk, the directors of
the Company consider these internal control policies could
effectively manage the Group's credit risk.

The Group's credit risk exposure is primarily attributable to
its financial assets at amortised cost, including other financial
assets at amortised cost, deposits paid and other receivables,
amount due from a shareholder and cash at bank.

The credit risk on other financial assets at amortised cost is
arisen from the promissory notes issued by certain unlisted
companies in PRC. The Group's investment strategy is to
balance the credit risk and return by investing in medium
risk corporate promissory notes. These corporate promissory
notes are always lacking of independent and public
recognised credit ratings available, as such, management
of the Company carried out additional credit and risk
management policy against these investments:

(@ To review and monitor the portfolio, financial
performance and financial positions of these unlisted
companies on regular basis; and

(b) To prepare impairment review under ECL model
by using historical repayment record and past due
information to consider whether the credit risk changed
since initial recognition.

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2025

35.

M¥EREEEERBE (#)

FERRE (&)
BEASEYTERSETAEAFmKEM
EREBNEEEERR -  ARARES
RR - ZEABEFERETAREEAR
SENEERR -

AEENEERRTIERS HREBHK
AT EBEZHBEE » BIREREEHKAG
ECHEMMBEE  SNEEREME
WE - EWBRRFBERRBITRES -

BBHEKAHEZRMOYBEEZEE
R EETHEE LT R AT
REE - AEENRERBEBBERE
PERBRARALRER - LWEIEER
REEHOFE - ZFRABALRER
FREZBLRARNEEFNL - Bt -
ARREREBEUHZEREBTRING
ErEBREEREK

@ TEHRTIEEZFHELTAAN
BREMEG ~ MBI RMBAR
I54

b) BBEMBEERRERABERN
REMEEERERETRER -
BA S B 5 BE LB 5 )0 HE R LA TR 2
TR -



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & N R & 12 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2025 8 ZE —_ T - AF=A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has
recognised the expected credit loss on financial assets at
amortised cost as follows:

35. BRAREEEEREE (£)

FERRE (&)
BE_T-_AFR-_F-_MF=A=1+—
BIEFE - NEE S MR REHEK A
EZHMBEEZHEBEEBRNOT

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL, credit ECL, credit
12 month-ECL impaired 12 month-ECL impaired Total
2HES 2HES
NBAREH FEFR NEAEY FEBEE-
FERHE EERE BERE GERE b
Other financial Other financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost amortised cost Deposits paid
REBHEAL  REHNL
GtEZHM  GEZHA
HEEE BHEE Bfke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET TER TET TET
As at 1 April 2023 R-F-=fNA-H 11,234 - 2,431 30,000 43,665
Expected credit loss recognised ERAZEACERR 12,446 = 2,838 = 15,284
Expected credit loss reversed ERER BHEESR (11,234) = (2.431) = (13,665)
As at 31 March, 2024 R-B-MmE=ZA=+-AR
and 1 April 2024 —E-_MEMAB-A 12,446 — 2,838 30,000 45,284
Expected credit loss recognised BRACEEEEER = 88,066 = = 88,064
Expected credit loss reversed BROEACERR (12,446) = (2,838) = (15,284)
As at 31 March, 2025 RZEZRE=R=1-H — 88,066 — 30,000 118,066

The Group writes off a financial asset at amortised cost
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Other than that, taking into consideration that there is no
default payment noted in the previous repayment history of
the debtors and adequate impairment assessment under ECL
model performed, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk on these other financial assets at amortised cost
held by the Group is manageable.

AEBMHZBERAHEZYBEE -
HEERKPABEBARRNEEN BRH
BTHFEERKEMS - fIIIEEHA
EBRIEANWERRF - Rtz - &
REB AW B EERE L+ I E AR K
B YERFEHACEEEBRENETRESD
MEENE - ARFRESERAR - AKH
RAZHZERBHRANGTEZE MM
BEZEERRBRAAEZES -
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35.

180

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

For management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows. The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash flow from operations and
to raise funds through issue and allotment of new shares to
meet its debt obligations as they fall due.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

35. BRAREEEEREE (£)

REBE SRR

REERBESRRME - AEBEEE
THFBEEEA AU A RAES
BYMKFE  URAKSEXBEERHESR
T URBERRERPZXE - &&
BeRBESTBIRORNBERBEHE R
RAREREARBBETREZFK
MEFESURNEBI N BN EES
EIEZREN -

AEERBERRZHBABIHBR
W

Total
Carrying undiscounted  Within one year
amount cash flows or on demand
AERBS -FRH
REE mELHE REXR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THEL THL
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued charges  HEtENFBREER 78,933 82,880 82,880
Other borrowings Efe & 37,808 42,839 42,839
116,741 125,719 125,719
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_NFE=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued charges  HMENFBREER 142,576 145,547 145,547
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36.

37.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY 36.

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is

calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as

ESEERE

AEB EcERBERDRERAEERE
FSEEE  UARRTREOBRAEAM
BamBAATKNGD  ARKEFTRESR
REBABEERKAER - SR HAER
BARER  AEEAREARRIENZ
BREEE  ABRRER@ER - BITHK
MBEEBEENBREEY o

AEBEEBREMZE -2 REER
BUHERRELERENR o BRI
EERAREZERTE -

RBERR - BEERBLERMOT :

follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Total borrowings EE 109,025 59,625
Equity attributable to owners of RNANBEBR ANFELEZS
the Company 262,348 378,125
Gearing ratio EEAMBLX 41.56% 15.77%
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 37. EEER

The Group pledged certain assets to secure loans of the
Group. Carrying amounts of the assets pledged were as

AEEERETEEURGSAEREZE
R-CDEWEEZKREELT :

follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE —TE-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEAFAACEZREZ
MBEE 121,088 —

The pledged assets comprise listed equity securities held by
the Group with carrying value of HK$59,818,000 (note 19(a)(ix))
and unlisted equity securities held by the Group with carrying
value of HK$61,270,000 (note 19(c)(ii) and (iii)) in secured the
margin loan and loan from a third party respectively (note 23).

ERAEEREALSERERAES
59,818,000/ T M) £ ™ B & # H (M
H190@)IK) R A S EBEFEEEAEA
61,270,000 ST K FE E R A E 5 (M 7
19(c)Gi) & Gii)) + DRI B ERF €& B 3 sk
B EREF (K 5E23) o
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38. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENT
Capital commitment outstanding at 31 March 2025 and 2024
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements are
as follows:

38.

BARR H A &S

B _ZE_AFk_ZT_-_WN&E=AHA
—+—BAREREVERRABENE
AAEWNT

2025 2024

—E”ZERE —E-NFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Contracted for investment in unlisted KAFEFSAEZHFAERZN
financial assets at FVTPL EFTHBREERSE 17,863 —
39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. IRAE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had contingent liabilities to RZEBE_RAF=ZA=+—H ' XEEHR

the extent of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,044,000) in respect of financial support given by the
Group to Icon for its continuing operation for a period up to
30 November 2026. The directors considered that a reliable
estimate cannot be made of the amount of the outflow of
resources that might be required in respect of the financial
support and therefore, no provision was made as at 31 March
2025.

40. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
(i)  Loss on disposal of listed equity securities

On 11 April 2025 and 2 May 2025, the Company’s
margin loan was forced into liquidation due to a margin
call, resulting in a loss on disposal of the listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$1,285,000
and HK$19,765,000 respectively.
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40.

AEERMRLABRHMBIFUNEERE
REFE_FE-_NF+—A=Z+HmME
B A EEARM50000007T (HE R
#916,044,0008 7T) - EERAEEHY
BEIFWNERRLESBELIEGE -
AR T AF=A=+—BAMEE
R o

WEHBEER

() HELTRABHNER
RZE_AFWEOA+—HRZE
“EFRAZH  ARRHRES
EXFAEHREBemMERINEHE -
BYLEI»PBEAREAFEFARLE
EERENUBEEN ETMRAZE
A M EE D B4 41,285,000 T &
19,765,000/ 7T ©
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40. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(ii)

Proposed Capital Reorganisation and proposed
Rights Issue

On 13 May 2025, the Company (i) proposed Capital
Reorganisation involving the Share Consolidation, the
Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division; and (2)
proposed to raise gross proceeds up to approximately
HK$155.7 million before expenses by way of the Rights
Issue of up to 155,659,455 Rights Shares (assuming
there is no change in the number of Shares in issue
on or before the Record Date other than the Capital
Reorganisation) on the basis of three (3) Rights Shares
for every one (1) Adjusted Share held on the Record
Date at the Subscription Price of HK$1.00 per Rights
Share to the Qualifying Shareholders. Details of the
proposed Capital Reorganisation and the proposed
Rights Issue are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 May 2025 and the circular of the
Company dated 20 June 2025. As at the date of this
report, the proposed Capital Reorganisation and the
proposed Rights Issue have not been completed.

41. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025.

40. HEMREE (7

(ii)

ERRAEARERHER

R-ZE-_RAFHA+=H  A17F
WEZETHRAEAE - SEBEHAE
Bt BRABDREBRMD DR - RQE
FEUAHB TR EREHBAHEEE
— (1) B% A2 38 FE B& 1 7] JE B = (3) iR 4t
B% B% 15 2 B E LA 3 BR 4 AR % 15 1.00
BITHREBERNSEBRRERITR
%155,659,455/% # i% B% 19 (R & ”
E A 2 BIBR AR R EHIND B
TRHOBBETELMES)  LLE
EMBREABERSZNISIEEER
T (MBRRAXA) - BEEZERA
BAREFEBENFBRNAQF
BfAE-_ZTE-_AFRAAT+=ZBHA
ERARBBPE_ZT_RAF~A
Tt+ERNBER - RAREAEH
EmRAEARERRRERTK -

41. HEEMBEHREK
EEQCR _E-_RENA=tANE
RERETEGBERE -
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Year ended 31 March
HEZ=BA=1T-HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —T-_NE —T-=F —T--F —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTAL FTAT FTAT FTAL
RESULTS ES
Revenue W — — — — —
Loss before income tax expense BRETER A AIEE (155,800) (28,727) (22,802) (20,010) (15,450)
Income tax expense FrEHmEX — = = - =
Loss for the year attributable to ARREEABIEREE
owners of the Company &8 (155,800) (28,727) (22,802) (20,010) (15,450)
As at 31 March
R=A=+—-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZE_RF ZZE-MFE ZZT-=F ZE--F ZT-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FETT FET FET FEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE 171,858 159,083 48,330 68,497 9,429
Current assets MEVEE 207,231 361,618 277,317 167,165 45,080
Current liabilities mEaRE (116,741) (142,576) (51,971) (10,119) (5,178)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE — — — (1,527) =
Total equity BB 262,348 378,125 273,676 224,016 49 331
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